Alison Hossack

**B**h

**BSc Honours** 

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Human Nutrition Research Centre

Institute of Health and Society

Newcastle University

Submitted June 2010



First and formost I dedicate this thesis to my 'little nan' who sadly is no longer here to see me complete the work.

Thank you to the Food Standards Agency for this PhD Studentship and their patience throughout.

Thank you to my supervisors, Professor John Mathers and Professor Ashley Adamson for their support and guidance. With special thanks to Ashley for having faith in me and giving me an opportunity I would never have dreamed possible. More importantly for being my 'small voice of calm'. To Elaine Stamp our statistician. To Professor Paula Moynihan and Professor Chris Seal for their invaluable comments and feedback during annual assessments.

I thank God for blessing me with such wonderful friends and colleagues who have supported me, helped me and been there for me when I needed them most. In particular, thank you to Emma and Amelia, colleagues for the longest period, and Suzanne and Katherine who have been my rock and kept me going these last few months. I could not have finished without the fantastic support and dedication of Katherine and Ashley for that final push. To the fellowship of Lumley Evangelical Church, the team at Abernethy Barcaple and the house group at Dundrennan for their prayers and support especially in the last few months of writing up. Eternal thanks to Margaret and Clive without whom life would have been much more difficult.

Finally to my beautiful parents Mavis and Bob, and to my amazing husband Dave, without whose love and support, financial and emotional none of this would have been possible. Thank you.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction, Aims and Hypothesis	1
2.	Review of the literature	5
2.1.	Adolescence	7
2.2.	Adiposity	8
2.2.1.	Anthropometric measurement methods	8
2.2.2.	Aetiology and prevalence of obesity	11
2.3.	Dietary Assessment Methods	15
2.3.1.	Influences on adolescent food choice	17
2.4.	Adolescence food choice and obesity	22
2.5.	Tracking	26
2.5.1.	Tracking of body size	27
2.5.2.	Tracking of energy and macronutrients	30
2.6.	Measuring physical activity	32
3.	Methodology	36
3.1.	Search and recruitment of potential participants	37
3.1.1.	Ethical approval	37
3.1.2.	Locating the potential participants	38
3.1.3	Recruiting the participants	41
3.2.	Overview of data to be collected	42
3.2.1.	Time one, data collection (T1)	44
3.2.2.	Time two data collection (T2)	46
3.3.	Assessment of dietary intake	46
3.3.1.	Design of food diary	47
3.3.2.	Piloting of the food diary	49
3.3.3.	Delivery and instruction of food diary – visits 1 and 3	49
3.3.4.	Interview (visits 2 and 4)	50
3.3.5.	Processing the dietary information	50

3.4.	Measurement of physical activity	54
3.4.1.	Decision about activity measurement	54
3.4.2.	Piloting of measurement of physical activity	54
3.4.3.	Practical aspects of accelerometry	54
3.4.4.	Delivery and instruction of accelerometers	55
3.4.5.	Processing of activity data	55
3.5.	Lifestyle questionnaire	56
3.5.1.	Research and development	56
3.5.2.	Pilot	57
3.5.3.	Delivery and instruction	57
3.5.4.	Data processing of Questionnaire	58
3.5.5.	Socioeconomic status	58
3.6.	Collection of Anthropometric data	58
3.6.1.	Height	59
3.6.2.	Waist and hip circumferences	59
3.6.3.	Waist: hip circumference ratio (WHR)	59
3.6.4.	Percent body fat	60
3.6.5.	Reward for Participation	60
3.7.	Researcher security	61
3.8.	Validation	61
3.8.1.	Dietary data	62
3.8.2.	Physical activity data	62
3.8.3.	Anthropometric data	62
3.9.	Calculations and statistical analysis	63
3.9.1.	Dietary analysis	63
3.9.2.	Test for normality	63
3.9.3.	Data description and group comparisons	63
3.9.4.	Tracking analyses	64
3.9.5.	Modelling the prediction of adiposity in young adulthood	64
4.	Participant recruitment and characteristics	67
4.1.	Location and degree of consent	68

4.2.	The study participants	71
4.2.1.	Demographic characteristics	71
4.2.2.	Anthropometric measurements	73
4.2.3.	Lifestyle characteristics	79
4.3.	Association between nutrient intake and anthropometry	93
4.4.	Association between physical activity and anthropometry	98
4.5.	Association between nutrient intake and physical activity	100
4.6.	Discussion	102
4.6.1	Recruitment of participants	102
4.6.2	Adiposity	103
4.6.3	Energy and macronutrient intake	106
4.6.4	Physical activity	108
4.6.5	Lifestyle behaviours associated with adiposity in this study population	110
5.	Representativeness the data	115
5.1.	Characteristics of respondents at age 11-12 years to determine how	
	representative this follow-up sample were of the original 2000 cohort.	116
5.1.1.	Gender	116
5.1.2.	Social Group	117
5.1.3.	Anthropometry	118
5.1.4.	Nutrient intake	120
5.2.	Comparisons between characteristics of this follow-up study sample and	da
	national study of young people aged 15 to 18 years	122
5.2.1.	Lifestyle and demographics	122
5.2.2.	Anthropometry	123
5.2.3.	Energy and macronutrient intake	125
5.3.	Validity of the dietary data	129
5.4.	Discussion	136

5.4.1.	How representative of the 2000 study cohort were these young people at	
	follow-up in 2006?	136
5.4.2.	How representative of a national study of young people aged 15 to 18	
	years were these follow-up study participants?	137
5.4.3.	Validity of the dietary data	139
5.4.4.	Instrumentation bias – food diary and interview	142
5.4.5.	Intra-observer variation	143
5.4.6.	Errors in the coding, entering and cleaning of the data	143
5.4.7.	Testing bias	144
6.	Changes and tracking in adiposity from age 11-12 to 16-18 years	145
6.1.	Changes in measured anthropometry between age 11-12 and	
	16-18 years	146
6.1.1.	Height	146
6.1.2.	Weight	146
6.1.3.	Body Mass Index (BMI)	147
6.1.4.	Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity between age	
	11-12 and 16-18 years	149
6.2.	Tracking of BMI from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years	
		151
6.2.1.	Maintenance of quartile group of BMI	151
6.2.2.	Tracking of BMI by social group	155
6.3.	Discussion	158
6.3.1	Change in height, weight and BMI during adolescence	158
6.3.2	Change in BMI during adolescence from a health perspective	159
6.3.3	Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity during adolescence	160
6.3.4	Tracking of BMI from childhood to late adolescence	161
7.	Changes and tracking in diet from childhood to late adolescence	164
7.1.	Changes in dietary intake from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years	165
7.1.1.	Food energy intake (FEI)	170
7.1.2.	Dietary fat intake	171
7.1.3.	Dietary carbohydrate intake	172
7.1.4.	Dietary protein intake	172

7.2.	Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from	
	age 11-12 to 16-18 years	174
7.2.1.	Tracking of food energy intake (FEI)	183
7.2.2.	Tracking of dietary fat intake	186
7.2.3.	Tracking of dietary carbohydrate intake	189
7.2.4.	Tracking of dietary protein intake	192
7.2.5.	Tracking of energy intake by social group	195
7.3.	Discussion	198
7.3.1.	Change in dietary intake from age 11-12 years to 16-18 years	198
7.3.2.	Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from	
	age 11-12 to 16-18 years	203
8.	Modelling the prediction of adiposity in late adolescence	206
8.1	Anthropometric outcome variables investigated	207
8.2	Factors tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years	207
8.2.1.	Demographic factors	208
8.2.2	Anthropometric factors	209
8.2.3.	Dietary intake	209
8.2.4.	Lifestyle	210
8.2.5.	Developing the models	210
8.3.	Variables that most strongly predict BMI at age 16-18 years	211
8.4	Variables that most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years	213
8.5	Variables that most strongly predict waist circumference at age 16-18 years	217
8.6	Variables that most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age	
	16-18 years	221
8.7	Discussion	225
9	Final Summary	229
9.1	Description of participants	233

9.2	Changes in anthropometry, especially in adiposity between 11-12	
	and 16-18 years	240
9.2.1	Tracking of adiposity in these young people	241
9.3	Changes in the energy intake of these young people between	
	age 11-12 and 16-18 years	243
9.3.1	Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from age 11-12 to	
	16-18 years	245
9.4	Predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years	246
9.5	Limitations of the study	250
9.6	Further work	253
9.6.1	Health implications and interventions	254
10	References	259
	Appendices	275

# **CONTENTS OF TABLES**

Table 4.1	Location and recruitment of respondents	69
Table 4.2	Social group of participants (based on parental occupation in 2000)	72
Table 4.3	Employment characteristics of participants	72
Table 4.4	Anthropometric characteristics of participants	75
Table 4.5	Prevalence of overweight and obese assessed using BMI of participa	nts
	at age 16-18 years	75
Table 4.6	Prevalence of 'overfat' and 'obese' as assessed using percent body	
	fat of participants at age 16-18 years	75
Table 4.7	Total daily energy intake (EI) and macronutrient intake (g/day; g/kg/da	ay;
	% EI) of participants.	80
Table 4.8	Nutrient intakes of participants and the per cent of participants above	and
	below Dietary Reference Values * (Department of Health, 1991)	81
Table 4.9	Response to question "do you take part in activity to work up a sweat"	?"
	(all participants)	82
Table 4.10	Mean daily percent and number of hours* of total activity by intensity a	as
	measured by accelerometry (males and females)	88
Table 4.11	Associations (Pearson correlation) between anthropometric outcomes	5
	and nutrient intakes (males).	93
Table 4.12	Associations (Pearson correlation) between anthropometric outcomes	5
	and nutrient intakes (females)	94
Table 4.13	Associations (Spearman correlation) between anthropometry and time	е
	spent in different grades of physical activity (males) (n=32)	99
Table 4.14	Associations (Spearman correlation) between anthropometry and time	е
	spent in different grades of physical activity (females) (n=62)	99
Table 4.15	Associations (Spearman correlation) between energy intake (MJ/d) and	nd
	time spent in different grades of physical activity (males) (n=32)	101
Table 4.16	Associations (Spearman correlation) between energy intake and time	
	spent in different grades of physical activity (females) (n=62)	101
Table 5.1	Distribution of participants in the original study and at follow-up	
	by gender	117
Table 5.2	Social group distribution of study participants at follow-up (2006)	
	compared with social group distribution of study participants in 2000	118
Table 5.3	Comparison of anthropometric measurements at age 11-12 years	
	between participants and non-participants in this follow-up study.	119

Table 5.4	Comparison of BMI category at age 11-12 years between participants	5
	and non-participants in this follow-up study.	120
Table 5.5	Comparisons in nutrient data at age 11-12 years between	
	participants and non-participants at follow-up	121
Table 5.6	Educational/employment status of present study participants compare	ed
	with those in the NDNS study.	123
Table 5.7	Anthropometric measurements of participants compared with the	
	subgroup age 15 to 18 years olds of the National Diet and Nutrition	
	Survey	124
Table 5.8	Prevalence of overweight or overweight/obese among participants in	the
	present study and in the NDNS study.	125
Table 5.9	Energy and macronutrient intake of present study participants compared	red
	with those of the 15 – 18 year old subjects in the NDNS study	127
Table 5.10	Mean energy intake (EI); estimated basal metabolic rate (BMR) and	
	EI:BMR of participants at age 11-12 and 16-18 years.	130
Table 5.11	Prevalence of evidence of reporting bias (Torun <i>et a</i> l.1996) in	
	participants at ages 11-12 and 16-18 years.	132
Table 5.12	Per cent of low energy reporters among normal weight* versus	
	overweight or obese*.	133
Table 6.1	Change in height, weight and BMI between age between age 11-12	
	and 16-18 years	148
Table 6.2	Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity at age 11-12 and 16	-18
years		150
Table 6.3	Maintenance (at age 16-18 years) of quartile position of BMI age	
	11-12 years	152
Table 6.4	Strength of agreement (kappa) that participants maintain quartile	
	position beyond chance between age 11-12 years and age	
	16-18 years	152
Table 6.5	Maintenance (at age 16-18 years) of quartile position of BMI	
	(age 11-12 years) by social group	155
Table 7.1	Intakes of food energy (MJ/d) and macronutrient ints (g/d) and change	es in
	intakes between ages 11-12 and 16-18 years	167
Table 7.2	Intakes of food energy (MJ/kg/d) and macronutrients (g/kg/d) and	
	changes in intakes between ages 11-12 and 16-18 years.	168
Table 7.3	Intakes of macronutrients (%FEI) and changes in intakes between	
	ages 11-12 and 16-18 years	168

Table 7.4	Differences in absolute intake of food energy (MJ/d) and	
	macronutrients (g/d) between males and females at ages 11-12	
	and 16-18 years	169
Table 7.5	Differences in macronutrient intake (%FEI) between males and	
	females at ages 11-12 and 16-18 years	169
Table 7.6	Differences in food energy (MJ/kg/d) and macronutrient intake	
	(g/kg/d) between males and females at ages 11-12 and 16-18 years	170
Table 7.7	The correlations between energy intake (MJ/d) and macronutrient	
	intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years with corresponding intakes at age	
	16-18 years	181
Table 7.8	The correlations between energy intake (MJ/kg/d) and macronutrient	
	intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years with corresponding intakes at age	
	16-18 years	181
Table 7.9	The correlations between percent energy intake (%FEI) derived from	
	macronutrients at age 11-12 years on corresponding intakes at age	
	16-18 years	182
Table 7.10	Quartile of food energy intake (MJ/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile	
	of intake (MJ/d) at age 11-12 years.	183
Table 7.11	Quartile of food energy intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by	
	quartile of intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 11-12 years.	185
Table 7.12	Quartile of % FEI from fat at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake	
	at age 11-12 years	187
Table 7.13	Quartile of fat intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake	
	(g/d) at age 11-12 years	187
Table 7.14	Quartile of fat intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake	
	(g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years	187
Table 7.15	Quartile of % FEI from carbohydrate at age 16-18 years by quartile of	
	intake at age 11-12 years	188
Table 7.16	Quartile of carbohydrate intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of	
	intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years	190
Table 7.17	Quartile of carbohydrate intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by	
	quartile of intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years	190
Table 7.18	Quartile of % FEI from protein at age 16-18 years by quartile of	
	intake at age 11-12 years	193
Table 7.19	Quartile of protein intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of	
	intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years	193

Table 7.20	Quartile of protein intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of	
	intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years	193
Table 7.21	Strength of agreement (kappa) for maintenance of quartile position	
	between age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years	195

# **CONTENTS OF FIGURES**

Figure 3.1 Background to selection of participants	37
Figure 3.2 Northumberland Young Peoples Diet Food Survey logo	38
Figure 3.3 Flow diagram to show the procedure for locating the study	
participants.	40
Figure 3.4 Overview of process of data collection	45
Figure 3.5 Example page of food diary	48
Figure 3.6 Example of activity data label	48
Figure 3.7 Back cover of food diary	48
Figure 3.8 Printout of body composition data	60
Figure 3.9 SPSS output testing employment status (age 16-18 years),	smoking
status (age16-18 years) and Log BMI at age 11-12 years as	3
predictors of BMI at age 16-18 years.	66
Figure 3.10 SPSS output of the regression equation for the prediction of	of BMI at age
16-18 years from employment status (age 16-18 years) smo	oking
status (age 16-18 years) and BMI at age 11-12 years	66
Figure 4.1 Relationship between adiposity as assessed by BMI and me	easured %
body fat at age 16-18 years (r=0.86 male; r=0.91 female; p<	<0.01) 76
Figure 4.2 Percentage of participants in quartiles of BMI at 16-18 years	s grouped by
quartiles of waist circumference at 16-18 years (all sample;	males;
females respectively)	77
Figure 4.3 Prevalence of overweight or obese (BMI) by social group	
(males & females)	78
Figure 4.4 Number of days engaged in activity to 'work up a sweat'	
(all participants)	82
Figure 4.5 Distribution of participant's perception of the importance of e	exercise from
personal perspective (all participants)	83
Figure 4.6 Number of days of accelerometer data recorded by participa	ants meeting
accelerometer criteria (n=95)	86
Figure 4.7 Mean number of hours of accelerometer data of participants	meeting
accelerometer criteria (n=95)	86
Figure 4.8 Self reported activity of participants meeting accelerometer	criteria
(n=95)	87
Figure 4.9 Distribution of self-reported activity in participants meeting	
accelerometer criteria (n=95)	87
Figure 4.10 Smoking prevalence of participants at age 16-18 years by	gender 89

Figure 4.11 Quantity of cigarettes smoked per day	89
Figure 4.12 Alcohol consumption patterns in female daily smokers versus female	
non-smokers	90
Figure 4.13 Significant relationships between reported EI (kJ/Kg/d) at age 16-18	
years and %body fat age 16-18 years (males and females)	
(both p<0.01)	.94
Figure 4.14 Significant (p=0.01) association of fat intake (g/d) on BMI at age 16-1	8
years (females)	95
Figure 4.15 Significant (both p<0.01) association of fat intake (g/kg/d) on BMI at a	ige
16-18 years	96
Figure 4.16 Percentage of male alcohol consumers (n=40) consuming low and	
v.high intakes grouped by % body fat at age 16-18 years	97
Figure 4.17 Percentage of female alcohol consumers (n=91) consuming low and	V.
High intakes grouped by % body fat at age 16-18 years	97
Figure 4.18 Prevalence of overweight and obese measured by BMI and BIA	105
Figure 5.1 Ratio of Energy intake to Basal Metabolic Rate. Illustration of	
participants reporting energy intakes above and below	
EI:BMR cut-offs as defined by Torun et al.(1996)	
(<1.39 >2.24xBMR males; <1.30 >2.10xBMR females)	
at age 16-18 years	131
Figure 5.2 Percentage of participants reporting low energy intakes (<1.39 x BMR	
males; <1.30 x BMR females) at age 11-12 years, age	
16-18 years and at both time points	132
Figure 5.3 Influence of BMI (kg/m2) on reported EI:BMR at age 11-12 years	134
Figure 5.4 Influence of BMI (kg/m2) on reported EI:BMR at age 16-18 years	134
Figure 6.1 Pearson correlation between BMI at age 11-12 years and measures of	f
adiposity at age 16-18years	149
Figure 6.2 Correlation between $\log_{\text{e}}$ of BMI at age 11-12 years and $\log_{\text{e}}$ of BMI at	age
16-18 years	151
Figure 6.3 Percentage of participants maintaining BMI classification at age 11-12	
years into late adolescence (males)	154
Figure 6.4 Percentage of participants maintaining BMI classification at age 11-12	
years into late adolescence (females)	154
Figure 6.5 Tracking of BMI by social group from age 11-12 years to age 16-18	
years (male)	156
Figure 6.6 Tracking of BMI by social group from age 11-12 years to age 16-18	
years (female)	156

Figure 7.1 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between food end	ərgy
intake (FEI) at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years	177
Figure 7.2 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between dietary f	at
intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years	178
Figure 7.3 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between	
carbohydrate intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years	179
Figure 7.4 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between protein	
intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years	180
Figure 7.5 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position (MJ/d)	)
at age 16-18 years	184
Figure 7.6 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position (MJ/kg	g/d)
at age 16-18 years	185
Figure 7.7 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of diet	ary
fat intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)	188
Figure 7.8 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of diet	ary
carbohydrate intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)	191
Figure 7.9 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of diet	ary
protein intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)	194
Figure 7.10 Tracking of fat intake (g/d) by social group (males)	196
Figure 7.11 Tracking of fat intake (g/kg/d) by social group (males)	196
Figure 7.12 Energy intake (MJ/d) of present study participants (males) compared	l with
other longitudinal studies	200
Figure 7.13 Energy intake (MJ/d) of present study participants (females)	
compared with other longitudinal studies	200
Figure 8.1 Variables tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years	208
Figure 8.2 Variables found to most strongly predict BMI at age 16-18 years	212
Figure 8.3 Variables found to most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18	
years (males)	215
Figure 8.4 Variables found to most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years	S
(females)	216
Figure 8.5 Variables found to most strongly predict waist circumference at age	
16-18 years (males)	219
Figure 8.6 Variables found to most strongly predict waist circumference at age	
16-18 years (females)	220
Figure 8.7 Variables found to most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at	
age16-18 years (males)	223

Figure 8.8 Variables found to most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years (females)

# **CONTENTS OF EQUATIONS**

Equation 8.1 Regression equation to predict $\log_{e}$ BMI at age 17 years	211
Equation 8.2 Regression equation to predict % body fat at age 17 years (males)	213
Equation 8.3 Regression equation to predict % body fat at age 17 years	
(females)	213
Equation 8.4 Regression equation to predict waist circumference	
at age 17 years (males)	217
Equation 8.5 Regression equation to predict waist circumference	
at age 17 years (females)	217
Equation 8.6 Regression equation to predict waist to hip ratio (WHR)	
at age 17 years (males)	221
Equation 8.7 Regression equation to predict waist to hip ratio (WHR)	
at age 17 years (females)	221

# Appendices

1.	Letter to County Council	275
2.	First letter to schools	277
3.	Participant consent letter	278
4.	Participant consent form	280
5.	Recruitment poster	281
6.	Follow-up slip	282
7.	Example food diary	283
8.	Actigraph protocol	284
9.	Questionnaire	287
10.	Bioimpedance fat analysis protocol	305
11.	Interaction model table	306
12	Food diary protocol	307

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### **Background**

Overweight and obesity are defined as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health" (World Health Organization, 2005). The worldwide increase in the prevalence of obesity is well documented. In the UK, research carried out by the Government Office for Science reported that 5% of 11 to 15 year old boys and 11% girls in that age range are currently obese. If no action is taken, it is predicted that 55% of boys and 70% of girls (under 20 years) could be overweight or obese by the year 2050 (Butland *et al.* 2007). The health risks associated with overweight and obesity are similarly well documented; being overweight or obese is associated with a higher likelihood of suffering numerous chronic illnesses, including cardiovascular disease, cancer and Type 2 diabetes (World Health Organization 2003a, 2005).

While genetic make up may be important in determining a person's susceptibility to weight gain, an individual's energy balance is determined by energy intake and energy expenditure. Diet and lifestyle factors are the primary reason for the high rates of excessive body fat (Willet, 1998). The key causes of the global increase in overweight and obesity have been identified as increased consumption of energy-dense foods high in fats and sugars, increased sedentary behaviour and reduced physical activity (Butland *et al.* 2007).

Longitudinal studies are important in understanding when, how and why changes occur over time. Adolescence (defined here as age 11 years to age 18 years) in particular is an important period in the life cycle as this is a period of rapid growth and development, physically, socially and psychologically, during which significant changes occur. At age 16-18 years young people are in the transition from adolescence to young adulthood and, in addition to academic demands or the challenges of entering the workforce, young people tend to have busy personal and social lives.

Studies have reported that eating habits formed in adolescence (11-12 years) can continue into adulthood (Birch, 1987; Lake *et al.* 2004a) and may have long-term health implications. For example, being overweight or obese as an adolescent is associated with being overweight or obese as an adult (Craigie *et al.* 2003). However, longitudinal studies of diet and adiposity in adolescents are scarce. In 2000, the third in a series of cross-sectional studies of 11-12 year olds in Northumberland was carried out. This study investigated dietary change across three decades (1980, 1990 and 2000). This thesis reports on a longitudinal study of the 2000 cohort followed up when they were aged 16-18 years.

The purpose of this study was to test the hypothesis that diet and adiposity track from early to late adolescence.

#### Aims and objectives

The aims of the project were to:

- 1. To describe adiposity and lifestyle characteristics (dietary intake, physical activity, smoking behaviour) of these young people at age 16-18 years;
- To identify changes in, and tracking of, energy intake and macronutrient contribution to energy of these participants between ages 11-12 years and 16-18 years;
- To identify changes in, and tracking of, adiposity from 11-12 years to 16-18 years and further
- 4. To determine factors predicting adiposity at age 16-18 years.

To achieve these aims, the objectives of this study were to measure diet, other health related behaviours (notably smoking and physical activity) and adiposity at 16-18 years. Two three-day food diaries, completed at six month intervals, were used to measure dietary intake at both early and late adolescence (age 11-12 and 16-18 years). A questionnaire (at 16-18 years) was used to identify health related

behaviours. Height and weight were measured at age 11-12 years. At 16-18 years, height, weight, waist and hip circumference and body composition were measured. In addition, physical activity was measured using Accelerometer<sup>™</sup> activity monitors. Of the original 2000 cohort, 46 % (n=193) were followed up at age 16-18 years.

#### Organisation of this thesis

Following a review of the relevant literature (Chapter 2), Chapter 3 describes the approach and methods used to search for and to recruit, the young people who had been participants in the original study at age 11-12 years (Fletcher, 2003). Chapter 3 also provides details of the methods used in the assessment of dietary intake, the measurement of physical activity and lifestyle and the collection of anthropometric data of the young people at age 16-18 years.

Chapter 4 describes the study participants at age 16-18 years in terms of their education/employment, place of residence and living arrangements. In addition, Chapter 4 details demographic characteristics, anthropometric measurements and health related behaviours. This chapter concludes with discussion of associations between nutrient intake and adiposity, between physical activity and adiposity, and between nutrient intake and physical activity in these young people at age 16-18 years.

To identify how representative the data of the present study were of the original study sample in 2000, in Chapter 5 the characteristics (gender, social class, anthropometric measurement and dietary intake) of respondents (follow-up participants and non-participants) at age 11-12 years were compared with the whole 2000 sample. In addition, to determine how representative this study sample was of the UK national population of the same age, characteristics of this follow-up study sample (at age 16-18 years) were compared with data from the most recent UK study of young people i.e. the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) of 4-18 year olds (Gregory, Lowe *et al.* 2000).

Chapter 1: Introduction

Because being overweight as an adolescent is associated with being overweight as an adult (Lake *et al.* 1997; Craigie *et al.* 2003) and because eating habits formed in adolescence continue into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004b), it is likely that poor dietary habits in adolescence will have important implications for health and well-being in adulthood (for example (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999). For this reason, there is interest in the tracking of health-related behaviours and of adiposity. Chapter 6 compares the height, weight and BMI of study participants at age 16-18 years with those of the same individuals at age 11-12 years and provides estimates of changes in, and tracking of, anthropometric measurements (focussed on overweight and obesity) between age 11-12 and 16-18 years. Similarly Chapter 7 compares the dietary intake from age 16-18 years with that of these young people at age 11-12 years and provides estimates of changes in, and tracking of, diet over this period of adolescence.

Chapter 8 concludes the thesis with an analysis of factors which, in combination, predict anthropometric outcomes at age 16-18 years. In each of the Results chapters (Chapters 4-8), the findings of the present project are set in the context of what is already known and areas requiring further research are identified.

The main focus of the thesis is energy balance. Therefore reporting of dietary data has been limited to Energy Intake (EI; which is expressed as both MJ/d and MJ/kg body mass/d) and macronutrient contribution to Energy Intake (%EI: expressed as both g/d and g/kg body mass/d).

## 2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### **Chapter overview**

Introduction

- 2.1 Adolescence
- 2.2 Adiposity
- 2.3 Adolescent food choice and obesity
- 2.4 Dietary assessment methods
- 2.5 Tracking
- 2.6 Measuring physical activity

## Introduction

Overweight and obesity are defined as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health" (World Health Organization, 2003b). The worldwide increase in the prevalence of obesity is well documented. In the UK, research carried out by the Government Office for Science reported that 5% of 11 to 15 year old boys and 11% girls in that age range are currently obese (McPherson *et al.* 2007). If no action is taken, it is predicted that 55% of boys and 70% of girls (under 20 years) could be overweight or obese by the year 2050 (McPherson *et al.* 2007).

The health risks associated with overweight and obesity are similarly well documented; being overweight or obese is associated with a higher likelihood of suffering numerous chronic illnesses, including, among others, cardiovascular disease and cancer and Type 2 diabetes (World Health Organization, 2003a, 2005; Kopelman, 2007).

While genetic make up may be important in determining a person's susceptibility to weight gain, an individual's energy balance is determined by energy intake and energy expenditure (Hill, 2006). The key causes of the global increase in overweight and obesity are cited as diet and lifestyle factors, such as increased consumption of energy-dense foods, high in fat, low in fibre and sugar-rich drinks, increased sedentary behaviour and reduced physical activity (Jebb, 2007).

Adolescence (defined here as age 11 years to age 18 years) in particular is an important period in the life cycle as this is a period of rapid growth and development physically, socially and psychologically, during which significant changes occur (Webb, 2002). At age 16-18 years young people are in the transition from adolescence to young adulthood and in addition to academic demands or the challenges of entering the workforce young people tend to have busy personal and social lives (Wills, 2005). Furthermore studies have reported that eating habits formed in adolescence (11-12 years) can continue into adulthood (Birch, 1999; Lake *et al.* 2004b) and may have long-term health implications; for example, being overweight or obese as an adolescent is associated with being overweight or obese as an adult (Lean, 2000; Guo *et al.* 2002; Craigie *et al.* 2003).

With the notion that diet and lifestyle in adolescent years are generally unhealthy (Wills, 2005) and that poor diet and excess weight in childhood continues into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004b), the aims of this chapter are:

- To describe the demographic and lifestyle characteristics of adolescents (aged 11 to 18 years) that might explain the energy intake and adiposity in the young people of this study at age 16-18 years (Chapter 2.1 and Chapter 2.3);
- To describe methods available for assessing adiposity from a public health perspective (Chapter 2.2);
- To discuss dietary studies of adolescents with which to compare the findings of this study population (Chapter 2.3);
- To describe the various methods available for dietary assessment in epidemiological studies (Chapter 2.4);
- To explain the method by which behaviour (e.g. dietary intake) in childhood can be tracked into adulthood (Chapter 2.5); and
- To discuss methods by which physical activity can be measured in adolescents (Chapter 2.6)

Chapter 2: Review of the literature

## 2.1. Adolescence

Adolescence is an intensely anabolic period and a time when there is inevitably a relatively high demand for energy and nutrients to sustain rapid growth (Webb, 2002). It is a time of vulnerability and growing independence, including increased opportunities to make decisions about what and when to eat (Barasi, 2003). A process of transition towards greater autonomy from parents begins (Noller & Callan, 1991) and peers become increasingly central to many areas of the adolescent's life (Shepherd & Dennison, 1996). Adolescents spend more time away from home as a result of social, school, and community activities and jobs. Subsequently, increasingly busier lifestyle is among the most important factors influencing adolescent food choice i.e. the amount of time an adolescent "*has or wants to spend on food*" (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

In addition, adolescence is a time of increased awareness of the body, its shape and size, most especially for females (Davis & Furnham, 1986). Thinness is seen as the desirable body shape for women in Western cultures and, thus, many adolescent females, and increasing numbers of adolescent males, strive to achieve this goal by means of dietary restraint (Shepherd & Dennison, 1996). Adolescent lifestyles, influenced by the desire to fit social norms, may not be conducive to encourage teenagers to eat in a manner that meets the increased and changing nutrition needs during this period (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999). Lack of sense of urgency regarding future health may make nutrition a low concern among adolescents.

Poor eating patterns may result in nutritional problems that can impair adolescent growth and development (Society for Adolescent Medicine, 1999). Nutritional intake during this period may have long-term health implications. For example, being overweight as an adolescent is associated with being overweight as an adult (Lean, 2000; Guo *et al.* 2002; Craigie *et al.* 2004). Furthermore eating habits formed in adolescence continue into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004a) consequently poor dietary

habits among youth have important implications for health and well-being in adulthood (for example (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

Physical inactivity is linked with an increase in obesity (Katzmarzyk *et al.* 2001) among adolescents (Nader *et al.* 2008). There is concern that low levels of physical activity may predispose children to the development of obesity and chronic disease later in life (Goran *et al.* 1999; Boreham *et al.* 2004), however there is considerable disagreement as to the timing and magnitude of these trends (Sallis *et al.* 1993).

## 2.2. Adiposity

## 2.2.1. Anthropometric measurement methods

A number of methods are available for assessing adiposity, such as dual X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA), underwater weighting and isotope dilution, but can be complex, time consuming and expensive (McCarthy *et al.* 2006). Body mass index (BMI) defined as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) is a widely accepted method of classification of overweight and obesity in adults (World Health Organization, 1995).

The use of BMI for classification of adiposity in children and young people however, has been subject to more debate than for adults. "*Between the ages of 12 and 17 years boys gain an average 26cm in height and 26 kg in weight; girls gain 23 cm in height and 21kg in weight between the ages of 10 and 15 years*" (Webb, 2002). During adolescence there is the added complication that not only height and weight, but also body composition is still changing (Friedman, 1997; Page and Fox, 1998). To account for the difference in timing of the growth spurts of height and weight, and the systematic physiological differences between males and females, the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) developed age and gender specific BMI cut-offs which are predictive of BMI of >25 (overweight) and >29.9 (obese) in adulthood (Cole *et al.* 2000).

However, although BMI is relatively simple to calculate and has been a valuable tool in monitoring trends in obesity, the assessment of adiposity by BMI is a proxy measure and does not distinguish between fat, lean tissue or bone (Lean, 2000; McCarthy *et al.* 2006). For example, males gain proportionately more muscle and lean tissue than fat and females gain more fat than muscle as part of their natural sexual and reproductive physiology (McCarthy *et al.* 2006). Subsequently, measures of BMI can lead to significant misclassification in some highly muscular individuals with low body fat and a high BMI (McCarthy *et al.* 2006).

Research investigating the health risks associated with excess body fat in children and adolescents has studied up to a maximum age of 16 years (McCarthy *et al.* 2006) (the usual upper age limit for childhood) and such data based on 16-18 year olds are scarce. The health risks of excess body fat for adults have traditionally been associated with inappropriate weights for height expressed as BMI (Garrow, 1981) with high BMI (>25 in adults) being associated with increased risk of morbidity and mortality (Kopelman, 2007). However as stated previously BMI does not indicate the level of central adiposity associated with cardiovascular disease risk factors including dyslipidemia, hypertension, and insulin resistance (Katzmarzyk *et al.* 2001). For example in a clinical setting some normal weight individuals display the expected chronic complications of obesity such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease, whereas some obese patients could be characterised by a fairly normal metabolic risk factor profile (Despres, 2001).

Considerable research has gone into developing bio-impedance monitors that can distinguish between lean and fat tissue on the basis of their differential conductance and impedance characteristics (McCarthy *et al*, 2006). Bio-impedance analysis (BIA)

offers additional body composition (lean and fat mass) information to routine anthropometry. BIA is based on the theoretical relationship between the volume of a conductor and its impedance. When applied to the human body it assumes that the fat-free mass (FFM) contains virtually all the body's conducting electrolytes. The impedance value is combined with anthropometric data into a prediction equation to give compartment measures (Tyrrell et al. 2001). Early BIA method required careful placement of electrodes on the arm and leg. Measurement using foot to foot BIA is quick and simpler in that the subject is only required to stand on the plate surface which contains pad electrodes. Foot to foot BIA is comparable to conventional (arm and leg) BIA in adults (Nunez et al. 1997) and in children (Tyrrell et al. 2001). Nevertheless whilst BIA was found to be a useful tool, its accuracy depends on the use of an appropriate equation and should be considered in the validation of BIA. In a similar way to Cole et al. (2000), McCarthy et al. (2006) produced age and sex specific reference curves for use in children and adolescents which also define overfat and obese individuals. It is important to note that these have only been validated in Caucasian children and on a specific bio-impedance monitor.

It is now well established that it is not only the amount of body fat that is important for reducing the risk to health, but where in the body it is distributed. Several of the metabolic consequences of obesity, such as Type 2 diabetes, hypertension and hyperlipidemia relate specifically to the accumulation of intra-abdominal fat (Kopelman, 2007). Consequently, a central distribution of body fat is now considered a stronger cardiovascular risk factor than elevated BMI (Lean, 2000; McCarthy *et al.* 2003). Whilst several anthropometric methods of estimating body fat distribution are available, the waist to hip ratio (WHR) and waist circumference (WC) alone offer alternatives to BIA as simple measures of body composition, or at least of body fat distribution. Relative fat distribution can be estimated by the ratio of waist circumference to hip circumference (WHR). Although previously useful for risk *assessment*, WHR is difficult to interpret biologically, reflecting not only fat distribution but also muscle distribution

(Molarius and Siedell, 1998). Also because both waist circumference and hip circumference can change simultaneously with weight reduction, the ratio of WHR changes very little. Further, WHR as a ratio is an index of the relative amount of abdominal fat, therefore both non-obese and obese individuals could have the same elevated WHR. Therefore in a public health context, WHR is not helpful for risk *management* (Ashwell *et al.* 2005) and WC which is a simple and inexpensive anthropometric tool has been proposed as a preferable measure of visceral adipose tissue in both adults (Taylor *et al.* 2000; Harris *et al.* 2000; Despres, 2001) and children (Freedman *et al.* 1999; Garnett *et al.* 2007).

The WC alone is sometimes favoured due to its simplicity, easier biological interpretation, and because it has been shown to be a better indicator of visceral fat and total fatness than the WHR (Lean *et al.* 1996; Han *et al.* 1997 Molarius & Seidell, 1998). McCarthy and colleagues (2001) have developed WC percentile curves for use in children and adolescents; however these were to a maximum age of 16.9 years. The World Health Organization has based recommendations for identifying health risks associated with central distribution of body fat (non-Asians) on cut-offs by Lean *et al.* (1995). By natural physiological development males have larger waist circumferences (Ashwell *et al.* 1997), thus a WC ≥94cm for males and ≥80cm for females indicates an increased health risk and WC >102cm for males, and >88cm for females indicates a high health risk (Lean *et al.* 1995).

## 2.2.2. Aetiology and prevalence of obesity

Obesity has come to be considered a global epidemic and excess body weight is now the most common childhood disorder in Europe (World Health Organization, 2003a). There has been an increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity in British children over recent years. In a UK government report 'Foresight: Tackling Obesities: Future Choices' (Butland *et al.* 2007), raw data from 'The Health Survey for England 2004' were used to identify current trends in the UK (McPherson *et al.* 2007). These data identified a 21% prevalence of overweight and obesity for adolescents aged 13 to 16 (McPherson *et al.* 2007). In the 16 to 24 year old age range, 23 per cent of men and 19 per cent of women were overweight, and a further 6 per cent of men and 8 per cent of women were obese (McPherson *et al.* 2007). Moreover trends in waist circumference of 11-16 year olds have greatly exceeded those in BMI (McCarthy *et al.* 2003).

The aetiology of overweight and obesity is complex and multifaceted (Butland *et al.* 2007). The global increase in overweight and obesity are cited as diet and sedentary lifestyles; however research is divided on the primary causal factor (Jebb, 2007). While much emphasis is placed on dietary content, there is evidence that the British are becoming more overweight in spite of consuming less energy than in the 1970's (Prentice & Jebb, 1995, Hill, 2006).

Research highlighted in the UK government report 'Foresight: Tackling Obesities: Future Choices' illustrates the complexities of determining any single cause of obesity (Butland *et al.* 2007). There are biological factors that maintain homeostatic balance, for example a number of studies in humans have identified a number of specific genes associated with obesity. Foetal and infant growth is also cited as one determinant of future risk of obesity (Barker in Butland *et al.* 2007). Eating and physical activity behaviours, environments, people's beliefs and attitudes and broader economic and social drivers all have a role to play in determining obesity (Butland *et al.* 2007).

Other plausible contributory factors of obesity in children and adolescents have been reported, for example differences in the age of the onset of puberty for example may affect fat deposition (World Health Organization, 1995; Martinez, 2000). Post pubertal fat deposition in both females and males tends to be more central (waist and hip) rather than general (Lawlor & Chaturvedi, 2006) and may also be a critical period for the development of atherosclerosis. McGill (2000) suggested that late adolescence (i.e.

Chapter 2: Review of the literature

from age 15-19 years) is the key time when fatty streaks convert to raised atherosclerotic lesions (McGill, 2000). This also corresponds with the age at which BMI and skinfold thickness increase in young adults who go on to develop the metabolic syndrome (Ferreira, 2005). More recently, Baker *et al.* (2007) reported data from a cohort of Danish school children in whom higher BMI at the age of 7 to13 years in boys (age 10 to 13 years in girls) was associated with increased risk of CHD in adulthood (from the age of 25 years). Furthermore the associations became stronger with increasing age of the child.

In addition, studies have reported that overweight and obese children are more likely to become overweight or obese adults (for example, Wardle *et al.* 2006; Johannsson *et al.* 2006). Adult obesity increases the risk of suffering significant health consequences including hypertension, Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. In the shorter term, obesity and overweight can have significant impact on psychological wellbeing, with many adolescents developing negative self image and experiencing low self-esteem (Krebs *et al.* 2007).

Research into the dietary determinants of obesity in adolescents is scarce and has largely been in relation to body image and dieting (Chapter 2.3.1) or specific nutrients. For example in a US study of children, Nicklas *et al.* (2003) reported that consumption of sweets and total gram consumption of sweetened beverages and meats were positively associated with overweight status, however the variance explained by the model was very small.

As identified in the recent Foresight report, many complex dietary factors are associated with obesity such as foods with high energy density, diets high in fat and low in fibre (Butland *et al* 2007), however scientists have reached a consensus that obesity results from an imbalance in the energy balance equation (Krebs *et al.* 2007). Body fatness is a biological function of the balance of energy intake and energy

expenditure (Harnack & Schmitz, 2006). If energy intake exceeds energy expenditure, the excess energy is stored as body fat regardless of its source, but excess energy from fat is stored with greater efficiency than excess energy from carbohydrate (Hill, 2006). If energy expenditure is lower than energy intake the unexpended energy is stored as adipose tissue (Harnack & Schmitz, 2006). However, there are fluctuations in energy balance as a result of day to day variations in diet and physical activity patterns (Hill, 2006). Consequently, it is suggested that the cause of the rising prevalence of obesity may be a growing imbalance between energy intake and energy expenditure attributable to an habitual increase in total energy intake and/or a downward shift in energy expenditure (Harnack & Schmitz, 2006; Hill, 2006, Jebb, 2007). Efforts to reduce obesity by psychological means centre on the two factors that are behaviourally controllable. These include a change in eating habits to reduce energy intake and adoption of exercise habits to increase energy expenditure (World Health Organization, 2003b).

The health recommendation for physical activity in adults is at least 30 minutes of moderate activity per day, and for children (<16yrs) is at least 1 hour per day (Department of Health, 2004). In recent decades however, children and adolescents have engaged in less exercise (Jebb, 2007). Importantly this decline in exercise has coincided with an increase in sedentary activities; proxy measures of physical inactivity such as car ownership, computer use and television viewing seem more closely related to changes in obesity (Prentice and Jebb, 1995; Utter *et al.* 2003).

Descriptive studies of physical activity have consistently reported that males are more active than females (Sallis, 1993; Trost, 1999; Trost *et al.* 2001, Gallagher *et al.* 2002; Ekelund *et al.* 2005) and that physical activity declines with age (Sallis, 1993; Trost, 1999). The association between physical activity and obesity however, has produced contrasting results. Sallis *et al.* (2000), Ball *et al.* (2001) and Ekelund *et al.* (2002) for example found greater activity levels to be associated with lower BMI's. Treuth *et al.* 

(2005) in a US cross sectional study of males and females aged 7 to 19 years reported BMI positively associated with sedentary time; and negatively correlated with time spent in light activity but only in females. No association was found for males. Similarly, Ortega *et al.* (2007) reported Swedish children and adolescents with low levels of vigorous physical activity were more likely to be overweight.

The term obesogenic has been used to describe environments which encourage and promote high energy intake and reduced physical activity. A recent World Health Organization report concluded that the obesogenic environment appears to be largely directed at the adolescent market, making healthy choices more difficult (World Health Organization, 2005). The growing prevalence of adolescent obesity can therefore probably be attributed to a combination of physical inactivity, and energy intake more than energy expenditure (Lobstein, 2004). However this simplistic explanation does not capture the complexities of the pathways to obesity as described recently in the Foresight Report 2007 by Butland *et al.* (2007). That is "obesity is the consequence of interplay between a wide variety of variables and determinants related to biology, eating behaviours and physical activity, set within a social, cultural and environmental landscape" (Butland *et al.* 2007).

## 2.3. Adolescent food choice and obesity

Adolescent eating patterns are established through a complex process involving internal and external factors such as food preferences and availability, body weight perception, and parental and peer influences (Story & Resnick, 1986). The largest UK study to date of food consumption patterns in adolescents is the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) of young people aged 4 – 18 years (Gregory *et al.* 2000). The NDNS is a comprehensive cross-sectional survey of approximately 2100 young people age 4 to 18 years. The survey was carried out throughout 1997 and used the weighed intake methodology for dietary assessment of the dietary habits and nutritional status of the population in Great Britain in 1997. The authors found that the foods most

commonly consumed by young people in the survey were white bread, savoury snacks, chips, biscuits, potatoes and chocolate confectionery. In the week of record approximately 75% drank carbonated soft drinks with 45% consuming low calorie versions. Ten per cent of 15 to 18 year old girls reported that they were vegetarian or vegan and 16% of this age group said they were dieting to lose weight. About 58% of 15 to 18 year olds and 16% of the 11 to 14 year olds reported that they had consumed alcohol during the past week. Mean energy intakes were lower than estimated average requirements (EARs) for all age/sex groups but were the lowest in relation to the EARs for 15 to 18 year old girls. Energy intakes in this survey were lower than in a previous survey (1983) of 10 to 11 and 14 to 15 year old school children (Gregory et al. 2000). The average proportion of energy derived from total fat was 35% for boys and 36% for girls, close to the COMA recommendation of 35% (Department of Health, 1991). The average proportion of food energy derived from saturated fatty acids was 14.2% for boys and 14.3% for girls, above the COMA recommendation of 11% (Department of Health, 1991). Although there were some regional differences in vitamin and mineral intakes, there were few significant differences in energy and macronutrient intakes between regions (Gregory et al. 2000). Indicators of socio-economic status such as receipt of benefits, household income and social class showed that young people, particularly boys, in households of lower socio-economic status had lower intakes of energy, fat, some other macronutrients and most vitamins and minerals (Gregory et al. 2000).

Current guidelines encourage people to eat a diet low in saturated fat and choose a variety of fruits and vegetables (at least five portions per day), eat whole grains every day, and be physically active each day (Food Standards Agency, 2010). Despite the widespread dissemination of these guidelines and the importance of healthy eating in adolescence, nutritional problems are prevalent among adolescents (Wills, 2005). Many youths engage in unhealthy dieting practices and have erratic eating patterns that include high intakes of fast foods (Watt and Sheiham, 1996; Wills, 2005) and other

foods high in fat and sugar, as well as low intakes of fruits, vegetables, and calcium rich foods (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999; Croll *et al.* 2001).

Much attention has focused recently on adolescents' high consumption of fast food and confectionery. Fast food typically incorporates all of the potentially harmful dietary factors including saturated and trans-fat (fat from partially hydrogenated vegetable oils), a high glycaemic index, high energy density and increasingly, large portion size. These foods also tend to be low in fibre, micronutrients and antioxidants (Ebbeling *et al.* 2002).

Adolescent consumption of carbonated soft drinks is another cause of concern. The physiological effects of energy intake on satiation appear to be different for energy in fluids as opposed to solid foods (World Health Organization, 2003a). This means that consumption of energy at mealtimes may not be adjusted to take into account the energy consumed as carbonated soft drinks, thus contributing to obesity (Ludvig *et al.* 2001). Until recently carbonated soft drinks were widely accessible to school children in the UK. In the United Kingdom more than 70% of adolescents consume carbonated drinks on a regular basis (Gregory *et al.* 2000). Much of children and adolescents' added sugar intakes (or Non-Milk Extrinsic Sugars (NMES)) can be attributed to changes in their beverage consumption patterns (James *et al.* 2004). Intakes of added sugars in the UK are substantially higher than recommended levels for both adults and children. Children, in particular, are high consumers of added sugars, with intakes up to 80% higher than the recommendation. Up to 22% of their added sugars are delivered in the form of non-diet soft drinks (Nelson *et al.* 2007).

## 2.3.1. Influences on adolescent food choice

#### Social influences

The social environment plays an especially important role in nutrition through social norms and the availability of healthy food. Social influences on food intake refer to

influences that one of more subjects has on the eating behaviour of others, either direct or indirect, either conscious or subconscious (Feunekes *et al.* 1998). Even when eating alone, food choice is influenced by social factors because attitudes and habits develop through the interaction with other people (Feunekes *et al.* 1998).

1) "The influences that people have on eating behaviour of others are not limited to one type, but include a range of influences, for example, modelling of eating behaviour of others, persuasion to consume or avoid eating certain foods, changing the availability of foods for others, and attempting to change someone's eating attitudes. These influences are embedded in everyday eating behaviour, in family food rules, and in the eating culture as a whole" (Feunekes *et al.*, 1998).

2) "Social influences play a role in different time frames. Influences may be exerted during the eating and drinking occasion, such as persuasion, encouragement, and social facilitation of food intake. Alternatively, they may be spread over a prolonged period, such as the effect of cohabitation" (Feunekes *et al.* 1998; supported by Lake *et al.* 2004b).

3) "People are not necessarily aware of the social influences that are exerted on their eating behaviour. If they are aware of this, they might not be eager to admit that their behaviour is influenced by others. This makes it difficult to assess social influences by simply asking them to rate the perceived influences of others" (Feunekes *et al.* 1998). The Health Survey for England 1997 found that the eating habits of 2 to 15 year olds, though not those of 'young adults' were related to social class and income (Food Standards Agency, 2003). More recently, foods consumed by 14 to 16 year olds have been found to be similar across socio-economic groups (Food Standards Agency, 2003). Despite this similarity, those in higher social groups report wider exposure to different foods while adolescents in lower social groups report greater independence in
food choices and more responsibility for organising these choices (Food Standards Agency, 2003).

### **Behaviour**

Behavioural patterns in adolescence have been shown to influence dietary behaviour. Studies of adolescents have shown, for example that smoking is associated with reduced intakes of protein, carbohydrate, fruits and vegetables (Crawley & While, 1995). Preoccupation with body weight and diet is also a common occurrence, especially in female adolescents (Barker *et al.* 2000).

In a survey of the 'behaviour, body composition and diets in adolescent girls', aged between 14 to 16 years, (Barker *et al.* 2000) reported that patterns of behaviour found that 19% were regular smokers, meaning that they smoked more than 6 cigarettes a week. These girls were more likely to go out with friends in the evening and less likely to eat breakfast (Barker *et al.* 2000; Samuelson, 2000) and an evening meal with their families (Barker *et al.* 2000).

Late adolescence is a time of increased pressure, such as preparing for their future – studying for examinations for those who remain in education, making independent decisions such as career choices (Wills, 2005). Research in young adults has shown that food intake is perceived to be influenced by stress (Oliver & Wardle, 1999). Data from a UK study of undergraduate students in London, found that most participants reported that stress influenced the overall amount of food that they consumed, with approximately equal numbers eating more (42%) and eating less (38%). The foods most frequently reported as being eaten in greater quantity were sweets and chocolate (70%), cakes and biscuits (60%), and savoury snacks (48%). Foods least likely to be eaten in greater quantity were fruit and vegetables (19%) and meat and fish (9%). Bread was as likely to be eaten less (29%) as more (26%) (Oliver & Wardle, 1999).

## Body image and dieting

Various studies of children and adolescents have shown that a sizeable proportion are dissatisfied with their body size and shape (Tiggeman, 2005). This concern increases with BMI and is more prevalent in females than males. The Health Survey for England 2004 found that 20% of 16 to 24 year old females who had a desirable BMI thought that they were too heavy. A significant proportion who were not overweight were trying to lose weight (10% of the underweight and 45% of those with desirable weight) (Butland *et al.* 2007). Research in the US also suggests a rise over time in dieting among adolescent females (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 2006).

In a UK study of adolescent females, Barker *et al.* (2000) found that girls who reported being less satisfied with weight were more likely to report lower intakes of percentage energy from fat and higher percentage energy from protein and carbohydrate. Girls who were least satisfied with their weight, reported consuming on average 2055 calories per day and 35% energy from fat, 12% from protein and 53% from carbohydrate. By comparison, girls who were most satisfied with their weight reported consuming on average 2758 calories a day, 38% energy from fat, 11% from protein and 51% from carbohydrate. 'Dieters' tended to watch less television, take vigorous exercise more often and skip breakfast, these effects were independent of girls' social class.

As reported in other US studies, for example, (Watt & Sheiham 1996b; Croll *et al.* 2001; Huang & Volpe, 2004), gender differences in food choice were reported by Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* (1999); these include: boys who said they were trying to eat certain foods to change the way they look, wanted to get taller, more muscular, or gain or lose weight. Girls who discussed this issue did so only in reference to a reduction of body weight (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

### Parental influences

Despite the multiple influences on food choices during adolescence, research has found that adolescents perceive their home food environment and parental eating patterns as factors that influence their dietary intake (Hill *et al.* 1998; Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999; O'Dea 2003; Hanson *et al.* 2005). These influences include, parental eating and cooking behaviours, food purchases, rules regarding eating and meals, parental concerns about nutrition, family meal patterns, overall parent-child relations, and familial cultural and religious practices (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

In US focus groups, adolescents associated eating healthful foods with eating family meals (Kelsey et al. 1998; Neumark-Sztainer et al. 2000) and identified parents as important influences on their consumption patterns (Neumark-Sztainer et al. 1999; Videon & Manning, 2003) in a number of ways. Similarly, for them to change their eating patterns, the same adolescents noted that they need their parents to encourage healthy eating (Neumark-Sztainer et al. 1999; O'Dea 2003). Other studies of adolescents (Woodward et al. 1996; Backman et al. 2002; Lee & Reicks 2003; Neumark-Sztainer et al. 2003) reported the home food environment and parental eating patterns were associated with their dietary intakes. However in studies (Lau et al. 1990; Hanson et al. 2005) where both adolescents and parents reported their dietary intake independently, the two reports were not associated. Hanson et al (2005) suggested that parental report might be a more valid measure of dietary intake since parents may have a better sense for home availability of specific foods as they primarily control what foods are purchased for, and served in, the home (Hanson et al. 2005). Other studies (Hearn et al. 1998; Baranowski et al. 1999; Birch 1999, Kratt et al. 2000; Nicklas et al. 2001) have indicated that parents and other caregivers can influence the food choices of young children through the types of food made available at home, interactions that take place during meals and eating behaviours they model. However questions remain regarding the degree of influence that parents have on their adolescents' dietary intake (Hanson et al. 2005).

# 2.4. Dietary Assessment Methods

The choice of an appropriate dietary assessment method is critical in designing a nutritional study. Selecting the most appropriate method for a particular study will depend on the nutritional information of interest, the characteristics of the population under investigation and the resources available. The methods most commonly used with children and adolescents are discussed in this section.

Two main factors are important to consider when comparing dietary assessment methods: validity (or accuracy) and reliability. Validity refers to the ability of a dietary assessment method to measure true intake during the period of a study (Goldberg, 2002) and this requires comparison of the method with an external reference method. A reliable measure is capable of producing the same result when used repeatedly in the same circumstances (Nelson, 2000b).

Historically the weighed record is one of the most widely used techniques (Department of Health, 1989a; Gregory *et al.* 1990; Nelson, 1997; Gregory *et al.* 2000). Previously, considered to be the most valid of the measures available requiring all food and drink consumed over a series of days to be weighed. The subject may be interviewed at the end of the recording period to ensure all foods and drinks are recorded along with brand or food type and cooking methods. Nutrient intakes measured by this method have been shown to correlate well with biochemical markers of intake (Bingham *et al.* 1995). A disadvantage of the method is the high subject burden and for this reason diet may be altered and therefore it may not give a true picture (valid measure) of habitual intake (Nelson, 1997).

The estimated food intake method chosen by Hackett *et al.* (1984) in dietary study of Northumberland school children involves the participant recording in a diary everything consumed over a series of days. Instead of weighing all foods consumed the subject estimates portion sizes using household measures, this is usually followed up with an interview to clarify portion sizes using food models, food photographs or food replicas. It has the advantage of being prospective and so does not rely entirely on memory. It lessens the subject burden and may result in a better representation of habitual diet. Hackett and colleagues used five 3-day diaries followed by interviews since they had found the method to be reliable (repeatable) with, for example, reliability coefficient of 0.78 for total sugar intake. Over two three-day diaries the reliability coefficient was 0.59 (Hackett *et al.* 1983). Written records of food intake require a certain level of literacy so may be problematic in some situations and particularly in young children (Baranowski *et al.* 1994) but from the age of 10-12 years, children and adolescents are generally considered capable of reporting their dietary intake reliably using this method (Frank, 1991).

The Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) is a pre-printed list of foods about which participants are asked to indicate the typical frequency of consumption over a stated period, which is typically 14 to 18 days (Cade *et al.* 2002). In contrast to dietary diaries, FFQ's measure a snapshot of usual (not necessarily actual) intake rather than actual current (e.g. weighed) intake. The advantage of the method is it demands minimal subject burden and has the advantage of being able to be conducted as a postal survey. However the scope of the FFQ is limited by the finite number of foods that can be included in the questionnaire and studies have found considerable error in the intake of selected nutrients using this method (Day *et al.* 2001). It has also been shown to overestimate the consumption of several food categories, particularly vegetables in comparison to weighed food diaries (Livingstone *et al.* 1992; Bingham and Day, 1997). It may also prove too difficult for people whose dietary intake varies greatly from day to day to answer questions concerning usual intake over a long time period (Gibson, 1990).

The diet history method is an open-ended interview examining habitual food intake and has been used in studies such as the Young Hearts Project, Northern Ireland

Chapter 2: Review of the literature

(Boreham *et al.* 2004) and the Amsterdam Growth and Health Longitudinal Study (AGAHLS) (Post *et al.* 2001). It generally involves asking the respondent about usual eating patterns on an average day over the recent past including types of foods, frequency of consumption and portion sizes. The diet history method has been shown to provide a valid estimate of energy intake at the group level compared with a 7 day weighed record (Livingstone *et al.* 1992) and slightly lower than that using a FFQ compared with a 7 day weighed record (Jain *et al.* 1996). Overall this method can be time consuming and is dependent on the respondents' memory (Livingstone and Robson. 2000).

The 24 hour recall method is similar to that of the diet history. Participants are asked through a systematic repetition of open ended questions to recall and describe every item of food and drink they have consumed over the last 24 hours (Nelson, 2000b). In young children this is usually carried out with the parents, but thereafter the ability of children to self-report their food intake increases. The interviewer may assign average weights to the foods or the subject may estimate portion sizes using food models or photographs (Nelson *et al.* 1997; Foster *et al.* 2006). The main advantage of the 24 hour recall method is that it is quick and easy to administer (Nelson, 2000b). However, as with the diet history method, description of the foods consumed as well as portion size is dependent on participants memory recall and is therefore prone to omissions (Nelson, 2000b).

There are a number of methods available to validate energy intake such as direct comparison with estimates of energy expenditure derived from heart-rate monitors, accelerometers, and physical activity questionnaires all of which have their own sources of error. Energy expenditure measured using the doubly labelled water (DLW) method is considered the gold standard in free living conditions (Livingstone and Black, 2003) but this is very expensive.

Under-reporting of dietary intake is a common source of error in epidemiological studies (Nelson, 2000b). Energy needs are determined largely by BMR with additional requirements for energy expenditure from physical activity, and in the case of children, additional requirements for growth. In the absence of direct measures, BMR can be estimated using the age and sex appropriate equations of Schofield *et al.* (1985b). A person whose energy intake equals their energy expenditure is said to be in 'energy balance'. Assuming energy balance, estimates of energy requirements could be based on measurements of either energy intake or energy expenditure. Measurements of energy intake are less reliable than direct measurements of energy expenditure and validation studies have demonstrated that a bias in dietary reporting is highly probable (Torun *et al.* 1996). For this reason, estimates of energy requirements can be expressed as a multiple of BMR (Torun *et al.* 1996). This is a factor referred to as the *physical activity level* (PAL) and is calculated as the ratio of measured total energy expenditure (TEE) to BMR.

Torun *et al.* (1996) defined lower and upper cut-off points as 1.39 and 2.24 x BMR for males and 1.30 and 2.10 x BMR for females as reasonable estimates of energy requirements of children and adolescents aged 6 to 18 years. A ratio of 1.0 indicates that a person has reported consuming the minimum energy requirement for the body to function at rest. If usual or habitual dietary intake is reported it would be expected that EI would be broadly equivalent to energy expenditure (EE), assuming energy balance (Hill, 2006).

As discussed there are a number of methods for the assessment of dietary intake, yet in practice, it is notoriously difficult to achieve an accurate measure and assessment is subject to numerous sources of error (Livingstone *et al.* 1992). Nevertheless dietary assessment can provide a valuable estimate of food and nutrient intake in free-living subjects.

## 2.5. Tracking

Tracking has been defined as the maintenance of relative position in rank of behaviour over time (Kelder *et al.* 1994), such that from a public health perspective participants who rank highly for disease risk (Twisk, 2003) (from adiposity and/or dietary behaviour for example) at a young age are likely to maintain their ranks through into adulthood (Boreham *et al.* 2004).

One of the main problems in tracking analyses is how to evaluate the magnitude of tracking and with it the difficulty to conclude whether tracking or not exists. Several methods are used to assess tracking such as the odds ratio and regression modelling for example (Twisk, 2003). The two most common methods are using correlation coefficients between baseline and subsequent measurements (Kelder *et al.* 1994) or by grouping the baseline data by rank into tertiles or quartiles and determining the proportion of participants maintaining their ranking at follow-up measurement (Boreham *et al.* 2004).

Conclusions are often based on the significance of the correlation coefficient, but it is much more important to consider the magnitude of the tracking coefficient (Twisk, 2003). However this in turn also depends largely on the length of time interval with shorter intervals usually yielding higher, but not necessarily 'better' coefficients than over longer periods (Twisk, 2003). Tracking is also influenced by chance and it is argued that the Kappa test (k) can be used in order to avoid chance or random measurement error. That is because k can be seen as the proportion of agreement between two measurements over time, corrected for the expected proportion of agreement caused by chance (Altman, 1991). Measurement error should also be considered when interpreting tracking coefficients, for example tracking coefficients tend to be weaker with larger measurement errors such as dietary intake compared with more reproducible factors such as BMI (Twisk, 2003). Caution should also be taken when interpreting the results of tracking analysis based on percentile groups.

For example, while it is of interest to assess the proportion of subjects remaining in a 'risk' group over time (Twisk, 2003) it is reported that subjects with a stable high body weight over time are less likely to develop cardiovascular problems than those with an increase in body weight over time (Guo and Chumlea,1999). Therefore not only subjects maintaining a certain 'risk' group should be evaluated but also the proportion of subjects that increase to the 'risk' group over time (Twisk, 2003).

### 2.5.1. Tracking of body size

The prevalence of obesity in children and adolescents has almost tripled in Britain in the past 20 years, as it has in the United States (Wardle, 2006). Longitudinal data are critical to understanding the patterns of obesity development over time, the permanency of obesity at each age, and the ideal points for intervention (Gordon-Larsen *et al.* 2004). Several longitudinal observational studies have been conducted to examine the tracking patterns of children's BMI (Wang *et al.* 2000; Magarey *et al.* 2003; Fuentes *et al.* 2003). However few studies have focused on tracking of health-related variables such as overweight and BMI from childhood to adolescence (Johannsson *et al.* 2006; Wardle *et al.* 2006). Adolescence has been identified as a critical period for the development of persistent overweight and obesity on the basis of the strong evidence for tracking of adolescent adiposity into adulthood (Rolland-Cachera *et al.* 1997; Serdula *et al.* 1993; Power *et al.* 1997; Lake *et al.* 1997; Whitaker *et al.* 1997; Craigie *et al.* 2004). Furthermore adolescent obesity is associated with all the long term risks of adult obesity and may carry additional risks for metabolic disorders (Mahoney *et al.* 1996; Berenson *et al.* 1998a; Must & Tybor, 2005).

The normal pattern is for BMI to decrease from ~2 years of age until 5 or 6 years of age and to increase thereafter (Malina, 2004 in Krebs, 2007). This early decrease in BMI reflects a corresponding decrease in subcutaneous fat and the percentage of body fat, a pattern termed as the 'adiposity rebound'. It coincides with the period between

the ages of 4 and 7 years when BMI reaches its lowest point and then begins to increase through the remainder of childhood and into young adulthood (Dietz, 1997).

In a European study of children and adolescents, Johannsson *et al.* (2006) reported that the children who were overweight at age 6 years were more likely to be overweight at age 9, 12 and 15 years. A greater persistence of overweight were shown between ages 6 and 9 years (72%) than between 9 and15 years (54%) or between 12 and 15 years (58%). However the magnitude of tracking was higher as the children got older with an odds ratio of 21.8 for being overweight from age 6 to 9 years and an odds ratio of 27.2 from age 12 to 15 years.

The health and behaviour in teenagers study (HABITS) is a five year longitudinal study of English children, established in 1999, designed to investigate the development of cancer related risk factors, including smoking and obesity (Wardle et al. 2006). Data collection continued annually from year 7 (age 11-12) to year 11 (age 15 -16). The prevalence of overweight or obesity was high at age 11 years, 18.6% (15.6% males; 23.1% females) were overweight and 5.5% (4.6% males; 6.7% females) were obese. At age 16 years 16.9% (14.4% males; 20.4% females) were overweight and 6.8% (5.7% males; 8.3% females) were obese, 10% of participants remained overweight and 6% remained obese. Adiposity tracked strongly over time and BMI correlations from year to year were greater than 0.9 at one and two year and above 0.8 for three and four year intervals. In agreement with Johannsson et al. (2006) this indicates that the children who are fatter than average at age 11 years were likely to remain fatter at age 15 years. Transitions from overweight or obese to normal weight showed that if excess adiposity is present at age 11 years, it is highly likely to persist. In this sample very few students who were obese in year 7 later changed to normal weight status. Thus the high risk period for onset of persistent obesity may be in the pre-adolescent years, which has important implications for targeting preventive efforts (Wardle et al. 2006). However the value of intervention in late childhood and adolescence must not be

underestimated (Johannsson *et al.* 2006). In a systematic review of the literature from 1985 to 2005 Singh *et al.* (2008) found increased risk for an overweight or obese youth to become overweight or obese in adulthood. Several studies reported that persistence of overweight was greater with increasing level of overweight (Serdula *et al.* 1993; Guo *et al.* 1999; Laitinen *et al.* 2001; Engeland *et al.* 2004; Field *et al.* 2005). Overall the magnitude of tracking was higher with increasing age (Singh *et al.* 2008), a finding supported by other authors (Wright *et al.* 2001; Gordon-Larsen *et al.* 2004; Johannsson *et al.* 2006). Guo *et al.* (2002) analysed lifelong data from the Fels Longitudinal Study and estimated the probabilities of being obese at age 35 years as  $\geq$ 60% from age 12 to 20 years in females, and for males 40% to 60% from age 11.5 to 16 years and  $\geq$  60% from age 17 to 20 years. The author went onto suggest if individuals end their adolescence with moderately elevated BMI, then the likelihood of obesity in later adulthood (for example, age 35 years) was greater.

The National Longitudinal Adolescent Study (Add Health) consisted of 14, 438 adolescents, a nationally representative, school based study of US adolescents age 13 to 20 years (Gordon-Larsen *et al.* 2004). Over the five year period between wave II (13y-20y) and wave III (19y-26y) 9.4% of the total sample was obese as adolescents and young adults and 12.7% of those non-obese at wave II became obese at wave III. In agreement with other studies (Wright *et al.* 2001) for the total sample, younger adolescents were less likely to become obese as young adults (compared with older adolescents) and were twice as likely to become non-obese as with their older counterparts. These data indicate a high incidence and maintenance of obesity during transition from adolescence to young adulthood. Conversely, despite the rapid linear growth of males after puberty a small proportion (14.4%) of adolescents (aged 13-20y) moved out of the obese category as they became adults (19-26y). The results of this study mirror many smaller studies (Serdula *et al.* 1993; Srinivisan *et al.* 1996; Power *et al.* 1997) that display a significant tendency for childhood and adolescent overweight to persist or track into adulthood. Childhood obesity is moderately predictive whereas

adolescent obesity is highly predictive of adult obesity (Whitaker *et al.* 1997; Guo *et al.* 2002). These findings indicate that the transition between adolescence and young adulthood appears to be a period of increased risk of development of obesity for life.

### 2.5.2. Tracking of energy and macronutrients

Strong tracking of anthropometric variables relating to body weight and adiposity and biological measures such as total sum of skinfolds have been consistently reported (Serdula *et al.* 1993; Srinivisan *et al*, 1996; Power *et al*, 1997; Twisk *et al.* 1997; Robson *et al.* 2000; Wright *et al.* 2001; Gordon-Larsen *et al.* 2004; Boreham *et al.* 2004; Craigie *et al.* 2004; Wardle *et al.* 2006). In contrast, the evidence for tracking, or otherwise, of nutrient intakes of adolescents (age 11 to 17 years) has been somewhat scarce and inconsistent.

In several studies of younger children fair to moderate tracking of certain nutrients have been reported. One study, which examined the extent of tracking of nutrients in the diets of 181 children initially aged 45-60 months, reported tracking coefficients for calcium (Stein *et al.* 1991). Despite substantial day-to-day variation in intake, the authors concluded that the underlying diets, assessed using repeated 24 h recalls, of the pre-school children did track well over time. A later study, which used a series of 3 d estimated food diaries to assess the diets of seventy-three children from 3-4 years to 7-8 years of age, also found evidence of nutrient tracking from the pre-school years to school age (Singer *et al.* 1995). However, as the subjects in these studies were surveyed at young ages when diet is highly likely to be controlled by parents or guardians, this is probably to be expected. In contrast evidence of nutrient tracking in older children and adolescents is less consistent. For example, Boulton *et al.* (1995) reported tracking of dietary energy, fat and calcium in an Australian cohort from the age of 1 to 15 years. Diets in that cohort were assessed using 4 d weighed records. It was apparent that children who were `big eaters' at a young age remained so, but that

those who had lower energy intakes when younger became more evenly spread across the distribution of intakes over time.

More recently, The Young Hearts Project is an ongoing longitudinal study evaluating a range of behavioural and biological risk factors for CVD in young people living in Northern Ireland (Boreham *et al.* 2004). Initial school based screening (YH1) was conducted in 1989/1990 and surveyed 1015 adolescents. These were a combination of age 12 (251 males, 258 females) and 15 year olds (252 males, 254 females). In 1992 and 1993 (YH2) the 12 year old cohort of YH1 were reassessed at age 15 years (Robson *et al.* 2000). Between 1997 and 1999 all YH1 subjects were invited to take part in YH3 aged 20-25 years (Gallagher *et al.* 2002). Boreham *et al.* (2004) reported on the findings of participants for whom complete data were available (245 males and 231 females) at age 15 (combined YH1 and YH2) and at young adulthood (age 22 -25 (mean 22y) (YH3)).

At all study time-points diet was assessed by the diet history method as described in Chapter 2.4. Reported energy and macronutrient intakes were calculated using UK food composition tables (WISP, Tinuviel Software, Warrington, UK). For each dietary and anthropometric measurement participants were ranked into low, medium and high categories at age 15 and 22 years. Using this method of classification provided a broad picture of the relative changes in a particular variable over time, such that a matrix with relatively small off-diagonal elements provides evidence of 'good' tracking. The extent of tracking was summarized using Kappa (k) statistics and interpreted according to Altman, (1991) as follows:  $k \le 0.20$  poor tracking, k 0.21-0.40 fair, k 0.41-0.60 moderate, k 0.61-0.80 good, and k 0.81-1.0 very good.

At age 15 years, Robson *et al.* (2000) reported poor tracking of EI (MJ/d) for males (k=0.18) and fair for females (k=0.24). With the exception of protein (EI%) (k= 0.25), the tracking macronutrients in males from age 12 to age 15 years was poor (k< 0.20).

For females, protein intake (g/d and % energy) exhibited a fair degree of tracking, but this was not evident for other macronutrients. At age 22 years Boreham et al. (2004) also reported poor tracking (k<20) for all nutrient intakes between age 15 and 22 years for both males and females. Another study, the Amsterdam Growth and Health Study, (AGAHLS) was a 20 year longitudinal study covering adolescence to adulthood (Post et al. 2001). During the period 1976 to 1996-7 (20 years) 73 males and 91 females were measured 8 times from age 13 to 33 years. During adolescence (13-17 years) four annual assessments were taken, starting in 1977 and ending in 1980. At the age of 21 years the fifth measurement was carried out in 1985. The sixth and seventh measurement were at the age of 27 and 33 years in 1991 and 1996-7. Dietary assessment was also (Boreham et al. 2004) measured by detailed cross-check dietary history interview and during adolescence by parental questionnaire. Nutrient intake was calculated with the use of the Dutch food consumption table (Stichting Nederlandse Voedingsstoffen Bestant, 1996 in Post et al. 2001). Tracking of dietary factors was examined by generalised estimating equations (GEE) (Twisk et al. 1997). Between age 13 and 33 years significant (p<0.05) stability coefficients of energy intake and all macronutrients were described as low to moderate stability of dietary intake with values ranging from 0.28 to 0.45 with the highest being for EI relative to body weight (KJ/kg/d) (0.52) Indicating, in agreement with the previous study (Robson et al. 2000; Boreham et al. 2004) that dietary intake during adolescence seems to be a fairly weak predictor of dietary intake in the adult. These findings were comparable with those of other lifestyle variables such as daily physical activity (0.34) (Boreham et al. 2004) but considerably lower than biological measures such as total sum of skinfolds (Twisk et al. 1997) and BMI (Chapter 2.5.1).

## 2.6. Measuring physical activity

Physical activity is defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that result in energy expenditure" (Caspersen *et al.* 1985) and therefore incorporates all

daily activities. In children movement is often more sporadic and multi-dimensional, and daily activity patterns are commonly more varied than in adults. Until relatively recently measurement of habitual physical activity has been challenging and published literature of reliable methods of measurement in adolescence (age 16-18 years) is scarce (Welk *et al.* 2007). Recent technological developments have provided the means for objective measures of physical activity.

Physical activity dimensions include intensity, frequency, and duration which together make up the total volume of activity. Another important dimension of physical activity is the type of activity such as walking and cycling (Corder *et al.* 2008). The research question being investigated in any particular study is crucial to identifying the most appropriate assessment method(s) for physical activity.

Subjective methods include questionnaires, interviews, activity diaries (logs) and direct observation. The latter is useful for the assessment of physical activity in controlled situations and as a valid criterion, but the obtrusive nature and substantial investigator burden makes it unsuitable for use in free-living conditions. The accuracy of information collected by subjective instruments is influenced by the ability to accurately recall all relevant details retrospectively, and may also be influenced by perception of the study (Corder *et al.* 2008).

Objective methods for assessing physical activity involve the measurement of physiological or biomechanical parameters and use this information to estimate physical activity outcomes (Corder *et al.* 2008). Accelerometry is the most commonly used objective method of physical activity assessment in youth (Corder *et al.* 2007). Accelerometers provide a valuable means of measuring physical activity levels and patterns in free-living populations, offering an objective addition or alternative to diaries or other methods.

An accelerometer quantifies one or more dimensions of movement of the body and data is expressed as "counts" over a period of time (Epoch) ranging from seconds to a minute. In children 5s epochs are recommended given the short duration of their activity bouts. However, in all age populations the epoch length used should ideally be as short as possible because data can always be reintegrated into a longer time frame but not vice versa (Corder *et al*, 2008). Extensive studies using accelerometers have been undertaken previously (Puyau *et al*. 2002; Trost *et al*. 2000), but this literature is limited to children, young adolescents and adults. Uniaxial accelerometers are unobtrusive, fit easily under clothing and are easily manageable across periods of several days. They allow informative group comparisons of physical activity volume, but also offer a means of assessing individual activity profiles (Cooper *et al*. 2000).

There are however, limitations to the use of accelerometers. For example they are unable to detect the type of activity and must be used in combination with physical activity diaries or logs to record the types of activity that have taken place. Accelerometers provide a valid measure for activities such as walking or jogging (Troiano, 2006). But it is well recognised that whilst vertical acceleration of the body can be measured accurately, waist-mounted accelerometers do not reflect the external work performed in such activities as pushing or lifting objects. Neither do they accurately estimate activities such as upper body movement, cycling or stair climbing (Puyau et al. 2002, Troiano, 2006). In addition, the instruments are not waterproof, and must be removed prior to swimming or other water sports. The failure to accurately measure these activities will lead to underestimates of the activity of individuals who regularly participate in such activity (Cooper et al. 2000). Accelerometer data, commonly expressed as "counts" provide an estimate of activity volume, however the categorisation of activity intensity or estimates of energy expenditure rely on further validation studies (Corder et al. 2007). Intensity cut-off points for the CSA accelerometer have been determined in young adults (Freedson et al. 1998). However the prediction equations derived from treadmill protocols under laboratory conditions

may not be representative of free-living conditions. Despite these limitations, accelerometry provides a promising means of physical activity measurement, particularly in the obese whose primary mode of activity is walking. When used in combination with heart rate monitoring (Rennie *et al.* 2006) accelerometry has potential for more accurately measuring activities such as cycling.

### 3. METHODOLOGY

#### Chapter overview

- Introduction
- 3.1 Search and recruitment of potential participants
- 3.2 Overview of the data to be collected
- 3.3 Assessment of dietary intake
- 3.4 Measurement of physical activity
- 3.5 Lifestyle questionnaire
- 3.6 Collection of anthropometric data
- 3.7 Researcher security
- 3.8 Validation
- 3.9 Calculations and statistical analysis

### Introduction

A series of three cross sectional dietary studies were carried out between 1980 and 2000 (Figure 3.1). These studies involved adolescents aged 11-12 years of age (year 7) from seven middle schools located in Northumberland, four in Ashington; one in Newbiggin by the sea; and two in Morpeth. All year 7 pupils were asked by their head teachers if they wished to volunteer to take part. This was followed by a letter to their parents providing details about the study and asking them if they wished to consent to their child taking part. Of the 661 pupils invited to participate, 450 volunteered and 424 completed all aspects of the study (Fletcher *et al*, 2004). In 2005/6, the 424 young people (now aged 16-18 years) who completed all aspects of the 2000 study at 11-12 years of age were invited to take part in this longitudinal follow-up study (Figure 3.1). All activity for tracing and recruitment was undertaken by Alison Hossack as part of her PhD studies and the methods for tracing and recruiting these potential participants are illustrated in Figure 3.3.

This chapter describes the methods used to search and recruit these young people using data from the original study at age 11-12 years (Fletcher, 2003). The chapter will also explain the methods used in the assessment of dietary intake; the measurement of physical activity and lifestyle and the collection of anthropometric data of these young people.

# 3.1. <u>Search and recruitment of potential participants</u>

# 3.1.1. Ethical approval

Due to the nature of the study which did not include intrusive measurements such as blood samples or the collection of sensitive information, did not include NHS patients, NHS personnel or NHS premises this work could not be submitted to COREC for an ethical opinion. The study was approved by Newcastle University Ethics Committee. A letter (Appendix 1) explaining the background, details and protocol of the study was sent to the Director of Education at Northumberland County Council which invited him to comment on any aspect of the study. Consent was given by the Director for schools to be re-contacted and for the study to proceed



Figure 3.1 Background to selection of participants

# 3.1.2. Locating the potential participants

Whilst home addresses were provided by some parents of participants', all aspects of the 2000 study were carried out in the aforementioned Middle schools and none of the participants were contacted at their home address. The process used for tracing these young people in 2005/6 is illustrated in Figure 3.3. A logo (Figure 3.2) was designed specifically for this project and was used in all further correspondence.



Figure 3.2 Northumberland Young Peoples Diet Food Survey logo

# Contacting Middle schools

Each of the seven schools was sent a letter in November 2004 (Figure 3.3), reminding them of the findings of the 2000 study, and introducing the present study. This letter was followed up with a telephone call to the head teacher of each of the seven schools, requesting their assistance to help trace the participants of the 2000 study. All of the schools provided details of which High school the children of the 2000 study may have moved on to after leaving their Middle school.

# **Contacting High Schools**

Based on the information given by the Middle schools, in January 2005, the four main high schools (*King Edward VI School*, Morpeth; *St Benet Biscop Catholic High School*, Bedlington; *Ashington Community High School and Sports College* and *Hirst High School Technology College*, both of which are in Ashington) were sent a letter of introduction (Appendix 2) (see also Figure 3.3). This provided an overview of the previous study carried out in 2000, and indicated that we would be contacting them in the near future with a view to discussing this study further. The letter was followed by telephone calls to the head teachers to arrange a meeting to provide them with further information about the study.

Each of the four high schools was visited by Alison Hossack (PhD student) and Dr Ashley Adamson (Project supervisor) in February 2005. This provided an opportunity to discuss the details of the study with the person who was to be our main contact at the High school.

To enable the schools to assist in our tracing of these young people, who were now potentially in sixth form/year 12, a database detailing names, date of birth, postcode, and previous middle school was emailed to each of the high schools requesting confirmation of the whereabouts of these young people.

All of the High schools agreed to help with the study, and returned the completed database confirming which of the students were currently in sixth form at their school. Details of location are summarised in Table 4.1.

### Contacting School leavers

For the remaining young people who were not at these four High schools, a search was made through "Connexions<sup>\*</sup>, Northumberland" (Figure 3.3). Letters explaining why we were contacting them, along with confirmation of address forms and a post-paid envelope, were sent to respondents by Connexions (n=142). The remaining respondents were contacted via the High schools by staff and students; 2 were deceased.

NB: Connexions Northumberland is a confidential advice and support service for young people aged 13 to 19 years (<u>www.connexions-tw.co.uk</u>).



Figure 3.3 Flow diagram to show the procedure for locating the study participants.

By June 2005, n=90 of the young people who were sent a letter via Connexions had not returned their confirmation of address form. A second letter was sent to these respondents for whom an address was held on file from the 2000 study. In some cases the respondent was confirmed by other participants of the study to be still residing at the previous address. Where the respondent was not *confirmed* to be at the previous address, a letter was sent regardless, with the prospect that some contact may be made. Efforts were made to contact by telephone, the young people who did not respond to these letters. Telephone numbers were obtained where available, from BT enquiries where previous addresses or postcodes were recorded, and from current participants of the study who were able to give telephone details for friends.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup> NB: Connexions Northumberland is a confidential advice and support service for young people aged 13 to 19 years (<u>www. connexions-tw.co.uk</u>)

# 3.1.3. Recruiting the participants

## Participants remaining at High schools

The schools were re-visited in March and April 2005, where a group meeting was arranged to present details of the study and to invite the students to participate.

All of the students who attended the group meeting were given a letter (Appendix 3), which confirmed details of the study and what would be required of them. Also enclosed with the letter was a consent form (Appendix 4). The respondent was invited to return this as confirmation of their desire to participate in the study, or inform us that they did not wish to participate in *this* study. It was signed by the respondent, and a parent or guardian and returned in a post-paid envelope to the research office. In cases were students were absent or had recently left the school, information packs were forwarded to them, either by fellow students or teachers.

By June 2005, less than 25% of respondents had consented to participate in the study. At this stage other methods were introduced in an attempt to increase recruitment.

These included:

- Placing A2 size posters (Appendix 5) in prominent places around the schools (5 in each school).
- Sending follow-up slips (Appendix 6) to the students via the school register.
- Word of mouth.
- Asking other participants to pass on messages to their friends.
- Direct approach in school to students in the relevant year group, asking if they took part in the original survey and if so did they want to take part in this survey;
- Via a sheet, which teachers asked the students to sign to say whether they would like to participate or not. This gave an opportunity for young people to state they did not wish to take part without completing a form. If they did wish

to take part, a telephone number was obtained and a consent form was signed at the first appointment, prior to initiation of data collection.

Where the respondent had left school by this date, telephone numbers were obtained and the respondents were telephoned to establish their intention. Where telephone numbers were not available, follow-up letters were sent via the schools to the respondent's home address.

### Participants who have left school

Young people who were contacted via Connexions and expressed an interest in receiving further information about the study (i.e. returned their confirmation of address form) were sent an envelope containing an information letter, opt in/opt out consent form and post-paid envelope. The consent form was returned to the Human Nutrition Research Centre office at Newcastle University, and an appointment was made using the telephone number given (on the confirmation of address form). If the consent form was not returned within one month, the respondent was contacted again by telephone to establish their intention.

An overview of data relocating and recruiting participants is given in Chapter 4.1.

### 3.2. Overview of data to be collected

This chapter is arranged in the order of how the data was collected and for reference, the process is shown a flow diagram in Figure 3.4.

All participants who had taken part in the 2000 study had been allocated a unique ID, this ID was also used to identify participant data in this follow-up study.

## Assessment of dietary intake

Dietary intake was collected at age 11-12 years in 2000 and at age 16-18 years using the same methods. Data for mean total energy intake, carbohydrate (sugars), fat (saturated fats) were analysed and compared with those of the 2000 study. Details of these methods used are described in Chapter 3.3.

### Measurement of physical activity

A direct measure of physical activity was obtained at age 16-18 years using Actigraph activity monitors. A detailed description of how these data were collected is given in Chapter 3.4.

# <u>Questionnaire - Knowledge and attitudes to: food intake; physical activity; body</u> composition

A 29 item electronic questionnaire was used to record qualitative and quantitative data on the knowledge, perceptions, attitudes and behaviour of these young people at age 16-18 years. The methods used in the development and execution of the questionnaire are discussed in Chapter 3.5.

### Socioeconomic status

Social class was established in 2000 using head of household occupation and classified using two methods: the 'simplified social class' method based on the standard occupational classification (SOC) of 1990 (Office of National Statistics, 1990), and the most recent system SOC2000 (Office of National Statistics, 2000). However, all reported data at age 11-12 years were analysed using the 'simplified social class' method (SOC 1990) and, for continuity, this is the method used in all analyses reported herein. Due to the relatively small sample size, for the purpose of analyses, participants were grouped into 4 social groups 'high' (social classes I & II),'middle' (III), 'low' (IV & V) and 'unclassified' (Fletcher, *et al.* 2004). 'Unclassified' generally refers to participants for whom insufficient information was provided to enable classification.

### Collection of anthropometric data

Height and weight were measured in both 2000 and 2006. In 2006, measurements were extended to include waist and hip circumference and body composition (i.e. percent body fat). The methods used for anthropometric measurement are described in Chapter 3.6.

## 3.2.1. Time one, data collection (T1)

T1 (Figure 3.4) data collection commenced on 25<sup>th</sup> April 2005 and concluded in January 2006.

School participants: To arrange appointments for delivery and collection of the diary and activity monitor and to agree convenient days for completing the diary, participants were telephoned using the number given on the consent forms (see Chapter 3.1.3). To assist in arranging convenient appointment times i.e. during school hours, timetables were obtained from each of the four High schools. Whilst the majority of appointments for school participants were held at the schools, some participants were on study leave, hence the appointment (visits 1 and 2) (Figure 3.4) was held at their home.

*School leavers*: Participants who had left school were contacted in the same way as those still at school, and the appointments (visits 1 and 2) (Figure 3.4) took place at college, their place of work, or home address.



## Figure 3.4 Overview of process of data collection

All appointments (visits 1 and 2) (Figure 3.4) were structured to make the most efficient use of time, for example visiting houses in the same area and holding group meetings at schools (visit 1 only) (Figure 3.4). Dietary data were recorded by participants (Chapter 3.3) for three days and collected on the fourth day (visit 2, Figure 3.4). However, data were not collected on Sundays, and collected on Saturdays only when necessary, from participants who had left school. Therefore, deliveries (visit 1) were not made on Wednesdays and on Tuesdays only to participants who had left school.

### 3.2.2. Time two data collection (T2)

T2 data collection commenced January 2006 and concluded in July 2006. To arrange appointments for T2 (Figure 3.4), respondents were re-contacted by telephone on the number(s) given in T1. Where the respondents had changed their telephone numbers, an alternative number was given by friends of the respondents' or a visit was made to their homes to arrange an appointment (visits 3 and 4).

School participants: As in T1, the majority of appointments (visits 3 and 4) for school participants were held at the schools. However as some participants were on study leave, the appointment was held at their home. A number of respondents who were at school in T1 had left school by T2, thus alternative arrangements were made for appointment, such as in a place of work, at home, at college or at the school by prior arrangement with the school contacts.

School leavers: As in T1, appointments (visits 3 and 4) with these participants took place at college, their place of work, or home address.

### 3.3. Assessment of dietary intake

The same method of dietary assessment was used in both the 2000 study and this follow-up study: Participants were asked to record their dietary intake (Chapter 3.3.3) in two 3-day food diaries with each dietary record being 7 to 9 months apart. At each stage of data collection (T1 and T2) (Figure 3.4) participants were provided with a new A5 size food diary designed for this project (Figure 3.5 and Appendix 7). Immediately after completion of the food diary the participant was interviewed to clarify their diary content and to ascertain portion sizes of foods eaten (Chapter 3.3.4). The three days recorded in each diary were consecutive, but the days of the week were chosen at the convenience of participants and the second diary was completed on different days from the first diary. This method has been used extensively (Hackett *et al.* 1984; Adamson

*et al.* 1992a; Fletcher *et al.* 2004) and the validity of the method and reliability of the data obtained in children have been assessed (Hackett *et al.* 1983, 1985; Adamson *et al.* 1992). This method is discussed in more detail in the following sections.

### 3.3.1. Design of food diary

The food diary (Appendix 7) was compiled, combining the formats used in the 2000 study of 11-12 year olds (Fletcher, et al. 2004) and the 2000 follow-up study of 32-33 year olds (ASH 30 study) (Craigie, et al. 2004 & Lake, et al. 2004b) (Figure 3.1), but also to have an overall appearance which would be appropriate for the age-group to be studied. The front cover of the diaries contained the logo (Figure 3.2), participants ID, diary number (T1 or T2), and space to record the dates during which dietary information was collected. Instruction on how to complete the diary was given on the inside cover and the appointment date of collection was recorded on the first page. Each diary consisted of an example page (Figure 3.5) and eight pages on which to record intakes of food and beverages. Each page included: an area to record the day and date of study, the time at which items were consumed, details of the items consumed in terms of brand name, flavour and (if in a package) the weight on the package, how the item was cooked, the amount consumed, excluding leftovers, and an area was reserved for 'office use' on which the results of the interview (Chapter 3.3.4) were recorded. The inside back cover of the diary was allocated for participants to record recipes. Space on the back cover (Figure 3.7) was provided for participants to comment on what they had eaten during the 3 days e.g. whether they had eaten as they usually would and a table for the interviewer to record participants' anthropometric measurements (Chapter 3.6).

The food diary was subsequently amended to include space for recording activity monitor data (Chapter 3.4). Labels were printed (Figure 3.6) and placed on the bottom of each right hand page of the diary (Figure 3.5).

ood & Drink include: Irand name, flavour and weight Inter each food item on a new line (ellogg's Frosties	Cooking method e.g. fried, grilled, poached, etc.	Amount eaten Excluding leftovers. e.g. cup, slice, teaspoonful, portion of family meal	0.5	Food Photo	Weight	Food	d Cod
(ellogg's Frosties			Office use	Office use	Office use	Offic	e use
		1 bowl full	() ()			2 D	200
Tesco semi-skimmed milk		‡ pint					
ringles - Cheese & Onion		<u></u>					Ħ
Can diet Coke		300 ml	Í				П
Tesco Medium white bread		2 medium slices	h				
Flora margarine		2 tea spoons	de la	l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l			20
slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham		2 slices	SP				
Granny Smith apple		1 medium					T
5paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)	Home recipe	‡ of amount cooked		Han I			
1sda Spaghetti	Boiled	1 bowl full					П
Tap water	-	1 large glass		40		2	
Ribena blackcurrant		‡ pint	Ì.		A.		
Cadbury's hot chocolate with water	Boiled	1 mug		1	Alla		
NcVities Jaffa cakes	1 des	4 biscuits			82		Π
						8 - 6C	266
				i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
	ingles - Cheer S on Min an diet Coke esco Medium white bread 'ora margarine slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham ranny Smith apple paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section) sda Spaghetti ap water ibena blackcurrant adbury's hot chocolate with water IcVities Jaffa cakes	In diet Coke an diet Coke asco Medium white bread asco	Inglies - Checker & Onlon <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke          300 ml          esco Medium white bread          2 medium slices          'ora margarine          2 tea spoons          slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham          2 slices          ranny Smith apple          1 medium          paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)          Home recipe $\frac{1}{2}$ of amount cooked $\frac{1}{2}$ bowl full         ap water          abarter          1 lorge glass          ibena blackcurrant $\frac{1}{2}$ pint          adbury's hot chocolate with water          Boiled         1 mug          lcVities Jaffa cakes          4 biscuits	Inglies - Checker & Onloh <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke          300 ml          esco Medium white bread          2 medium slices          'ora margarine          2 tea spoons          slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham          2 slices          ranny Smith apple          1 medium          paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)          Home recipe <sup>‡</sup> of amount cooked          sda Spaghetti         ap water           1 lorge glass          ibena blackcurrant <sup>‡</sup> pint          adbury's hot chocolate with water          Boiled          uctities Jaffa cakes          4 biscuits	Ingles - Checker & Onloh <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke          300 ml          esco Medium white bread          2 medium slices          ora margarine          2 tea spoons          slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham          2 slices          ranny Smith apple          1 medium          paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)          Home recipe <sup>‡</sup> of amount cooked          sda Spaghetti           Boiled <sup>‡</sup> bowl full          ap water          1 large glass          ibena blackcurrant <sup>‡</sup> pint          adbury's hot chocolate with water          Boiled         1 mug          IcVities Jaffa cakes          4 biscuits	Ingles - Checker & Onion <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke <sup>300</sup> ml          esco Medium white bread <sup>2</sup> medium slices          fora margarine <sup>2</sup> tea spoons          slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham <sup>2</sup> slices          ranny Smith apple          I medium          paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)          Home recipe <sup>‡</sup> of amount cooked          sda Spaghetti         ap water           I large glass          ibena blackcurrant <sup>‡</sup> pint          adbury's hot chocolate with water          Boiled          uctities Jaffa cakes           4 biscuits	Ingles Chaese & Omon <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke <sup>‡</sup> 200g tube          an diet Coke <sup>300</sup> ml          esco Medium white bread <sup>2</sup> medium slices          lora margarine <sup>2</sup> tea spoons          slices Bernard Matthews Turkey ham <sup>2</sup> slices          ranny Smith apple <sup>1</sup> medium          paghetti Bolognese - (see recipe section)          Home recipe <sup>‡</sup> of amount cooked          sda Spaghetti         ap water <sup>1</sup> lorge glass          ibena blackcurrant <sup>‡</sup> pint          adbury's hot chocolate with water <sup>Boiled</sup> Image <sup>1</sup> mug          IcVities Jaffa cakes <sup>1</sup> biscuits

Figure 3.5 Example page of food diary

Time wearing vol	ur actigraph.			
Time on: 8am	Time on: 2. 15p	<i>m</i> Time on:	Time on:	
Time off: 1pm	Time off: 10pm	Time off:	Time off:	
Reason: swim	Reason: Bed	Reason:	Reason:	
Figure 3.6 Examp	le of activity data	label		

		Food Diary	/: Any Comr	nemes?	
Have yo	ou any comm	nents about	what you ha	ve eaten di	uring the 3
days?	-		-		-
ο νου	think that vo	ou have eate	en as vou wo	uld usually	do?
	annin anat ye			and doudiny	
\ <b>4</b> /a					
	annnaaicta			a in tillian	
we	appreciate	; your time	and effort	s in filling	out such a
we	appreciate	your time detailed d	and ettort liary. Than	s in filling k you.	out such a
we	appreciate	: your time detailed d	and effort liary. Than	s in filling k you.	out such a
we	appreciate	: your time detailed d	and ettort liary. Than	s in filling k you.	out such a
vve	<b>appreciate</b> ce use	: your time detailed d	and ettort liary. Than	s in filling k you.	out such a
Tor offic	appreciate	e your time detailed d	and effort liary. Than	s in filling k you.	out such a
For offic	appreciate	your time detailed d	and effort liary. Than Ws(cm)	k you.	W/H
For offic	appreciate	e your time detailed d Ht(cm)	and effort liary. Than Ws (cm)	k you.	W/H
For offic	appreciate	time detailed d	Ws (cm)	k you.	W/H
For offic	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	k you.	W/H
For offic	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	k you.	W/H
For offic	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	Hp (cm)	W/H
For offic	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	Hp (cm)	W/H
For office 1 2 3 Av.	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	Hp (cm)	W/H
For offic 1 2 3 Av. 37 Marcl	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	Hp (cm)	W/H
For offic	appreciate	Ht(cm)	Ws (cm)	Hp (cm)	W/H

Figure 3.7 Back cover of food diary

## 3.3.2. Piloting of the food diary

Piloting of the diary was kept to a minimum as it was adapted from two validated methods used in previous studies (Fletcher *et al.* 2004; Craigie, *et al.* 2004; Lake, *et al.* 2004b). Therefore the primary purpose was training and testing data collection protocols by the author. A number (n=10) of people (HNRC staff and families including subjects in the age-group to be studied) were asked to complete a food diary for a period of three days and to report any feedback e.g. in terms of clarity of both verbal and written instructions.

## 3.3.3. Delivery and instruction of food diary – visits 1 and 3

Where possible - for example at schools – appointments (vists1 and 3) were made in groups for delivery and instruction in use of the diaries and activity monitors (Chapter 3.4). After confirming that the days of recording their information remained convenient, the date and time arranged for collection and interview were written on the first page of the diary (Chapter 3.3.1) and participants were presented with their diaries.

Participants were advised that the procedure was similar to when they were in middle school and that there was an instruction page on the inside cover of the diary to refresh their memory. They were asked to record the time at which items were consumed and with as much detail as possible (Chapter 3.3.1) *all foods* they had eaten over the 3-days including drinks, snacks and alcohol (Figure 3.5). To improve accuracy of nutritional data, participants were asked to record details of any home cooked recipes at the back of the diary (Chapter 3.3.1) and to retain packaging of foods such as ready meals, for which a university branded plastic carrier bag was supplied. Data were not collected for nutrient supplements (e.g. vitamins, mineral and fish oils) as these do not contribute to total daily energy intake of participants. Participants were however asked to record supplements such as protein drinks, that would contribute to their daily energy intake.

### 3.3.4. Interview (visits 2 and 4)

On the day following, or at the most two days (to minimise memory lapse) after completion of the food diary, each participant was interviewed about their diary content (visits 2 and 4). Interviews took place on an individual basis and where appointments were held at schools/college or workplace a private room was made available. The interview was used to ensure all foods eaten over the 3 days had been recorded, and to clarify the data recorded in the diary such as legibility, type of foods, e.g. "Biscuit – chocolate or plain?" time of intake and portion size. Portion sizes were estimated using a photographic food atlas (Nelson, et al. 1997) and recorded in the appropriate column in the diary (Figure 3.5). Each page of the food atlas contained eight coded photographs of foods of known weights. Participants were presented with the atlas at the beginning of the interview. They were then asked to identify the portion size of a particular food that was representative of that consumed by the participant at the given time point in their food diary. Weights of the food in the photograph are located in a separate manual that accompanies the atlas, and also in electronic format on a specifically designed database (Chapter 3.3.5). In addition to Nelson, et al. (1997) food portion size atlas, food packaging was used to further clarify item weights.

### 3.3.5. Processing the dietary information

A purpose-built Microsoft Access database was created for the 2000 study and amended for this 2006 study. The database contained participant personal data (ID, and date of birth), food composition tables (Chapter 3.3.4), and forms on which to enter participant dietary data (Chapter 3.3.3).

## Classification of eating events

Participants were asked to record the time each food was eaten (Chapter 3.3.3); all foods eaten at one time was referred to as an 'intake'. Each intake was then categorised as either a snack or meal (Fletcher, 2003). "*An' intake', also referred to as 'an eating event', is defined as foods eaten all at one time and that consisted of a few* 

code items e.g. 'cornflakes with milk, toast and butter, and a cup of tea' is one intake; 'ham sandwich, crisps and orange squash' would be a second intake. An 'item' is defined as foods eaten within an intake e.g. 'cornflakes with milk' is one item; 'toast and butter' is a second item; and a 'cup of tea with milk' is a third item, all consumed within one intake". Criteria for defining each eating event as a meal (Fletcher, 2003) were: i) a number of items eaten together, taken over a 15 minute period; ii) Foods making a major contribution(>25%) to that day's energy intake; iii) Foods eaten at recognised mealtimes; or iv) consisting of at least three items. To be classified as a meal an intake had to meet at least 3 of these criteria. All other intakes were defined as snacks, that is, for example a single item consumed (such as an apple); making a less than 25% contribution to days energy intake (such as crisps); eaten outside of meal times as defined for each individual, (for example apple and crisps eaten by an individual at 10.30am where a clear 'breakfast' and 'midday meal' are recorded).

### Portion size

From the interview process, participants identified, using the food photographs (Nelson *et al.* 1997), appropriate portion sizes for foods they had consumed (Chapter 3.3.4). The estimated weight of the food, obtained using the separate manual or database (Chapter 3.3.5) which accompanies the photographic food atlas, was recorded in the food diary (Figure 3.5). Standard portion weights were allocated to foods such as eggs, that were not listed in the photographic food atlas, using reference text "Food Portion Sizes" (MAFF, 1999). Various websites, including Tesco.co.uk, Sainsbury's.com, ASDA.com and McDonalds.co.uk, were used to obtain portion size data on items such as confectionery, alcoholic beverages and new products that were not listed in the Food Portion Sizes book (MAFF, 1999).

## **Coding**

All foods were coded using the most recent food composition data for each food from McCance & Widdowson's Composition of foods 6<sup>th</sup> edition (Food Standards Agency, 2002) and supplements - computerised (Chapter 3.3.5) and text editions: Cereals and cereal products (Holland *et al.* 1988) Milk products and eggs (Holland *et al.* 1989) Vegetables, herbs and spices (Holland *et al.* 1991) Fruit and nuts (Holland *et al.* 1992a) Vegetable dishes (Holland *et al.* 1992b) Fish and fish products (Holland *et al.* 1993) Miscellaneous foods (Chan *et al.* 1994) Meat, poultry and game (Chan *et al.* 1995) Meat products and dishes (Chan *et al.* 1996)

A Microsoft Excel spreadsheet was created of all foods that had a brand name and could be given more than one food code according to their nutritional composition (e.g. Flora). This allowed standardisation of coding i.e. only checking once for comparable nutrition data and using one single code for that product throughout. Where a food did not have an exact match for a specific code, where possible a close alternative was allocated. Where dishes where made up of several components, each component was allocated the relevant food code from the database and the weights were calculated as a proportion of the total product weight. The list of ingredients was obtained either from recipes (Chapter 3.3.3) or from manufacturer's data. In some cases where manufacturer's data were unavailable, foods were dissected and each component was weighed separately for example a 'Greggs sausage and bean melt'.

A record was made of all foods that did not have an appropriate food code listed in the database. These foods were then checked against a 'food-coding wheel' which was created using data from other studies previously conducted in the Human Nutrition

Research Centre. If it was not possible to identify comparable data for these foods, new codes (from a consecutive list (i.e. 21000 series) compiled by other studies at the Human Nutrition Research Centre) and nutrient fields were created in the database, based on manufacturer information. Since nutritional data for alcoholic beverages known as 'alcopops' were unavailable from the manufacturers, information from the website <u>http://www.nutracheck.co.uk</u> was used to create food codes with nutritional data for these products. This website provided total energy values only, so data from McCance and Widdowson 6<sup>th</sup> edition (Food Standards Agency, 2002) were used to calculate energy values from each macronutrient.

### Data entry and cleaning

Once all the food diaries were coded, all dietary data were entered into the database and a process of 'cleaning' was carried out. This was to highlight any unusual entries such as high values that could be checked against the food diaries and amended if necessary. Some simple checks built into the database ensured errors during entry were minimised. For example food codes were limited to a maximum of five digits. Initially data were verified by means of double entry. Food codes and weights of foods were entered manually into the participant's diaries and then clarified when entered into the database. These data were then checked using a sample of the data (26%). Data from the first 50 participants were used to form part of an undergraduate dissertation in 2005. The student entered the data for these participants as outlined above and the data were re-entered by the researcher (Alison Hossack). The next step was to check the database as a whole. Methods included sorting the food codes used by frequency to detect any unusual codes or foods with two codes for the same nutritional data. Frequency of food codes used was sorted by weight to search for any unusually high or low weights for particular foods and amended if necessary. Nutritional analysis was then carried out as described in Chapter 3.9.

# 3.4. Measurement of physical activity

As with dietary intake (Chapter 2.4), measurement of habitual physical activity is notoriously difficult and published literature of reliable methods of measurement in this age group is scarce. Extensive studies using accelerometers have been undertaken previously (Chapter 2.6), but this literature is limited to children, young adolescents and adults. The decision making process and adoption of accelerometers in this study are discussed in the following sections.

## 3.4.1. Decision about activity measurement

To explore the application of accelerometers in greater detail, a visit was made to the laboratories of Prof. John Reilly (Glasgow) who has considerable experience in studies of activity in children. Information was provided to assist in the type of monitors available for purchase, their application and an indication of the most appropriate methods (literature) of study of adolescents. Fifteen activity monitors were loaned by the team in Glasgow, and a further fifteen monitors were purchased from "Actigraph<sup>™</sup>". This purchase included belts, calibrator, data-reader and computer software for all 30 monitors.

### 3.4.2. Piloting of measurement of physical activity

The Actigraph<sup>™</sup> activity monitors were piloted by several volunteers from the HNRC office. Volunteers were asked to wear the monitors for one week during waking hours (see protocol: Appendix 8) and data were downloaded using the Actigraph<sup>™</sup> software. To assess the reliability of data, volunteers were interviewed with their data file and asked to verify their level of activity, i.e. were the data recorded an accurate representation of the volunteers' actual level of activity.

### 3.4.3. Practical aspects of accelerometry

Prior to use, each monitor was initialised to create a unique data file for each participant using the Actigraph<sup>™</sup> software programme (refer to protocol (Appendix 8).
In the pilot study each monitor was set to 15 second intervals (referred to as 'epochs') as outlined in Chapter 2.6. However, as indicated by the large sections of '0' counts, it was apparent that young people of this age were far less active than children or younger adolescents. Therefore in the main study each monitor was set to 1 minute epochs (Chapter 2.6). The date and start time was when an appointment was made to meet with the participant to present them with the monitor. 'Participant ID' was the unique identification number (Chapter 3.2) required for allocating individual data files. The Actigraph<sup>™</sup> software programme was used to stop the monitor recording and to download the data to the individual data files.

### 3.4.4. Delivery and instruction of accelerometers

Accelerometers were delivered at the same time as each food diary (Visits 1 and 3). Participants were asked to wear the monitor on the left hip underneath clothing, during waking hours from delivery until collection. They were asked to record in the space provided on the food diary, the time period when the monitor was worn, if it was removed the reason why it was removed, e.g. to shower or go to bed. Recording was for a period of 3 days to coincide with dietary data collection (Figure 3.6). Interviews took place on the fourth day to coincide with food diary interviews (Chapter 3.3.4). Participants were asked about their activity over the 3 days e.g. was the monitor worn during sporting activity or for which activity the monitor was removed.

#### 3.4.5. Processing of activity data

Activity data were downloaded automatically into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet using an Actigraph<sup>™</sup> software programme (Chapter 3.4.3). The automated data included the recording time of the monitor i.e. time and date the monitor commenced and the time and date it was stopped (Chapter 3.4.3), and activity data expressed in counts per minute. As outlined in Chapter 3.4.3 the monitors were set to record data from delivery at visits 1/3 to collection at visits 2/4 which in most cases generated data for more than 3d at each phase. These data were then copied into a separate Microsoft Excel file for

55

manipulation. Data (activity counts per minute, start time and date of monitor, and stop time and date of monitor) were defined in the first instance into the three days of data (i.e. those of the dietary data) i.e. data outside the three days recording period (Chapter 3.4.4) were omitted from the file. Data from each of period of collection (T1 and T2) were then combined into one file and each day of data was transposed into a separate worksheet (6 worksheets within one file). A macro file was created to calculate each day's data in terms of hours of recorded data, total minutes of data in each hour, total minutes of data in each day, and mean counts per minute per day. The time spent by participants undertaking light, moderate, hard and very hard activity was calculated by assigning thresholds as defined by Freedson *et al.* (1998). These data were copied to a summary file of activity data of all participants and used in the final analysis.

#### 3.5. Lifestyle questionnaire

A questionnaire was developed to identify lifestyle choices such as smoking and physical activity which may influence diet and health.

#### 3.5.1. Research and Development

The questionnaire was based on previous questionnaires used in a similar study by Lake *et al.* (2004a) and Craigie *et al.* (2004). It consisted of 29 qualitative and quantitative questions (Appendix 9) and was produced in electronic format using Microsoft Word to allow participants to complete on the interviewer's laptop. The questionnaire was divided into five sections presented in the following order: 'About you'; About you and your health; 'About your food choice'; 'About changes in food choice'; and 'About you and your body image'.

'About you' collected information about the participant including: ethnicity, living circumstances, e.g. alone or with parents or partner, whether they were at school or working, and the occupation of the main earner in their place of residence.

'About you and your health' asked questions about lifestyle from a health perspective, such as whether the participant was a current or past smoker - defined by smoking more than one cigarette on a regular basis (daily or occasionally); their attitude to physical activity, reported levels of physical activity and their perception of their own health.

'About your food choice' investigated participants' food consumption patterns to identify possible influences on choice e.g. where/when/ how often and by whom food was purchased. Influences were further investigated by exploring participants' knowledge of, and attitude to, eating healthily.

'About changes in food choice' sought to identify participants' perceptions of change in their dietary intake since they were 11-12 years old, and what they thought might have influenced these changes.

The final section of the questionnaire, 'About you and your body image' explored how participants perceived themselves in terms of shape and size, and their attitude to a healthy body weight. The complete questionnaire is presented in Appendix 9.

# 3.5.2. Pilot

The pilot questionnaire was emailed to twelve 17 year old high school students from Chester le Street, Co Durham. They were asked to complete the questionnaire and to comment on each question e.g. in terms of understanding. The questionnaire was amended, where appropriate, to incorporate these comments

#### 3.5.3. Delivery and instruction

Participants were presented with the 29 item questionnaire at the end of the second food diary interview (T2, visit 4) (Figure 3.4). Participants were given the laptop to complete the questionnaire and were asked to answer each of the 29 questions honestly. It was explained to them that there were no right or wrong answers and the questions were to provide the researcher with an idea of what might influence food choice in their age group (16-18 years).

57

# 3.5.4. Data processing of Questionnaire

A unique questionnaire file was created for each participant on the researcher's laptop, using the participant ID (Chapter 3.2). The answers provided by the participant were recorded directly in a Word document. These data were then coded for analyses using Microsoft Excel. The results of these data are discussed in Chapter 4.

#### 3.5.5. Socioeconomic status

Social class of participants was established in 2000 (Fletcher *et al.* 2004). Occupations of both parents/guardians (where applicable) were classified, and the highest was taken to be the social classification of the participant. These were classified using the 'Simplified Social Class' based on Standard Occupational Classification 1990 (SOC90) (Office of National Statistics, 1990) to allow direct comparisons with the earlier studies in this cross sectional series (Figure 3.1). However, the most recent system SOC2000 (Office of National Statistics, 2000) was also used to allow social comparisons to be made in future studies, such as this follow-up study. Due to a small sample size, for the purpose of analyses, participants were grouped into social groups 'high' (social classes I & II), 'middle' (III), 'low' (IV & V) and 'unclassified' (see Chapter 3.2) (Fletcher *et al.* 2004).

# 3.6. <u>Collection of Anthropometric data</u>

Anthropometric measurements were taken at the end of the study after completion of the questionnaire (T2, visit 4) (Figure 3.4). Height and weight were measured in 2000 and 2006. In 2006, waist and hip circumferences and percent body fat were also measured. Measurement of height and of waist and hip circumference were made in triplicate and the mean of the three measurements was calculated. Bioimpedance analysis (BIA) was used to measure participant weight, BMI, and percent body fat. All measurements were recorded on the back cover of the participants' second (T2) food diary (Figure 3.7). The procedures and devices used for these measurements are

described in the following sections. Prior to anthropometric measurement participants were asked to remove their shoes, socks and any outdoor clothing to a single layer (e.g. shirt and trousers), and all Items that would increase the natural weight of the participant such as belts with heavy buckles, mobile telephones, loose change, and wallets.

## 3.6.1. Height

The height of each participant was measured to the nearest 0.1cm using a portable Soehnle electronic vertical stadiometer. Participants were asked to stand upright with their feet together, knees straight, arms by their side, palms facing inwards and with their head positioned so that the 'Frankfurt plane' was horizontal (indicated by a built-in spirit level on the device).

# 3.6.2. Waist and hip circumferences

To measure waist circumference, participants were asked to stand with their arms by their side, weight distributed evenly between both legs, breathing normally with their abdomen relaxed. They were then asked to locate their waist by placing their thumb on their lowest rib and at the same time placing their forefinger on the iliac crest. A tape measure was then placed between the thumb and forefinger horizontally around the waist and measurement to the nearest mm was recorded upon expiration. Hip circumference was measured with participants remaining in the same stance and any items removed from hip pockets. Without indenting the skin, the tape measure was distributed horizontally around the hips over the buttocks at the point of maximum circumference and readings taken to the nearest mm at the side.

## 3.6.3. Waist : hip circumference ratio (WHR)

Waist and hip circumferences were recorded in the database and WHR was calculated:

WHR = <u>Mean waist circumference</u> Mean hip circumference

# 3.6.4. Percent body fat

Percentage body fat was measured using a Tanita bio-impedance machine as described in the protocol (Appendix 10). The height of the participant, as recorded previously (Chapter 3.6.1) and the age of the participant were entered into the memory of the machine. Participants were asked whether they thought they were athletic, i.e. took part in more than 10 hours of intense physical activity per week (Appendix 10). Their response was then entered into the machine as '*standard Male/Female* 'or '*athletic Male/Female*)'. A printed record of the data (Figure 3.8) which included weight, body mass index (BMI), and percentage body fat, was removed from the machine and attached to the back page of the participant's second food diary (Figure 3.7).

		_
BODY	TANITA COMPOSITI NALYZER	ON
BODY TYPE GENDER AGE HEIGHT WEIGHT BMI BMR IMPEDANCE FAT% FAT MASS FFM	187-300 S1	ANDARD FEMALE 18 cm 75.6kg 25.9 kJ 25.9 kJ 25.9 kJ 25.9 kJ 25.9 kg 249.7kg
TBW		36. 4kg

Figure 3.8 Printout of body composition data

# 3.6.5. Reward for Participation

A voucher to the value of £10 was given on the final interview day to all participants who completed all aspects of the study. That is, they completed two food diaries, had

recorded<sup>1</sup> wearing an activity monitor for the same period, completed the questionnaire and had anthropometric measurements taken<sup>2</sup>.

Participants who completed all aspects of the study as above, were entered into a draw to win 1 of 5 prizes up to the value of £150. Winners were selected at random by colleagues from the HNRC office. The prizes, which were 'ipod Nano' audio devices, were purchased and delivered to the 5 participants in December 2006.

# 3.7. <u>Researcher security</u>

Whilst many of the appointments were held at schools, some appointments were at other addresses including participants' homes (Chapter 3.2.1). All appointments were attended by the author alone and therefore it was necessary to have security procedures in place. These included a form which was left with a colleague at the research office or with a member of the researcher's family if after hours. The form included the time of the appointment, the time the appointment was expected to finish, where the appointment was to take place (full address if not at school), and the telephone numbers of the participant and researcher (mobile). The researcher then telephoned the contact person upon arrival and departure from the appointment.

#### 3.8. <u>Validation</u>

To assess the extent to which study findings may be applied outside the research setting two methods of validation were used. The first was to assess how representative (gender, social class, anthropometry and energy intake) the study sample was of the original 2000 sample from which they were derived (Fletcher,*et al.* 2004). The second assessed how representative (anthropometric, nutrient intake and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In some cases when activity monitor data was downloaded it did not correspond with reported data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Exceptions occurred (see Chapter 3.6.4).

lifestyle) the study sample was of the national UK population (Gregory *et al.* 2000). Data from the present study sample (at age 16-18 years) were compared to the findings of the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) (Gregory *et al.* 2000) which is a comprehensive cross-sectional survey of the dietary habits and nutritional status of the population in Great Britain (Chapter 2.3). For comparison, the survey used the weighed intake methodology for dietary assessment and information about physical activity was obtained from a physical activity diary. Anthropometric measurements were taken by trained observers. BMI was calculated and divided into age-sex specific quintiles for analyses. Information on lifestyle behaviour such as smoking was obtained from a questionnaire and interview.

The statistical analysis used in this validation is discussed in Chapter 3.9.

#### 3.8.1. Dietary data

Validation of dietary recording in this study was by comparing recorded energy intake with estimated energy needs based on predicted BMR (Schofield *et al.* 1985b) (Chapter 5).

#### 3.8.2. Physical activity data

Volunteers from the pilot study were shown their data file and asked to verify their levels of activity i.e. were the data recorded an accurate representation of the volunteers' actual level of activity. Further validation of the activity data in this study was by comparing measured activity levels with self reported physical activity. Self reported physical activity was recorded on an electronic questionnaire (Chapter 3.5).

#### 3.8.3. Anthropometric data

A Tanita<sup>™</sup> bio-impedance machine was calibrated as new at the beginning of the project and verified at the end of the study using weights from 2kg to 100kg, when accuracy was confirmed and further calibration was not required.

# 3.9. <u>Calculations and statistical analysis</u>

#### 3.9.1. Dietary analysis

A Microsoft Access database was developed for the 2000 study and was adapted for this follow-up study (Chapter3.3.5). Analysis was limited to those participants with 6 complete days of dietary data.

#### 3.9.2. Test for normality

Many of the analyses used in this thesis are based on the assumption that the data are normally distributed. The distribution of each nutrient was tested using normal probability plots (Q-Q). Observed plots that did not closely follow the normal expected plots were considered to be non-parametric and were transformed to achieve normal distributions. In some cases, alternative non-parametric tests were used, for example Kruskal Wallis tests and Spearman Rank correlations which do not make assumptions about the distribution of the data.

#### 3.9.3. Data description and group comparisons

All data analyses were carried out using SPSS version 15 for Windows; Minitab 14 and STATA version 9. Data were described according to their means and either 95% confidence intervals or standard deviation of the mean (standard error). Comparisons between groups, such as between males and females, were carried out using independent-samples t-tests. Between groups (>2) analysis was tested using the Kruskal-Wallis test which compares the mean rank of a continuous variable (e.g. BMI) in each group (e.g. social group). Comparisons with set values, such as between the BMI of the sample and a national study were carried out using one-sample t-tests. Changes between 11-12 years and 16-18 years were carried out using paired t-tests. All differences were considered significant if p-values were <0.05.

#### 3.9.4. Tracking analyses

The tracking of nutrient intake or anthropometry between 11-12 years and 16-18 years was assessed primarily by Pearson correlation analyses, the extent of the tracking being based on both the significance and magnitude of the correlation coefficient. In addition, by dividing the sample into quartiles according to their values at age 11-12 years the values at age 16-18 years could also be compared and the extent to which quartile at age 11-12 years was a predictor for the value at age 16-18 years was assessed by regression analyses. The Kappa (k) test were applied to these data to test the magnitude of tracking By chance alone 25% of participants in each quartile would be expected to maintain their position, the Kappa test removes the chance element of this occurrence and a k value reveals the strength of agreement (Altman, 1991)

# 3.9.5. Modelling the prediction of adiposity in young adulthood

General linear modelling (GLM) was used to build models that would predict body size in late adolescence (age 16-18 years) (Chapter 8). GLM can be seen as an extension of multiple linear regression for a single variable, the difference being that GLM can additionally test for categorical predictors. Its purpose is to quantify the relationship between several independent variables, or predictors (e.g. BMI, nutrient intake at age 11-12 years, and nutrient intake at age 16-18 years) and a dependent variable (e.g. BMI at age 16-18 years). This allows for the possibility that more than one predictor may influence the dependent variable and that the overall prediction of BMI at age 16-18 years for example, is improved by taking more than one predictor into account.

The procedure assumes that the data are from a random sample, from a normal population (Chapter 3.9.2) and that all variances are the same. The number of factors tested is limited by the sample size since the higher the number of factors tested, the greater the likelihood of the null hypothesis that there is no association between the factors being rejected when it is in fact true. For example, a sample of 200 would allow

a maximum of 10 factors to be tested using a *p*-value of 0.05 as the cut-off. In the present study, the models were built using a step-wise approach and interactions assessed with gender only. The result was a regression equation that make up those factors, which, used together, could be used to statistically significantly predict body size (BMI, % body fat, WC, WHR) at age 16-18 years.

The variables tested as predictors are discussed in Chapter 8 and the remainder of this section outlines the procedure used to build each model:

The first step was to test each variable independently, i.e. as 'one-variable' models. An example of a one-variable model is BMI at age 11-12 years which in this case had a *p*-value of 0.001 and therefore was found to be significantly predictive of BMI at age 16-18 years. The  $R^2$  value for the model was 0.503 indicating that 51% of the variation in BMI at age 16-18 years was explained by BMI at age 11-12 years. All one variable models were tested in the same way and are shown in (Appendix 11). The next step was to add, one at a time, each of the other variables into the most significant one-variable model, which in this case was BMI at age 11-12 years. The variable found to significantly contribute to the model and increase the  $R^2$  value by more than 1% (that is >0.01) was added to the model to form a two-variable model. In this case the two-variable model containing BMI at age 11-12 years and smoking status at age 16-18 years was significantly predictive of BMI at age 16-18 years as evidenced by the significant *p*-value (0.001) and  $R^2$  0.517.

The procedure was then repeated by adding each variable in turn to the most significant two-variable model to form three-variable models. This process continued until no variables added were found to be significant when added to the models. The most predictive model was the model with the largest  $R^2$  value when all variables included were significant. The resulting regression equation could then be derived (Chapter 8) and an example of the output for the model is given in Figure 3.9 and

Figure 3.10. These illustrate the intercept, coefficients (ß) for each predictor and the

standard errors of each.

Dependent Variable: LogBMI17						
	Type III Sum					Partial Eta
Source	of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Squared
Corrected Model	2.556 <sup>a</sup>	8	.320	28.414	.000	.554
Intercept	.442	1	.442	39.342	.000	.177
Employment status	.117	4	.029	2.595	.038	.054
Smoking status	.109	3	.036	3.223	.024	.050
logBMI11	2.071	1	2.071	184.177	.000	.502
Error	2.058	183	.011			
Total	1850.748	192				
Corrected Total	4.615	191				

#### **Tests of Between-Subjects Effects**

a. R Squared = .554 (Adjusted R Squared = .534)

# Figure 3.9 SPSS output testing employment status (age 16-18), smoking status (age 16-18) and Log BMI at age 11-12 years as predictors of BMI at age 16-18 years.

#### **Parameter Estimates**

Dependent Variable: LogBMI17							
					95% Confidence Interval		
Parameter	В	Std. Error	t	Sig.	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
Intercept	.916	.162	5.667	.000	.597	1.234	
Unemployed	.056	.043	1.293	.198	029	.141	
Work Part time	.063	.051	1.249	.213	037	.163	
Work full time	.068	.026	2.597	.010	.016	.119	
College	.047	.022	2.129	.035	.003	.090	
6th Form college	0 <sup>a</sup>						
Smoke daily	.026	.024	1.071	.285	022	.075	
Smoke occassionally	.088	.030	2.911	.004	.028	.148	
Used to smoke	.032	.040	.796	.427	047	.111	
Never smoked	0 <sup>a</sup>						
logBMI11	.720	.053	13.571	.000	.615	.825	

a. This parameter is set to zero because it is redundant.

Figure 3.10 SPSS output of the regression equation for the prediction of BMI at age 16-18 years from employment status (age 16-18) smoking status (age 16-18) and BMI at age 11-12 years.

#### 4. PARTICIPANT RECRUITMENT AND CHARACTERISTICS

#### Chapter overview

- Introduction
- 4.1 Location and degree of consent
- 4.2 The study participants
  - 4.2.1 Demographic characteristics
  - 4.2.2 Anthropometric measurements
  - o 4.2.3 Lifestyle Characteristics
- 4.3 Association between nutrient intake and adiposity
- 4.4 Association between physical activity and adiposity
- 4.5 Association between nutrient intake and physical activity
- 4.6 Discussion

#### Introduction

Adolescence, especially middle to late adolescence, is an important period of transition in a person's life as this is a period of rapid growth and development (Chapter 2.2). It is a time when there is inevitably a relatively high demand for energy and nutrients to sustain this rapid growth (Webb, 2002). It is also a time of increased independence and adolescents spend more time away from home as a result of social, school, and community activities and jobs (Wills, 2005). Subsequently, increasingly busier lifestyle is among the most important factors influencing adolescent food choice i.e. the amount of time an adolescent "*has or wants to spend on food*" (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

The aims of this Chapter are: to describe these young people at age 16-18 years including their education/employment, place of residence and living arrangements, providing a snapshot of young people of this age (16-18 years); and to identify some of the demographic characteristics (social group and employment status) and lifestyle behaviours (diet (including alcohol), physical activity and smoking) associated with adiposity in this study population.

In the first instance this Chapter describes the results of tracing (locating and recruiting) these young people to take part in this follow-up study at age 16-18 years. From this point forward, the 424 individuals who took part in the original study in 2000 when aged 11-12 years (Chapter 3.1) are referred to as *'respondents'* and the individuals who took part in this follow-up study are referred to as *'participants'* from this point forward.

#### 4.1. Location and degree of consent

Information was obtained from the 7 middle schools (Chapter 3) regarding which High school respondents had moved on to. It was apparent that there were four *main* High schools (Table 4.1), all of which are in Northumberland, namely *King Edward VI School*, Morpeth, *St Benet Biscop Catholic High School*, Bedlington, *Ashington Community High School and Sports College* and *Hirst High School Technology College*, both of which were in Ashington. A breakdown of the number of respondents were located to these high schools and 2 respondents had died (213). The remaining young people who were not at these four high schools (n=211) were sought via "Connexions, Northumberland<sup>1</sup>" (Chapter 3) or via staff and students at the high schools.

Connexions had contact addresses for 142 (67%) of these 211 respondents, of whom 58 did not respond and were sought via other sources as described (Chapter 3.1.2). Thus with the assistance of Connexions, school staff and students, an additional 134 respondents were traced to other schools, colleges or place of work. Of the original cohort (n=424) 77 respondents (18%) remained untraced for the duration of this follow-up study (Table 4.1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NB: Connexions Northumberland is a confidential advice and support service for young people aged 13 to 19 years (<u>www.connexions-tw.co.uk</u>)

Location	Respondents	Consent	Completed study (n)	Dropped out T2 (n)	Non- consent	No response
King Edward VI School	116	84	79	5	30	2
Ashington High School	25	18	16	2	5	2
Hirst High School	46	36	29	7	7	3
St Benet Biscop RC High School	24	13	13	0	10	1
Other School/College/Work	134	73	56	17	32	29
Untraced	77	-	-	-	-	-
Deceased	2	-	-	-	-	-
Total	424	224	<b>193</b> <sup>2</sup>	31	84	37

#### Table 4.1 Location and recruitment of respondents

Of the respondents (n=345; 81% of original cohort) who were contacted, 84 did not consent to take part and 37 did not respond (Table 4.1). The total number of respondents from whom consent was received was n=224 (52%), of whom n=31 were lost to follow-up at T2. A total of n=193 (45% of original cohort) participants completed all aspects<sup>3</sup> of this follow-up study. It is important to note, that this figure (193) includes one female who suffered from scoliosis, an impairment of the spine affecting the height and this participant was omitted from all anthropometric analyses. The remaining figure of 192 included two female participants who were pregnant and provided self-report weight & BMI (from doctor); a further two female participants had a plaster cast on one of their legs which precluded bio-impedance analysis. However height and weight of these two participants were measured, taking into account the weight of the plaster cast, and BMI was calculated (weight (kg) / height (m<sup>2</sup>))(Chapter 3.6). These four

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Completed all aspects of the study: dietary data; physical activity data; anthropometric data and questionnaire (Chapter 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Completed all aspects of the study: dietary data; physical activity data; anthropometric data and questionnaire (Chapter 3).

participants have been accounted for in anthropometric analyses which is reflected in the tabulated data (Table 4.4).

On the whole reasons for non-participation in this follow-up study or for 'dropping out' at T2 were not obtained, however, where asked, the general response was 'they were too busy' or 'not interested'. One person is known to have moved out of the country after the initial study in 2000 and three participants were reported to be away in the army during this follow-up study period. On the whole, the other people who were untraced remained so as they did not respond to the methods adopted for tracing them (Chapter 3.1)

# Summary of Chapter 4.1

- 81% of the original cohort were contacted, 11% of which did not respond
- 50% of the original participants of the 2000 cohort were traced to four high schools in Northumberland: *King Edward VI School*, Morpeth, *St Benet Biscop Catholic High School*, Bedlington and *Ashington Community High School and Sports College* and *Hirst High School Technology College*, both of which were in Ashington. 65% of these participants completed all aspects of the study.
- Of the remaining 50%, 26% completed all aspects of the study, 2 participants were deceased and 36% were untraced.
- Consent was received from 52% of the original cohort to take part in this follow-up study.
- 45% of the original cohort completed all aspects of this follow-up study.

# 4.2. <u>The study participants</u>

This section describes the demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle characteristics of participants at age 16-18 years. For reference, how these data compare with that of the original study are discussed in Chapter 5.

The mean age of participants at T2 (visit 4 (Figure 3.4)) was 17.6 years. All but two (1 White & Black African and 1 Indian) of the participants were classified as White British. None of the participants lived alone and the majority lived at home with parent(s)/guardian(s) (95%), or grandparent(s) (3%); only 2% (n=3) of participants had moved out and lived with a partner; one participant had a child (not living with participant) and two were pregnant during the data collection period. In this follow-up study there were more female participants (65%) than male participants (35%) subsequently all analyses were stratified by gender.

#### 4.2.1. Demographic characteristics

Social class was established in 2000 using head of household occupation. All reported data at age 11-12 years were analysed using the 'simplified social class' method (SOC 1990) (Office of National Statistics, 1990), and, for continuity, this is the method used in all analyses reported herein. Due to the relatively small sample size, for the purpose of analyses, participants were grouped into 4 social groups 'high' (social classes I & II), 'middle' (III), 'low' (IV & V) and 'unclassified' (Fletcher, *et al.* 2004) (Chapter 3.2).

There were high proportions of participants from the 'high' (56%) and 'middle' (25%) social groups compared with those of the low and unclassified social group (12% & 6%). In all social groups the proportions of male and female participants were similar (Table 4.2).

Social group	Males (%)	Females (%)	Total (%)
n=	67	126	193
High (I & II)	39 (58)	69 (55)	108 (56)
Middle (III)	17 (25)	32 (25)	49 (25)
Low (IV & V)	9 (13)	15 (12)	24 (12)
Unclassified (VI)	2 (3)	10 (8)	12 (6)

#### Table 4.2 Social group of participants (based on parental occupation in 2000)

In terms of primary occupation of participants, most participants (83% (73% male; 89% female)) remained in education at age 16-18 years (some participants also worked part-time whilst at college). Females were more likely than males to be in full time college education (6% male; 23% female). Males were more likely than females to be working full time (19% male; 6% female) or be unemployed (8% male; 2% female) and only females (4%) reported working part time as their primary occupation (Table 4.3).

Employment status (primary occupation)	Male (%)	Female (%)	Total (%)
n=	67	126	193
School Sixth Form	45 (67)	83 (66)	128 (66)
College	4 (6)	29 (23)	33 (17)
Working full time	13 (19)	7 (6)	20 (10)
Working part time	0	5 (4)	5 (3)
Unemployed	5 (8)	2 (2)	7 (4)

#### Table 4.3 Employment characteristics of participants

#### 4.2.2. Anthropometric measurements

Anthropometric measurements of participants, that is weight, height, body mass index (BMI), percent body fat (BIA), waist circumference, hip circumference and waist to hip ratio (WHR) are presented in Table 4.4. All anthropometric measurements were found to be non-parametrically distributed and were subsequently log<sub>e</sub> transformed to create normally distributed datasets before analyses. The means shown are the log<sub>e</sub> means back transformed into the original unit means (geometric means).

As stated in Chapter 4.1 one participant suffered from scoliosis, an impairment of the spine affecting the height and this participant was omitted from all anthropometric analyses. Therefore the number of female participants for whom height, weight and BMI was recorded is 125 (Table 4.4). Two participants were pregnant at the time of measurement and did not have anthropometric measurements taken; however their height, weight were self-reported and therefore included in the analyses. A further two female participants had a plaster cast on one of their legs which precluded bio-impedance analysis. However height and weight were measured, taking into account the weight of the plaster cast, and BMI was calculated (weight (kg) / height (m<sup>2</sup>)). Thus BIA data is recorded for 121 female participants and 123 female participants for waist circumference, hip circumference and WHR (Table 4.4).

On average, male participants were taller and heavier than female participants (Table 4.4). Adiposity at age 16-18 years was assessed using BMI (weight (kg)/height (m<sup>2</sup>)), bio-impedance analysis (BIA), waist circumference, waist to hip ratio (WHR) (Table 4.4). The mean BMI of all participants was 22.3 (22.1 females; 22.4 males). As expected (Chapter 2.2.1), females had a greater mean percentage of body fat (24%) than males (12%) (Table 4.4). Figure 4.1 illustrates the distinct gender difference and significant correlations (r=0.86 males; r=0.91 females; both p<0.01) between BMI at age 16-18 years and measured percent body fat (BIA) at age16-18 years.

A Kruskal Wallis test revealed little effect of social group on BMI and % body fat in females (p=0.89, p=0.76 respectively). However, males in the higher social group had a lower mean BMI (p<0.05) (Chapter 6) and lower mean % body fat (p<0.05).

To analyse the anthropometric data from a health perspective, participants were classified as 'normal', 'overweight' or 'obese' using age and sex specific cut-offs<sup>4</sup> for BMI as described by Cole *et al.* (2000); and as 'normal', 'overfat' or 'obese' according to % body fat (BIA) as defined by (McCarthy, Cole *et al.* 2006). Using BMI as an indicator of overall body fatness, Table 4.5 shows that the prevalence of overweight or obese in this sample was 24% (20% females; 31% males). This compares with 16% (19% females; 12% males) overfat or obese when BIA is the method of assessment (Table 4.6).

Further assessment (Table 4.4) of the distribution of body fat revealed that, as would be expected (Chapter 2), on average females had a lower mean waist circumference (76cm) compared to that of males (82cm). Similarly the mean waist to hip ratio of females (0.77) was smaller than that of males (0.83). Figure 4.2 illustrates that around 80% of both males and females who were in the highest quartile for BMI at age 16-18 years were also in the highest quartile for waist circumference at age 16-18 years. Applying estimates of risk factors for cardiovascular disease and diabetes from abdominal fatness in adults (Lean *et al.* 1995) females were at greatest risk (data not illustrated). 23% of females in the third quartile were at increased risk (WC≥80cm), compared with 6% of males (WC ≥94cm) in the same quartile. In the highest quartile of BMI, 45% of females compared with 41% of males were at increased risk according to their WC (≥80cm & ≥94cm respectively). In the same quartile none of the males were identified as being at high risk (>102cm) compared with 42% of females (>88cm).

age 17.5 years = 24.73 (Male); 24.85 (Female) age 17.5 years = 29.70 (Male); 29.80 (Female)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity

Characteriotia	Male Fe				Fema	ale
Characteristic	No. Mean		Range	No.	Mean	Range
Height (m)	67	1.78	1.62 - 1.95	125	1.63	1.32 - 1.79
Weight (kg)	67	70.9	46.8 – 108	125	59.0	35.9 – 100
BMI (kg/m2)	67	22.4	16.2 - 30.0	125	22.1	16.4 - 36.9
% Body fat	67	12.1	1.30 - 24.7	121	24.2	4.50 - 43.3
Waist circumference (WC) (cm)	67	81.8	70 0- 100	123	75.5	62.0 – 110
Hip Circumference (HC) (cm)	67	98.9	89 0- 115	123	98.3	84.0 – 122
Waist to hip ratio (WHR)	67	0.83	0.74 - 0.95	123	0.77	0.66 - 0.92

#### Table 4.4 Anthropometric characteristics of participants

#### Table 4.5 Prevalence of overweight and obese assessed using BMI<sup>5</sup> of participants at age 16-18 years

Ē	BMI classification at age 16-18 years					
Gender	No.	Normal (%)	Overweight (%)	Obese (%)		
Male	67	46 (69)	20 (30)	1 (1)		
Female	121*	97 (80)	19 (15)	5 (5)		
All participants	188	143 (76)	39 (20)	6 (4)		

\* Females n=121 as complete BMI and BIA data unavailable for 4 females (Chapter 4.2.2)

Table 4.6 Prevalence of 'overfat' and 'obese' as assessed using percent body fat <sup>6</sup>of participants at age 16-18 years

	% body fat classification at age 16-18 years					
Gender	No.	Normal (%)	Overfat (%)	Obese (%)		
Male	67	59 (88)	6 (9)	2 (3)		
Female	121*	98 (81)	6 (5)	17 (14)		
All participants	188	157 (84)	12 (6)	19 (10)		

\* Females n=121 as complete BMI and BIA data unavailable for 4 females (Chapter 4.2.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity <sup>6</sup> Body fat reference curves;

age 17.5 years = 24.73 (Male); 24.85 (Female) age 17.5 years = 29.70 (Male); 29.80 (Female)

Overfat age 17years 20.1% (male) 30.4% (female); age 18years 20.1% (male) 30.8% (female) Obese age 17years 23.9% (male) 34.4% (female); age 18years 23.6% (male) 34.8% (female)

#### 5. REPRESENTATIVENESS OF THE DATA

#### Chapter overview

- Introduction
- 5.1 Characteristics of respondents at age 11-12 years to determine how representative this follow-up sample were of the original 2000 cohort
  - o 5.1.1 Gender
  - o 5.1.2 Social group
  - o 5.1.3 Anthropometry
  - o 5.1.4 Nutrient intake
- 5.2 Comparisons between characteristics of this follow-up study sample and a national study of young people aged 15 to 18 years
  - o 5.2.1 Lifestyle and demographics
  - o 5.2.2 Anthropometry
  - o 5.2.3 Energy and macronutrient intake
- 5.3 Validity of the dietary data
- 5.4 Discussion

#### Introduction

In any epidemiological study, it is important to understand the potential transferability of the data and so the findings derived. In the context of the population from which the study sample are drawn, how representative are the data and do the findings reflect the behaviours of a select group, that is young people in a particular area of North East of England, or can these findings be generalised to a wider UK population of the same age.

When choosing a method for collecting food intake data (Chapter 2.4) in adolescents the principal aim was to collect intake data which were representative of *usual* or *habitual* intake (Torun *et al.* 1996; Nelson, 2000b). Two main factors are important to consider when comparing dietary assessment methods: validity (or accuracy) and reliability (Chapter 2.4).

The aims of this Chapter are:

- To identify how representative the data of the present study were of the original study sample in 2000. The characteristics (gender, social class, anthropometric measurement and dietary intake) of respondents (follow-up participants and non-participants) at age 11-12 years were compared with the whole 2000 sample (Chapter 5.1);
- To determine the extent to which the findings of this study may be applied to the wider population by comparing the data of present study participants (age 16-18 years) with data from the most recent UK study of young people i.e. the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) of 4-18 year olds (Gregory *et al.* 2000) (Chapter 5.2) and;
- 3. To assess the likely validity of measured intake and to identify possible under and over-reported dietary data, thereby establishing how representative the collected data were of usual or habitual behaviour.

# 5.1. <u>Characteristics of respondents at age 11-12 years to determine how</u> representative this follow-up sample were of the original 2000 cohort.

The characteristics of respondents (follow-up participants and non-participants) at age 11-12 years compared with the whole 2000 sample are illustrated in Table 5.1 to Table 5.5. The variables considered are gender, social class, anthropometric measurement and dietary intake.

# 5.1.1. Gender

In the 2000 study there were fewer males (46%) than females (54%). This was also the case in this follow-up study however the difference was greater with the sample consisting of 35% males and 65% females (Table 5.1) suggesting that participation was influenced by gender. For this reason all analyses have been stratified by gender.

	Participants n (%)	Non-participants n (%)	Total 2000 study sample n (%)
Male	67 (35)	128 (55)	195 (46)
Female	126 (65)	103 (45)	229 (54)

Table 5.1 Distribution of participants in the original study and at follow-up by gender

# 5.1.2. Social Group

Comparisons between participants and non-participants in terms of social group are based on the social classification of participants in 2000 (Chapter 3.5.5). Occupations of both parents/guardians (where applicable) were classified, and the highest was taken to be the social classification of the participant. These were classified using the two methods: the 'simplified social class' method based on the standard occupational classification (SOC) of 1990 (Office of National Statistics, 1990) and the most recent system SOC2000 (Office of National Statistics, 2000). However all reported data at age 11-12 years were analysed using the 'simplified social class' method (SOC 1990) and is therefore the method used in all analyses reported herein. For the purpose of analyses, participants were grouped into social groups 'high' (social classes I & II), 'middle' (III), 'low' (IV & V) and 'unclassified' (VI, VII & VIII) (Chapter 3.2) (Fletcher *et al.* 2004).

A Chi-Square test was used to compare the social distribution of participants at followup with non-participants. There were significant differences between participants and non-participants in both males (p<0.05) and females (p<0.01). The greatest proportion of participants in 2000 were from the high social group at age 11-12 years (47%) (49% males, 45% females) and the same observation is evident in this follow up study (56%) (58% males, 55% females) (Table 5.2). The proportion of participants from the middle social group was similar in 2000 (28%) and 2006 (25%). There was a slight increase (+1%) in the proportion of males from the low social group whilst the proportion of females from the same group decreased (-4%). Both males (90%) and females (62%) from the unclassified social groups were less likely to take part in this follow-up study (Table 5.2). These findings suggest that whilst the proportion of participants from the unclassified social group were clearly not representative of the original study in 2000, on the whole the social group distribution of participants were broadly representative of the original cohort.

	2000 study participants % (n)			2006 study participants % (n)		
Social group	Male (n=195)	Female (n=229)	Total at age 11-12 years (n=424)	Male (n=67)	Female (n=125)	Total at age 16-18 years (n=193)
High (I, II)	49 (96)	45 (104)	47 (200)	58 (39)	55 (69)	56 (108)
Middle (III)	28 (55)	27 (62)	28 (117)	25 (17)	25 (32)	25 (49)
Low (IV, V)	12 (23)	16 (37)	14 (60)	13 (9)	12 (15)	12 (24)
Unclassified (VI, VII, III)	11 (21)	11 (26)	11 (47)	3 (2)	8 (10)	6 (12)

Table 5.2 Social group distribution of study participants at follow-up (2006) compare
with social group distribution of study participants in 2000.

# 5.1.3. Anthropometry

Anthropometric measurements analysed in this chapter include weight, height, and BMI at 11-12 years of age (Table 5.2). Weight and BMI were not normally distributed and data sets were log transformed to return the distribution to normality. The geometric (back-transformed) means of all measurements between participants and non-participants are compared. Independent samples t-tests revealed there were no significant differences between participants and non-participants in height (p = 0.91males, p = 0.71 females), weight (p = 0.61 males, p = 0.12 females) or BMI (p = 0.54males; p = 0.08 females) for males and females. However female non-participants were on average 2.3kg heavier than female participants when aged 11-12 years.

	Male (mean)			Female (mean)			
	Participant	Non- <i>p</i> -value		Participant	Non- participant	<i>p</i> -value	
Height (m)	1.51	1.51	0.91	1.52	1.53	0.71	
Weight (kg)	45.8	45.2	0.61	45.6	47.9	0.12	
BMI (kg/m²)	19.8	19.6	0.54	19.6	20.5	0.08	

Table 5. 3 Cor	nparison of	anthropometrie	c measureme	ents at age 1	1-12 years	between
participants a	nd non-part	cipants in this	follow-up stu	udy.		

Using International Obesity Task Force BMI cut-offs<sup>*f*</sup> (Cole *et al.* 2000) participants were classified as normal, overweight or obese at age 11-12 years. Of the 193 subjects who took part in this follow-up study, 29% (28% males, 29% females) were overweight or obese at age 11-12 years. This compares with 30 % (27% males; 32% females) of the 424 subjects in the original cohort (Table 5.4) and therefore participants in this follow-up study are highly representative of the original cohort. Nevertheless participants who were obese at age 11-12 years (n=29) were less likely to take part in this follow-up study (n=22). Chi-square tests revealed there was a significant (*p*<0.05) difference between BMI (category) of female participants and non-participants but not between male participants and non-participants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity

age 11.5 years = 20.89 (Male); 21.20 (Female) age 11.5 years = 25.58 (Male); 26.05 (Female) age 17.5 years = 24.73 (Male); 24.85 (Female) age 17.5 years = 29.70 (Male); 29.80 (Female)

BMI category <i>f</i> at age 11- 12 years		Normal % (n)	Overweight % (n)	Obese % (n)
	Male (n=195)	72 (141)	20 (39)	7 (15)
All sample (n=424)	Female (n=229)	67 (155)	26 (60)	6 (14)
Desticipante (n. 402)	Male (n=67)	72 (48)	22 (15)	6 (4)
Participants (n=192)	Female (n=125)	71 (89)*	27 (34)*	2 (3)*
Non porticipanto (n. 224)	Male (n=128)	73 (93)	19 (24)	9 (11)
non-participants (n=231)	Female (n=103)	64 (66)*	25 (26)*	11 (11)*

Table 5.4 Comparison of BMI category at age 11-12 years between participants and non-participants in this follow-up study.

\*Significant difference between BMI (category) of female participants (p<0.05)

# 5.1.4. Nutrient intake

Nutrient intakes of participants and non-participants are compared in Table 5.5. Alcohol was consumed by some participants at age 11-12 years, but the number (n=11) and amounts were so small it was not considered further in this analysis. There were no significant differences between participants and non-participants for either males or females (both p > 0.05) in respect of total energy intake or contributions made by the major macronutrients to energy intake at age 11-12 years. Thus, in terms of reported energy and macronutrient intake (%EI) at age 11-12 years the follow-up sample was highly representative of the original study sample.

	Male			Female			
	Participants (n=67)	Non- participants (n=128)	<i>P</i> value	Participants (n=125)	Non- participants (n=103)	<i>P</i> value	
Total EI (MJ/day)	8.4	8.5	0.79	7.7	7.5	0.40	
Fat (% energy)	34.2	34.5	0.60	35.2	35.3	0.79	
CHO (% energy)	52.6	52.6	0.91	52.6	52.4	0.62	
Protein (% energy)	12.7	12.6	0.73	12.0	12.1	0.74	

# Table 5.5 Comparisons in nutrient data at age 11-12 years between participants and non-participants at follow-up

# Summary of Chapter 5.1

- Males were less likely than females to participate in the follow-up study.
- Female participants from the lower social groups were less likely to take part in this follow-up study.
- Female non-participants were on average 2.3kg heavier than female participants but there was no difference in BMI.
- The percentage of all participants in this follow-up study who were overweight or obese at age 11-12 years (29%) was representative of the original cohort (30%). However both male (ns) and female (*p*<0.05) participants who were obese at age 11-12 years were less likely to take part in this follow-up study.</li>
- Mean intakes of energy and macronutrients (%EI) at age 11-12 years of participants of this follow-up study were not significantly different from those of the original cohort.

# 5.2. <u>Comparisons between characteristics of this follow-up study sample and</u> <u>a national study of young people aged 15 to 18 years</u>

The previous section illustrates how representative this sample was of the original cohort. To establish how representative this study of young people was of the wider UK population, characteristics (lifestyle, anthropometric and nutrient intake) of study participants were compared with data from the most recent UK study (conducted in 1997) of young people i.e. the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) of 4 to18 year olds (2000) (Gregory *et al.* 2000). Mean values for each of the variables were compared with the mean values of the sub sample (age 15 to 18 years) NDNS data using one sample t-tests.

# 5.2.1. Lifestyle and demographics

Whilst social group in both the present study and in the NDNS were derived from parental occupation, comparisons were not possible due to the different methods of classification. For example, the standard occupational classification (SOC) of 1990 (Office of National Statistics, 1990) was used in the present study whereas the NDNS study were classified using a previous system (Registrar General, 1980).

Table 5.6 summarises the main educational status of participants of the present study compared with subjects in the NDNS study.

In both studies, full time education was the most common status during the period of data collection. However a higher proportion of the present study (83%) was in full time education compared with 75% of the NDNS. In the present study, males (19%) were more likely than females (10%) to be working, whilst there was little difference between sexes in the NDNS sample (21% males; 20% females). Fewer females in the present study (12%) had left full time education than females in the NDNS (25%).

Location	Sixth Form/college		Work		Other*	
	Present study participants (%)	NDNS (%)	Present study participants (%)	NDNS (%)	Present study participants (%)	NDNS (%)
Male	72	75	19	21	8	4
Female	89	74	10	20	2	5

Table 5.6 Educational/employment	t status of pres	sent study partic	ipants compared	with
those in the NDNS study.				

\*Unemployed or economically inactive

The proportion of participants (34%) in the present study who reported that they had ever smoked was much less than the 15 to 18 year olds of the NDNS study (69%). In the present study, 22% of females and 16% of males (20% total sample) reported that they were current smokers (Chapter 4.2.3), compared with 35% of females and 31% of males in the NDNS study.

# 5.2.2. Anthropometry

Descriptive data are presented in Table 5.7 by study, and by gender. For all measurements there were no significant differences between male participants in the present study and males that participated in the NDNS survey (Gregory *et al.* 2000). In contrast female participants in the present study had a higher waist circumference (2.4cm; p<0.05) and subsequent higher waist to hip ratio (0.02; p<0.001) than those in the NDNS study.

				Difference (study participants – NDNS)		
		Study participants (mean)	NDNS (mean)	Mean difference	CI Low	CI Upper
Height (cm)	Male	178	177	0.01	-0.01	0.03
	Female	164	164	0.00	-0.02	0.01
Weight (kg)	Male	72.0	71.0	1.00	-2.02	4.01
Weight (Kg)	Female	60.0	61.0	-1.12	-3.26	1.02
$BMI (ka/m^2)$	Male	22.4	22.5	-0.19	-0.64	1.03
Divir (kg/iii )	Female	22.4	23.0	-0.61	-1.28	0.05
Waist	Male	82.2	82.0	0.18	-1.84	2.20
(cm)	Female	76.4	74.0	2.40*	0.59	4.18
Hip Circumference	Male	99.0	99.5	-0.44	-1.95	1.07
(cm)	Female	98.5	99.5	-1.02	-2.41	0.37
Waist his ratio	Male	0.83	0.83	0.00	-0.02	0.01
vvaist hip ratio	Female	0.77	0.75	0.02**	0.01	0.03

Table 5.7 Anth	hropometric measurements	of participants co	ompared with the	e subgroup
age 15 to 18 y	ears olds of the National Di	et and Nutrition S	Survey	

\*p<0.05, \*\*P<0.001

Using International Obesity Task Force BMI cut-offs<sup>*f*</sup> (Cole *et al.* 2000) the prevalence of overweight and obesity in this present study was compared (Table 5.8) with the prevalence in those aged 15-17 years in the NDNS study (Jebb *et al.* 2004). In both studies, the prevalence of overweight, or overweight and obese was higher in males than in females. The prevalence of overweight or overweight and obese was very similar in both studies (15% and 15%; 20% and 20% respectively) for females. However for males there was a higher prevalence of overweight and/or obesity in the

<sup>f</sup> International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity International BMI cut offs for overweight International BMI cut offs for obesity age 11.5 years = 20.89 (Male); 21.20 (Female) age 11.5 years = 25.58 (Male); 26.05 (Female)

age 11.5 years = 25.58 (Male); 26.05 (Female) age 17.5 years = 24.73 (Male); 24.85 (Female)

age 17.5 years = 29.70 (Male); 29.80 (Female)

present study (30% overweight; 31% overweight and obese) compared with the NDNS study (20% overweight; 24% overweight and obese).

	Overwe	eight	Overweight/Obese		
	Study participants % (n)	Study NDNS participants % (n)		NDNS % (n)	
Males	30 (20)	20 (32)	31 (21)	24 (39)	
Females	15 (19)	15 (25)	20 (25)	20 (33)	

# Table 5.8 Prevalence of overweight or overweight/obese among participants in the present study and in the NDNS study.

#### 5.2.3. Energy and macronutrient intake

Table 5.9 provides a summary of the mean energy and macronutrient intakes of participants in this study and those in the NDNS study (Gregory *et al.* 2000). Protein intakes were not normally distributed for all modes of expression (%EI, g/d, g/kg/d) and carbohydrate intake (g/d) was also not normally distributed. A log transformation was applied to return these data to normality and the geometric means are compared.

Food energy intakes were higher in males than females in both studies. Energy intakes were significantly higher for both sexes (p<0.001) in the present study by 2.9MJ/d for males and by 2.6MJ/d females. Whilst % energy derived from carbohydrate was significantly (p<0.001) higher in the NDNS study (5.2% points, males; 1.9% points, females), absolute intake (g/d) of carbohydrate was significantly higher in the present study (p<0.001) for both males (36.6g/d) and females (57.9g/d). There was a similar finding for intakes of fat. When expressed as percentage of total energy intake, fat intakes were significantly higher (p<0.05 males; p<0.001 females) in the NDNS study and when expressed as g/d, intakes were lower in the NDNS study (p<0.001). Protein intake by male participants of the present study was significantly higher when expressed as both percent energy (%EI) and g/d (p<0.05 and p<0.001 respectively). As with the other macronutrients, female intakes of protein (g/d) were higher (p<0.001)

in the present study whilst percent energy from protein (%EI) was higher, though not significantly so, in NDNS females.

A higher percentage (68%) of participants (60% males; 72% females) in the present study reported consuming alcohol during the recording period compared with 43% (45% males; 41% females) in the NDNS study. When intakes of 'consumers only' were compared as % energy from alcohol, there was no significant difference between the present study and the NDNS study. However, when intakes were expressed as g/d, once again intakes were significantly higher in the present study than in the NDNS study for both males and females (p<0.001).

			Difference (Study participants - NDNS)			
		Present study participants (mean)	NDNS (mean)	Mean Difference	Lower Cl	Upper CI
Enorgy (MI) (day	Male	12.5	9.60	2.90**	2.10	3.60
Energy (MJ) /day	Female	9.40	6.80	2.60**	2.10	3.10
Average daily total carbohydrate intake (g)	Male	338	301	36.6**	25.2	75.1
	Female	272	214	57.9**	55.1	86.8
Carbohydrate	Male	45.3	49.3	-4.00**	-7.10	-3.30
(% energy)	Female	48.7	49.7	-1.00**	-2.90	-0.80
Average daily total	Male	113	89.0	23.7**	15.5	31.9
fat intake (g)	Female	83.8	64.0	19.8**	14.2	25.3
Fat (% energy)	Male	33.6	35.1	-1.50*	-3.80	-0.90
r at (// chorgy)	Female	32.7	35.2	-2.50**	-4.40	-2.10
Average daily	Male	105	76.5	28.2**	22.8	49.9
protein intake (g)	Female	68.4	54.8	13.6**	13.1	20.9
Protein	Male	14.7	13.6	1.10*	0.20	2.30
(% energy)	Female	12.9	13.6	-0.70	-1.20	0.04
Average daily	Male	26.7	6.80	19.9**	10.6	29.2
(total sample)	Female	17.9	3.40	14.5**	10.3	18.6
Average daily	Male	44.1	15.6	28.5**	0.50	2.40
alcohol intake (g) (consumers only)	Female	24.5	9.30	15.2**	1.00	2.40
Alcohol (% energy)	Male	3.50	1.90	1.60*	15.6	41.3
(total sample)	Female	3.10	1.40	1.70**	10.2	20.3
Alcohol (% energy)	Male	5.80	4.50	1.30	-0.20	2.80
(consumers only)	Female	4.30	3.80	0.50	-0.30	1.30
*p<0.05, **P<0.001						

Table 5.9 Energy and macronutrient intake of present study participants compared with those of the 15 - 18 year old subjects in the NDNS study

# Summary of Chapter 5.2

- In terms of adiposity both males and females of the present study were representative of the national population in terms of their average BMI, but the prevalence of overweight or obese males was higher in the present study. Waist circumference and waist to hip ratio of female present study participants were significantly (*p*<0.05 and *p*<0.001 respectively) higher than in the NDNS study.</li>
- Nutrient intake was not representative of the national population when compared with the NDNS data for this age group (Gregory *et al.* 2000). Energy intake (MJ/d), carbohydrate, fat and protein intake (g/d) were significantly (*p*<0.001) higher in the present study participants. %EI derived from carbohydrate and fat were lower in present study participants, probably explained by the higher %EI derived from protein and alcohol. Prevalence of alcohol consumption was greater in the present study with 68% (60% males, 72% females) compared with 43% (45% males, 41% females) in the NDNS study. Mean alcohol consumed (g/d) was significantly (*p*<0.001) higher in present study participants.</p>
- Both males and females of the present study were less likely to be current smokers than in the NDNS data collected 9 years previously.
- In terms of primary education/employment males in the present study were representative of the NDNS. Females however were less likely than those of the NDNS to have left full time education at this age.

# 5.3. Validity of the dietary data

When choosing a method for collecting food intake data in children and adolescents the principal aim was to collect intake data which were representative of *usual* or *habitual* intake (Torun *et al.* 1996; Nelson, 2000b). However error in measurement of dietary intake has been widely recognised. Under-reporting of dietary intake is a common source of error in epidemiological studies (Nelson, 2000b). The aim of this section is to assess the likely validity of measured intake and to identify possible under and over-reported dietary data. The latter were identified as individuals whose reported energy intake was below that required for basal metabolic rate (BMR) plus the likely level of energy expenditure necessary to carry out daily activities (Livingstone *et al.*1990).

Energy needs are determined largely by BMR with additional requirements for energy expenditure from physical activity, and in the case of children, additional requirements for growth. In the absence of direct measures, BMR can be estimated using the age and sex appropriate equations of Schofield *et al.* (1985b). A person whose energy intake equals their energy expenditure is said to be in 'energy balance'. Assuming energy balance, estimates of energy requirements could be based on measurements of either energy intake or energy expenditure. Measurements of energy intake are less reliable than direct measurements of energy expenditure and validation studies have demonstrated that a bias in dietary reporting is highly probable (Torun *et al.* 1996). For this reason, estimates of energy requirements can be expressed as a multiple of BMR (Torun *et al.* 1996). This is a factor referred to as the *physical activity level* (PAL) and is calculated as the ratio of measured total energy expenditure (TEE) to BMR.

Torun *et al.* (1996) defined lower and upper cut-off points as 1.39 and 2.24 x BMR for males and 1.30 and 2.10 x BMR for females as reasonable estimates of energy requirements of children and adolescents aged 6 to 18 years.
To identify participants in the present study who have reported EIs that may not have reflected *usua*l or *habitual* intakes at age 11-12 years and 16-18 years, reported energy intake was expressed as a ratio of estimated BMR<sup>1</sup>. A ratio of 1.0 indicates that a person has reported consuming the minimum energy requirement for the body to function at rest. If usual or habitual dietary intake is reported it would be expected that EI would be broadly equivalent to energy expenditure (EE), assuming energy balance. Therefore the dietary intake of the participants in the present study was validated by applying the age and sex specific cut-off points defined by Torun *et al.* (1996) to intake data at ages 11-12 years and 16-18 years (Figure 5.1).

Table 5.10 shows the mean reported energy intakes (EI) of participants at age 11-12 years and 16-18 years, together with the mean estimated BMRs<sup>1</sup> (Schofield *et al* 1985b) and calculated total energy intake (EI) to BMR ratio (EI:BMR) for males and females separately. At age 11-12 years reported average energy consumption (1.39 x BMR males; 1.30 x BMR females) was equivalent to the cut-off point for 'low energy reporting' defined by Torun *et al.* (1996). At age 16-18 years this had increased to 1.65 x BMR in males and 1.60 x BMR in females, indicating that at this age, as a group the reported EI's were likely to reflect the usual intake of participants.

	11-12 y	ears old	16-18 years old		
	Males	Females	Males	Females	
Energy intake (MJ/day)	8.38	7.70	12.48	9.40	
BMR <sup>1</sup> (MJ/day)	6.13	5.98	7.66	6.12	
EI:BMR	1.39	1.30	1.65	1.60	

Table 5.10 Mean energy intake (EI); estimated basal metabolic rate (BMR) and EI:BMR of participants at age 11-12 and 16-18 years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Formula for the prediction of BMR (Schofield *et al.*, 1985)

Males age 10 to 17 years =  $0.074 \text{ (wt)}^* + 2.754$ 

Females age 10 to 17 years =  $0.056 \text{ (wt)}^* + 3.434$ 

Males age 18 to 29 years = 0.063 (wt)\* +2.896 Females age 18 to 29 years = 0.062 (wt)\* + 2.036



Figure 5.1 Ratio of Energy intake to Basal Metabolic Rate. Illustration of participants reporting energy intakes above and below EI:BMR cut-offs as defined by Torun *et al.*(1996) (<1.39 >2.24xBMR males; <1.30 >2.10xBMR females) at age 16-18 years.

Females were more likely than males to be low energy reporters, at age 11-12 years 59% of females were identified as low energy reporters compared with 52% of males (Table 5.11). Although a decrease (37% total sample) in the prevalence of suspected low reporting was observed as participants matured, females (42%) continued to be more likely than males (26%) to report low energy intakes unlikely to reflect usual intakes (Table 5.11, Figure 5.1). Pearson correlation analysis revealed a significant positive association between EI:BMR at age 11-12 years and at 16-18 years (R=0.44, p<0.01) indicating that those who reported higher EI at age 11-12 years continued to do so at age 16-18 years (Not illustrated). Figure 5.2 shows that the level of persistent low-reporting (that is individuals who reported lower than anticipated EI at both age 11-12 years and 16-18 years) was substantial and was also more common in females (34%) than males (18%). 'Over'-reporting was not evident in participants at age 11-12

years (Table 5.11), but at age 16-18 years a significant minority of participants (13% males; 12% females) reported intakes above the upper cut-offs defined by Torun *et al.* (1996) (>2.24 x BMR males; >2.10 x BMR females) (Table 5.11and Figure 5.1).

ages 11-12 years	ayes 11-12 years and 10-10 years.								
	% participants a	t 11-12 years old	% participants at 16-18 years old						
	Males	Males	Males	Males					
	<1.39 x BMR	>2.24 x BMR	<1.39 x BMR	>2.24 x BMR					
	Females	Females	Females	Females					
	<1.30 x BMR	>2.10 x BMR	<1.30 x BMR	>2.10 x BMR					
Total sample	57	0	37	13					
Males	52	0	26	13					
Females	59	0	42	12					

Table 5.11 Prevalence of evidence of reporting bias (Torun *et al.*1996) in participants at ages 11-12 years and 16-18 years.



Figure 5.2 Percentage of participants reporting low energy intakes (<1.39 x BMR males; <1.30 x BMR females) at age 11-12 years, age 16-18 years and at both time points.

The Kruskal-Wallace test was used to identify any social disparity in energy reporting, and revealed little effect of social group on EI:BMR ratio at age 11-12 years (p=0.94 males; p=0.70 females) or at age 16-18 years (p=0.12 males; p=0.57 females) (Not illustrated).

There were significant negative associations between BMI and EI:BMR ratios at age 11-12 years (R=-0.49 males; R=-0.52 females, both p<0.01) and at age 16-18 years (R=-0.28, p<0.05 males; R=-0.41 females, both p<0.01) (Figure 5.3 and Figure 5.4). A stronger relationship was observed at age 11-12 years than at age 16-18 years, suggesting that reporting of dietary intake was affected more by BMI at age 11-12 years than at age 16-18 years.

The influence of weight status on the reporting of energy intake was explored further by estimating the prevalence of low-energy and high-energy reporting among normal weight and overweight or obese participants. Table 5.12 reveals that at age 11-12 years nearly twice as many overweight/obese participants (85%) reported low energy intakes compared with normal weight participants (45%). Whilst this difference had decreased at age 16-18 years the prevalence of low energy reporting remained higher in overweight/ obese participants (50%) than among those of normal weight (33%). At 16-18 years of age the influence of weight status on low EI:BMR was more evident in female overweight/obese participants (60%) than in overweight/obese male participants (38%) (Table 5.12). Of the participants (12% of females (n=15) and 13% of males (n=9)) who reported intakes above the cut-offs defined by Torun *et al.* (1996) (Table 5.11), all of the females and seven of the males exhibited normal BMI and two males were classified as overweight.



Figure 5.3 Influence of BMI (kg/m2) on reported EI:BMR at age 11-12 years



Figure 5.4 Influence of BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) on reported EI:BMR at age 16-18 years

	Age 11-1	2 years	Age 16-1	8 years
	% Normal weight participants	% % rmal weight articipants participants		% Overweight/ obese participants
Total sample	45	85	33	50
Males <1.39 x BMR	39	88	20	38
Females <1.30 x BMR	48	84	38	60

Table 5.12 Per cent of low energy reporters among normal weight\* versus overweight or obese\*.

\*defined using age and gender specific international cut-offs (Cole et al. 2000)

#### Summary of Chapter 5.3

- Over 50% of participants were low reporters at age 11-12 years; this prevalence of low reporting in both males and females decreased as participants matured.
- Females were more likely than males to report low energy intakes at age 11-12 and 16-18 years and were almost twice as likely to report low intakes persistently.
- Participants with higher BMI were more likely to report lower energy intake in relation to their BMR than those with lower BMI's.
- At age 16-18 years the influence of weight status was more evident in females than in males.

#### 5.4. Discussion

The aim of this chapter was to assess how representative the 2006 sample was of the 2000 study cohort (ASH 11 Study) from which it was drawn and of a national sample of a similar age (the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) of 4-18 year olds (Gregory *et al.* 2000). The methods by which the 2000 study cohort was obtained are described elsewhere (Fletcher *et al.* 2004).

# 5.4.1. How representative of the 2000 study cohort were these young people at follow-up in 2006?

This follow-up study (2006) comprised 193 of the original 2000 cohort of 424 (Chapter 4.1). Whilst there was a fairly even gender distribution at baseline, only 34% of males compared with 55% of females participated in the follow-up (2006) study. Although both males (90%) and females (62%) from the unclassified (Chapter 3.2) social groups were less likely to take part in this follow-up study, the number of subjects in the unclassified group was small and on the whole, social group appeared to have little effect on follow-up recruitment. The social group distribution of participants in 2006 was similar to that of the 2000 study with relatively high proportion of participants from the high social group in both studies (58% males, 55% females; 49% males, 45% females, respectively).

On the whole there was little difference in height, weight or BMI at age 11-12 years between participants and those who chose not to take part in this follow up study. Adolescence is a period when females in particular are concerned about their weight (Chapter 2.3.1) and, given that female non-participants were on average 2.3kg heavier than female participants when aged 11-12 years, being heavier may have influenced their decision not to take part in this follow-up study. This notion is also supported by the observation that both males and females who were obese at age 11-12 years (n=29) were less likely to take part in this follow-up study (n=22). Given the tracking of BMI between early and late adolescence (Chapter 6) the data reported in this thesis

136

pertaining to adiposity may be an underestimation of the prevalence in young people in Northumberland because a smaller proportion of the obese children at age 11-12 were followed up at age 16-18 years. Reported energy intake and contributions made by the macronutrients to energy intake at age 11-12 years were highly representative of the original study sample for both genders.

# 5.4.2. How representative of a national study of young people aged 15 to 18 years were these follow-up study participants?

Comparisons of the 2006 recruitment with that of the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (15 to 18 year old age group)(Gregory *et al.*2000) revealed similar challenges in recruitment. Males in particular were less likely than females to take part in this followup study as was the case in the 15 to 18 year olds of the NDNS. The main reasons were "reportedly busier and less predictable lifestyles than those of the younger people (age 4 to 14 years)" (Gregory *et al.* 2000) (Chapter 4.3).

In terms of primary education/employment, males were more likely to be representative of the NDNS participants. Females however were less likely than those of the NDNS to have left full time education. This may be in light of secular changes to government policy to encourage teenagers to remain in full time education (http://ema.direct.gov.uk).

A lower proportion of participants in the present study were current smokers and a significantly greater proportion consumed alcohol compared with the 15 to 18 year olds in the NDNS study. The difference in figures between studies may be explained largely by the different methods of data collection. In particular, in the NDNS study those who had ever tried smoking - even just a puff or two of a cigarette were included in the category of ex-smoker, whereas in the present study, participants were questioned about regular smoking activity, defined by smoking more than one cigarette on a regular basis (Chapter 3.5). The lower prevalence of smoking in this study may

be in response to greater health awareness which reflects a general reduction in smoking prevalence in the UK (<u>www.statistics.gov.uk</u>) although the reasons for smoking or not smoking were not investigated in this study.

Given the age of participants in both studies (i.e. less than age 18 years), it is plausible that lower reported alcohol consumption by participants of the NDNS may be have been as a result of under-reporting. There are also known regional variations in alcohol consumption (Office of National Statistics, 2001) with a greater proportion of both men and women in the North East of England drinking alcohol than in other regions of England and this may be true of adolescents also. In the NDNS a proportion of the population were from ethnic backgrounds and abstaining from alcohol may form part of their culture and thereby decreasing the proportion of alcohol consumers. In comparison, almost all participants in the present study were White British (Chapter 4.2) and the higher prevalence of alcohol consumption in the present study may in part be as a consequence of the absence of participants from ethnic backgrounds or similar cultures. These reported differences may also be as a result of secular changes in alcohol consumption patterns of young people (www.tradingstandards.gov.uk).

Males in the present study tended to be more similar to those in the NDNS in terms of anthropometry. However the prevalence of overweight and/or obesity among males in the present study (30% overweight; 31% overweight and obese) was notably higher than in the NDNS (20% overweight; 24% overweight and obese). The most likely reason for this difference is due to the year on year increase in overweight and obesity, particularly among males (Butland *et al.* 2007).

Energy intakes were higher in the present study than in the NDNS for both males and females. This was a reflection of higher absolute intakes (g/d) of all macronutrients (fat, carbohydrate and protein). These findings may be explained in part by the higher prevalence of overweight in the present study, for example energy requirements may

be greater as a result of the increased body size but similarly, prevalence of overweight might be as a consequence of the higher intakes. Encouragingly % EI from fat was lower than in the NDNS for both males and females, however this was reflection of a higher % EI from alcohol in the present study (both % EI from carbohydrate and protein were also lower than in the NDNS.

When comparing nutrient data of the study sample with the national sample it was evident that there were significant differences between studies. There are a number of potential reasons for this: the age range of the NDNS study sample is 15 to 18 years, compared with 16-18 years in this study sample, when between the ages of 15 and 16 years significant changes may occur (Chapter 6); as mentioned there is also a possibility of under-reported dietary data (Rennie *et al.* 2005) and that choice of dietary methodology were different (Chapter 3.8). The NDNS used a weighed intake methodology whereas participants of the present study estimated their portion sizes with the aid of a photographic food atlas (Nelson, 1997) (Chapter 3.3).

The National Diet and Nutrition Survey (Gregory *et al.* 2000) is a comprehensive crosssectional survey of the dietary habits and nutritional status of the population in Great Britain (Chapter 2.3) and is the only comparable study of this age group with this quality of data, in the UK to date. However, there is almost a decade (1997/2006) between the data collection periods of the studies and there is a strong possibility that secular changes have taken place and diets of this age group have changed over this period.

#### 5.4.3. Validity of the dietary data

Validation of dietary assessment methods has widely recognised that misreporting of dietary intake occurs (Torun *et al.* 1996); under-reporting in particular is a common source of error in epidemiological studies (Chapter 2.4). Validation in this study was by comparison of reported dietary intake with estimated BMR (Schofield *et al.* 1985a) to

calculate EI:BMR. However this approach also has its limitations. For example the use of the ratio EI:BMR assumes that an individual is in energy balance and does not take into account participants who may have intentionally altered their intake to either gain or lose weight. The remainder of this chapter will discuss some of the sources of error which can influence dietary data.

Although a decrease (37% total sample) in the prevalence of suspected low reporting was observed as participants matured, females (42%) were more likely than males to be low energy reporters (Figure 5.2) which may be as a result of dieting (Ward *et al.* 2007), particularly common in this age group where body image is one of many concerns (Neumark Sztainer *et al.* 2007; Fulkerson *et al.* 2004). Interestingly for females in particular, persistent low-reporting was substantial with 34% of those who were low reporters at age 11-12 years were also low reporters at age 16-18 years. This may be attributed to forgetfulness or lack of compliance when faced with unstructured eating events such as eating out of the home (Livingstone *et al.* 1992).

'Over'-reporting is less commonly reported and was not evident in participants at age 11-12 years, but at age 16-18 years a significant minority of participants (13% males; 12% females) reported intakes above the upper cut-offs defined by Torun *et al.* (1996) (>2.24 x BMR males; >2.10 x BMR females). Aside from the fact there may be some participants who have simply mis-reported their intake (Chapter 2.4). These findings could indicate that the physical activity levels in these participants may be greater than identified from the activity data (Chapter 4.2.3). For example taking part in dancing or other sports such as rugby (Chapter 4.6). There may be some cases of participants having a high metabolism where the effects of high energy intakes may not be revealed at this age (except possibly in the two males who were overweight), however the effects may be revealed in adulthood. There is also the possibility that the intakes of these participants was greater than their overall daily requirement, but it might be that this is not representative of usual intake on a weekly basis. At age 16-18 years for

140

many young people is a stressful period and many of these young people were assessed during examination periods. During this time some may go through a period of increased energy consumption (Michaud *et al.* 1990; Weidner *et al.* 1996; Oliver and Wardle. 1999) which may offer some explanation for the small number of suspected over-reporters.

Encouragingly, there was a strong positive association between EI:BMR at age 11-12 years and 16-18 years (R=0.44, p<0.01) which may mean that high (or low) energy consumers remain high (or low) energy consumers in late adolescence. To my knowledge there are currently no other data of this age group with which to compare these findings. One explanation for the strong correlation may be that these findings reflect perceptions of diet and participants' ability or willingness to record accurate data. It should also be considered that when applying cut-offs that participants within the accepted range may have also under-reported their intake, possibly to a greater extent than those identified outside the accepted range (Torun *et al.*1996). For example the actual EI:BMR of a female low reporter may be 1.30 x BMR but their reported intake is 1.20 x BMR and therefore falls below the cut-off (1.30 x BMR females). In contrast, a participant whose actual EI:BMR is 1.80 x BMR but their reported intake is 1.40 x BMR will not be identified as having misreported their EI (Torun *et al.*1996).

In agreement with other studies of adolescents (Bandini *et al.* 1990; Bratteby *et al.* 1998) and adults (Craigie *et al.* 2004; Ward *et al.* 2007) participants with higher BMI's were more likely to report lower energy intake in relation to their BMR than those with lower BMI's at both age 11-12 years and 16-18 years (Figure 5.3 and Figure 5.4 respectively). The association was stronger in females than males at both ages and was also reported by Johansson *et al.* (1998) and Sichert-Hellert *et al.* (1998) but in contrast to findings of Braam *et al.* (1998) and Craigie *et al.* (2004), Livingstone *et al.* (1992) found no significant gender difference in under-reporting in children and

141

adolescents when using DLW to validate the weighed intake and dietary history methods. The observation that the relationship was stronger at age 11-12 years than at age 16-18 years for both males and females might reflect general under-reporting at age 11-12 years. It is plausible that participants may have lower energy expenditure and subsequently lower energy intake relative to BMI or a combination of these, however there are no data at age 11-12 years with which to compare physical activity data at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4). Similarly, although physical activity data were recorded for 50% of these participants at age 16-18 years, to date there are no validated methods by which to convert activity data into energy expenditure (Corder *et al.* 2007). Due to secular increases in prevalence of overweight/obesity in recent years (IOTF, 2007; Butland *et al.* 2007) a higher BMI at age 16-18 years may be perceived as 'normal' and therefore more socially acceptable. This might suggest that the reporting of diet might be less affected by social desirability (BMI) particularly as participants 'mature' (age 16-18 years).

#### 5.4.4. Instrumentation bias – food diary and interview

To minimise error in dietary recording the same method was used at baseline (age 11-12 years) and at follow-up (age 16-18 years). However given the age difference of participants and their ability to provide more information some changes were inevitable. The original food diary (used in 2000) was designed to fit into the pocket of the child at school. However whilst maintaining the original format the diary used in 2006 was increased to accommodate detailed information (Chapter 3). Minor changes were made such as adding an area at the back of the diary to record recipes.

Whilst the method of recording primary food intake data remained relatively unchanged the method of portion size estimation was changed. Food models were used in 2000 to allow comparisons with previous studies of children of the same age in the same schools in 1980 and 1990 (Hackett *et al.* 1982; Adamson *et al.* 1992). In adults there is good evidence to support the use of photographs to estimate portion size and nutrient intake (Nelson *et al.* 1994; Robinson *et al.* 1997; Gerber *et al.* 1997) but evidence of the utility of food photographs in late adolescence is scarce. Age specific food atlases have been produced since (Foster *et al.* 2006) with the oldest age range being 11 to 16 years. For the present study at 16-18 years it was deemed appropriate to use Nelson *et al.* (1997) food atlas for use in adults.

Whilst in most cases the interview was carried out in the school at both time points, some participants who had left school or were on study leave were interviewed at their home (Chapter 3). In a small number of cases where a parent of the participant was at home at the time of interview, the participant was prompted and inadvertently assisted the recall of dietary information. Whilst this potentially increases the accuracy of the information it does introduce a possible reporting bias in respect of other participant data and of the data at age 11-12 years.

#### 5.4.5. Intra-observer variation

Both the 2000 and 2006 studies were carried out by only one nutritionist thereby reducing the intra-observer variation at each time-point. However when comparisons are made between studies it is important to bear in mind that different nutritionists carried out each study. Measures were taken to minimise any possible bias by following the same protocols (Appendix 12) and carrying out a pilot study to provide training for the nutritionist carrying out the 2006 study (Chapter 3).

#### 5.4.6. Errors in the coding, entering and cleaning of the data

The coding of food diaries can introduce error when foods consumed are not allocated to codes of foods with the closest nutritional match. This was limited by collecting food packaging from participants, consulting manufacturers for weights and nutritional information and checking food labels in supermarkets before matching the nutritional information with that of the most similar food code. A common error is applying 'cooked' or 'wet' weight of foods the energy values for 'raw' or 'dry' foods that appear in composition tables. However all efforts were made to ensure dietary data were entered into the database correctly. Errors were limited by programming some automatic checks into the Access database, such as a food weight limit of 568g (equivalent to 1 pint) and a food code limit of five digits. All entries were checked at least once after entry of a food diary and before nutritional output was obtained the data were cleaned, for example by examining minimum and maximum weights, and comparing any dubious entries with the food diary. Further checks were carried out on a random selection of 50 diaries by means of double entry, that is, the diaries were entered by one person and then checked by re-entering the same diary again onto the database to ensure all information was coded correctly and that the weights were entered correctly.

#### 5.4.7. Testing bias

Testing bias can be introduced when the measurement influences subsequent behaviour. In the present study, there was a risk that the process of collection of anthropometric measurements might influence dietary recording. This was avoided by taking all anthropometric measurements at the conclusion of the second food diary interview (Chapter 3).

#### 6. CHANGES AND TRACKING IN ADIPOSITY FROM AGE 11-12 YEARS TO 16-18 YEARS

#### Chapter overview

- Introduction
- 6.1 Changes in measured anthropometry between age 11-12 years and 16-18 years
  - o 6.1.1 Height
  - o 6.1.2 Weight
  - o 6.1.3 Body mass index (BMI)
  - 6.1.4 Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity between age 11-12 and 16-18 years
- 6.2 Tracking of BMI from age 11-12 to 16-18 years
  - 6.2.1 Maintenance of quartile group of BMI
  - o 6.2.2 Tracking of BMI by social group
- 6.3 Discussion

#### Introduction

Being overweight as an adolescent is associated with being overweight as an adult (Lean, 2000; Guo *et al.* 2002; Craigie *et al.* 2004), in addition there is some evidence that eating habits formed in adolescence continue into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004a). There is interest in the tracking of health-related behaviours and of adiposity as such information can inform policy and direct interventions to focus on age-groups or life stages which are likely to be most effective in promoting lifelong healthy lifestyle behaviours.

Tracking has been defined as the maintenance of relative position in rank of behaviour over time (Kelder *et al.* 1994) (Chapter 2.5), such that from a public health perspective participants who rank highly for disease risk (Twisk, 2003) (from adiposity and/or dietary behaviour for example) at a young age are likely to maintain their ranks through into adulthood (Boreham *et al.* 2004) (Chapter 2.5.1).

The aim of this chapter is to identify changes in, and tracking of, adiposity from 11-12 years to 16-18 years (Chapter 1).

At age 11-12 years, only height and weight were measured, from which BMI was calculated and therefore BMI was also used as the main measure of adiposity at age 16-18 years (Chapter 3.6).

### 6.1. <u>Changes in measured anthropometry between age 11-12 and 16-18</u> years

This section reports the changes in anthropometry (height, weight and BMI) between the two time periods, tested using paired t-tests. Differences between males and females at each time point were tested using independent sample t-tests

Anthropometric data were found to be non-normally distributed so the data were log<sub>e</sub> transformed before analysis. For presentation of summary results, log<sub>e</sub> means were back transformed to produce geometric means (Table 6.1). In Table 6.1 'mean ratio' represent the ratio of the geometric means, that is mean (geometric) at age 16-18 years divided by mean (geometric) at age 11-12 years. A value greater than one indicates an increase over time, and a value less than one indicates a decrease over time.

#### 6.1.1. Height

The average height of all present study participants at age 11-12 years was 1.52m increasing to 1.68m (p<0.001) by the age of 16-18 years. At age 11-12 years there was little gender difference (p=0.78), but by the age of 16-18 years males were, on average, significantly (p<0.001) taller (1.78m) than females (1.63m) (Table 6.1).

#### 6.1.2. Weight

At age 11-12 years the average weight of all present study participants was 45.6kg and males were slightly but not significantly (p=0.93) heavier than females (44.9kg and 44.7kg respectively). At age 16-18 years this gender difference was significantly

greater (p<0.001) with an increase of 58% (26.1kg) observed in males (mean weight 71.0kg) compared with an increase of 32% (14.3kg) in females (mean weight 59.0kg) (Table 6.1).

#### 6.1.3. Body Mass Index (BMI)

Given the similarity in both height and weight of males and females at age 11-12 years it followed that average BMI (weight (kg)/height(m<sup>2</sup>)) at this age was similar (19.6 males; 19.3 females) (p=0.53). This lack of difference in BMI by gender continued into late adolescence with male BMI (22.4) being only slightly higher than female BMI (22.2) (p=0.58) at age 16-18 years (Table 6.1). However, as discussed in Chapter 4, bio-impedance analysis (%body fat) revealed that males were significantly leaner than females (p<0.001) at age 16-18 years. Conversely, at age 16-18 years, males on average had a higher waist circumference and subsequent higher waist to hip ratio (both p<0.001) than females (Chapter 4). Pearson correlation analysis revealed that there were strong relationships (Figure 6.1) between BMI at age 11-12 years and all measures of adiposity (BMI, % body fat, WC) at age 16-18 years for both males (p<0.001) and females (p<0.001) (Figure 6.1).

		Change in measurement				ement
		Mean		Mean ratio <sup>1</sup>	95%	% CI
		11-12 years	16-18 years	16-18/ 11-12 years	Lower	Upper
	All	1.52	1.68	1.11*	1.10	1.12
Height (m)	Male	1.51	1.78	1.18*	1.17	1.18
	Female	1.52	1.63	1.07*	1.07	1.08
Weight (kg)	All	44.8	63.0	1.41*	1.37	1.44
	Male	44.9	71.0	1.58*	1.52	1.64
	Female	44.7	59.0	1.32*	1.29	1.35
	All	19.4	22.2	1.14	1.12	1.16
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Male	19.6	22.4	1.14	1.11	1.18
	Female	19.3	22.2	1.15	1.12	1.17

### Table 6.1 Change in height, weight and BMI between age between age 11-12 and 16-18 years

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ratio = Geometric mean at age 16-18 years divided by geometric mean at age 11-12 years. A value > 1 indicates an increase over time, and a value <1 indicates a decrease over time.



Figure 6.1 Pearson correlation between BMI at age 11-12 years and measures of adiposity at age 16-18 years.

## 6.1.4. Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity between age 11-12 and 16-18 years

At age 11-12 and 16-18 years age and gender specific international cut-offs were used to categorise participants by their BMI (normal, overweight or obese) (Cole *et al.* 2000) (Chapter 3). At age 11-12 years there was a greater prevalence of overweight among the whole sample than at age 16-18 years (25% and 20% respectively). The prevalence of obesity however remained unchanged at 4% of all participants (Table 6.2). There were discordant changes between the two sexes in proportions of obese and overweight subjects over the 6 years between measurements. The percentage of overweight male participants (21%) increased (+9% points) whilst the percentage of obese males (6%) decreased (-5% points). Conversely, the percentage of overweight female participants (27%) decreased (-12% points), whilst the percentage of obese females (2%) increased (+3% points).

Gondor			BMI class		
Gender	No.	Overweight n (%)		Obese	e n (%)
		Age 11-12 years	Age 16-18 years	Age 11-12 years	Age 16-18 years
Male	67	14 (21)	20 (30)	4 (6)	1 (1)
Female	123	34 (27)	19 (15)	3 (2)	6 (5)
All participants	190	48 (25)	39 (20)	7(4)	7 (4)

#### Table 6.2 Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity at age 11-12 and 16-18 years

\* Females n=123 as complete BMI unavailable for 3 females (Chapter 4.1)

#### Summary of Chapter 6.1

- At age 11-12 years there was little gender difference in height (*p*=0.78), or weight (*p*=0.93), but by the age of 16-18 years males were, on average, significantly (*p*<0.001) taller (1.78m) and heavier (71.0kg) (*p*<0.001) than females (1.63m and 59.0kg respectively).</li>
- There was little gender difference in mean BMI at either age 11-12 (19.6 males, 19.3 females; *p*=0.53) or 16-18 years (22.4 males, 22.1 females; *p*=0.58).
- The prevalence of overweight (all participants) was greater at age 11-years years than at age 16-18 years (25% and 20% respectively). The prevalence of obesity however remained unchanged at 4%.
- There were gender differences in prevalence of overweight and obesity at both age 11-12 and 16-18 years. The prevalence of overweight males (21%) increased (+9% points), whilst the percentage of overweight females (27%) decreased (-12% points). The prevalence of obesity in males (6%) decreased (-5% points) whilst the prevalence of obesity in females (2%) increased (+3% points) by the age of 16-18 years.

#### 6.2. Tracking of BMI from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years

Tracking, defined as the maintenance of relative position in rank of behaviour over time (Kelder *et al.* 1994), was used to determine the extent to which overweight and obesity in childhood (age 11-12 years) continued into late adolescence (age 16-18 years). In the first instance Pearson correlation was used to determine the relationship between BMI at age 11-12 years and BMI at age 16-18 years (Figure 6.2). Highly significant associations between BMI at 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years for both males (P<0.01, R=0.65) and females (P<0.01, R=0.75) are illustrated in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2 Correlation between  $\log_e$  of BMI at age 11-12 years and  $\log_e$  of BMI at age 16-18 years

#### 6.2.1. Maintenance of quartile group of BMI

To investigate the percentage of participants who maintained their relative position over the 6 years of study, participants were grouped into quartiles of BMI at age 11-12 years and quartiles of BMI at age 16-18 years. Of those participants who were in the lowest or highest quartiles of BMI at age 11-12 years, over 60% maintained their relative position for BMI i.e. were in the corresponding BMI quartile at age 16-18 years (Table 6.3). Evidence of tracking was stronger in females than in males with 65% maintaining their position in both the highest and lowest BMI quartiles, compared with 53% and 59% respectively of males. The Kappa (k) test revealed there was fair (males k=0.26; females k=0.33) probability (strength of agreement) (Table 6.4) that participants would maintain their quartile position for BMI over the six years of adolescence.

Quartile of BI	MI at age 11-12 years	Quartile group of BMI at age 16-18 years			
	Range of BMI	Gender	Range of BMI	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<17.5	All	<19.9	67	
	<17.6	Male	<19.9	59	
	<17.3	Female	<19.8	65	
Second	17.5 to 19.2	All	19.9 to 21.7	41	
Cocona	17.6 to 19.3	Male	19.9 to 22.2	38	
	17.3 to 18.9	Female	19.8 to 21.6	37	
Third	19.2 to 21.6	All	21.7 to 24.8	35	
	19.3 to 21.3	Male	22.2 to 25.5	29	
	18.9 to 21.7	Female	21.6 to 24.3	34	
Highest	>21.6	All	>24.8	60	
	>21.3	Male	>25.5	53	
	>21.7	Female	>24.3	65	

#### Table 6.3 Maintenance (at age 16-18 years) of quartile position of BMI age 11-12 years

Table 6.4 Strength of agreement (*kappa*) that participants maintain quartile position beyond chance between age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years

		Males			Females		
	n	<i>k</i> *	р	n	<i>k</i> *	р	
BMI (kg/m-2)	67	0.26	<0.001	124	0.33	<0.001	

\*Strength of agreement: value of *k* <0.20=Poor; 0.21-0.40=Fair; >0.41=Moderate

To assess BMI values from a health perspective, participants were grouped by their BMI classification (normal, overweight, obese) at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years. Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4 illustrate the percentage of participants at age 11-12 years who had changed or maintained BMI classification at age 16-18 years. In both males and females, participants who were normal weight at age 11-12 years were most likely to maintain their BMI classification at age 16-18 years (82% males, 94% females). However, it is noteworthy that the one male participant (Figure 6.3) and one of the female (Figure 6.4) participants who were obese at age 16-18 years were in the normal weight category at age 11-12 years.

In males, 64% of those who were overweight at age 11-12 years remained overweight and 36% became normal weight at age 16-18 years. Of those males who were obese, all decreased weight status, with 75% becoming overweight and 25% becoming normal weight status (Figure 6.3). Overall females were more likely than males to maintain their BMI classification. Of those females who were overweight at age 11-12 years 41% remained overweight, 9% became obese and a corresponding 50% became a normal weight. Of those females who were obese at age 11-12 years, 67% remained obese and 33% moved into the overweight classification but none were classified as normal weight at age 16-18 years (Figure 6.4). The Pearson Chi square test revealed significant (p<0.01) tracking of BMI classification in both males and females and there were fair (males k=0.38) to moderate (females k=0.47) probability that participants would maintain beyond chance their BMI classification at age 16-18 years.



Figure 6.3 Percentage of participants maintaining BMI classification at age 11-12 years into late adolescence (males)



Figure 6.4 Percentage of participants maintaining BMI classification at age 11-12 years into late adolescence (females)

#### 6.2.2. Tracking of BMI by social group

To ascertain any social disparities in the tracking of BMI, participants were grouped by social group and by quartile of BMI at age 11-12 and 16-18 years. Both males and females of the low social group were more likely to remain in the highest quartile of BMI (67% and 100% respectively) than those in the highest quartile of BMI of the high and middle social groups (Table 6.5), but this difference was not significant. Pearson Chi Square tests revealed significant tracking in the high (p<0.01) and middle (p<0.05) social groups of females and only in the high (p < 0.05) social group of males. Further investigation revealed fair strength of agreement that participants in each social group would maintain quartile position of BMI at age 16-18 years. There were notable differences between sexes on the influence of social group on BMI. Figure 6.5 for example illustrates the significantly (p < 0.05) lower mean BMI of males from the high social group than those of the middle and low social groups at age 11-12 and 16-18 years. While on the other hand, at age 11-12 years females from the low social group had the lowest mean BMI and females from the high social group had the highest mean BMI. At age 16-18 years this scenario was reversed and Figure 6.6 illustrates that there was little, that is no significant social disparity in mean BMI of females at either age.

		Maintenance of quartile position of BMI by social group at age 16-18 years (%)			
Quartile group of BMI at age 11 -12 years	Gender	High	Middle	Low	
Lowest	All	71	64	50	
	Male	69	33	0	
	Female	67	71	50	
Second	All	48	57	11	
	Male	50	0	0	
	Female	38	57	20	
Third	All	29	33	0	
	Male	25	33	0	
	Female	25	33	33	
Highest	ΔII	56	57	83	
riigiloot	Male	63	57	67	
	Female	50	57	100	

Table 6.5 Maintenance (at age 16-18 years) of quartile position of BMI (age 11-12 years) by social group



Figure 6.5 Tracking of BMI by social group from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years (male)



Figure 6.6 Tracking of BMI by social group from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years (female)

#### Summary of Chapter 6.2

- These findings show that BMI tracked significantly between ages 11-12 and 16-18 years.
- BMI at age 11-12 years was highly correlated with measures of adiposity (BMI, % body fat, WC) at age 16-18 years.
- Evidence of tracking was stronger in females than males when grouped into quartiles of BMI at age 11-12 and 16-18 years.

There was evidence of tracking in both males and females when social group was taken into consideration. In males, at age 11-12 and 16-18 years participants from the higher social group had lower mean BMI's than those in the middle and low social groups (*p*<0.05). In females there was no evidence of an effect of social group on BMI. The narrow difference between mean BMI of each social group was not significant at age 11-12 or 16-18 years.</li>

#### 6.3. Discussion

A number of methods are available for the measurement of adiposity (Chapter 2.2.1); however BMI is widely accepted as the preferred measure for evaluating overweight and obesity among groups of children and adolescents age 2 to 19 years (Cole *et al.* 2000) At age 11-12 years, only height and weight were measured, from which BMI was calculated and therefore BMI was also used as the main measure of adiposity at age 16-18 years.

#### 6.3.1. Change in height, weight and BMI during adolescence

In these participants at age 11-12 years height and weight was similar for males and females and each of these measurements increased significantly (*p*<0.001) over the six years to age 16-18 years. On average between the ages of 10 and 15 years, males gain 26cm in height and 26kg in weight and females gain 23cm in height and 21kg in weight, between the ages of 12 and 17 years (Webb, 2002) (Chapter 2.1). Males increased 27cm in height and 26kg in weight while females increased 11cm in height and 14kg in weight so that, as expected, males were significantly taller and heavier at age 16-18 years. However in females there were notably smaller increases in height (-12cm) and weight (-7kg) than might be expected (Webb, 2002). This could be an indication that a major part of growth in these females took place between age 10 and 12 years; and subsequently making them taller and heavier at age 11-12 years than in previous studies. (Chapter 2.3.1)

There was little gender difference in BMI of these participants in childhood or adolescence. Whilst on average males were significantly (p<0.001) taller and heavier than females (age 16-18 years), there were similar increases in BMI for both genders (males +2.8 units and females +2.9 units). The normal pattern is for BMI to decrease from ≈2 years of age until 5 or 6 years of age and to increase thereafter (Malina, 2004 in Krebs, 2007) (Chapter 2.5.1). It coincides with the period between the ages of 4 and 7 years when BMI reaches its lowest point and then begins to increase through the remainder of childhood and into young adulthood (Dietz, 1997). This narrow gender difference in BMI at age 16-18 years is largely explained by the complication that during adolescence not only height and weight, but also body composition is still changing (Friedman, 1997; Page and Fox, 1998). In addition, as stated (Chapter 2.2.1), the assessment of adiposity by BMI is a proxy measure and does not distinguish between fat and lean tissue, and therefore some highly muscular individuals with low body fat can have a high BMI. Males gain proportionately more muscle and lean tissue than fat and females gain more fat than muscle as part of their natural sexual and reproductive physiology (McCarthy *et al.* 2006). Therefore at age 16-18 years, whilst BMI was similar for males and females, males were on average leaner than females (Chapter 4.2.2).

#### 6.3.2. Change in BMI during adolescence from a health perspective

Significant positive relationships (Figure 6.1) were identified between BMI at age 11-12 years and all measures of adiposity (BMI, % body fat, WC) at age 16-18 years for both males and females. This provides strong evidence that BMI at age 11-12 years in not only indicative of BMI at age 16-18 years but also of % body fat and WC at this age. There is no single explanation for the origin of overweight or obesity in children or adolescents and studies have reported a number of plausible contributory factors. Differences in the age of the onset of puberty for example may affect fat deposition (World Health Organization, 1995; Martinez, 2000). Unfortunately the age of puberty in the participants of this study was not identified and is therefore difficult to say with certainty its effect on BMI of these participants. Post pubertal fat deposition in both females and males tends to be more central (waist and hip) rather than general (Lawlor & Chaturvedi, 2006) and may also be a critical period for the development of atherosclerosis. McGill (2000) suggested that late adolescence (i.e. from age 15-19 years) is the key time when fatty streaks convert to raised atherosclerotic lesions (McGill, 2000). This also corresponds with the age at which BMI and skinfold thickness increase in young adults who go on to develop the metabolic syndrome (Ferreira,

159

2005). More recently, Baker *et al.* (2007) reported data from a cohort of Danish schoolchildren in whom higher BMI at the age of 7 to13 years in boys (age 10 to 13 years in girls) was associated with increased risk of CHD in adulthood (from the age of 25 years). Furthermore the associations became stronger with increasing age of the child, which might suggest that participants in the present study who had a higher BMI at age 11-12 years may be at risk of developing CHD in early adulthood (Chapter 2.2.2). However Baker *et al.* (2007) did not report the BMI of the participants in adulthood, and it is therefore difficult to determine whether children who had a higher BMI (regardless of their adult BMI) or those who continued to have a high BMI as an adult might be at risk.

#### 6.3.3. Change in prevalence of overweight and obesity during adolescence

Encouragingly, on the whole the prevalence of overweight in this sample decreased over time from 25% (27% females; 21% males) at age 11-12 years to 20% (15% females; 30% males) at age 16-18 years. Nevertheless prevalence was higher than in a recent longitudinal study of teenagers (HABITS) (Wardle et al. 2006) in which 19% (23% females; 16% males) were overweight at age 11-12 years decreasing to 17% (20% females; 14% males) at age 16 years. However prevalence of obesity at both age 11-12 and 16-18 years (4%) in the present study participants was lower than in the HABITS study (6% at age 11 years and 7% at age 16 years). Prevalence of obesity was also slightly lower than the Health Survey for England, 2004 data (McPherson et al. 2007) which found that 5% of boys and 11% of girls in the 11-15 age group were obese. The prevalence for age 17 years specifically was not reported, but in the 16 to 24 age group 8% of males and 13% of females were obese and a further 24% (males & females) overweight (McPherson *et al.* 2007). Comparisons between the lower prevalence of obesity in the present study compared with Health Survey for England is limited. For example all participants in this study were age 16-18 years, and the Health Survey for England also included adults up to age 24 years; It is known that there is a general increase in prevalence of overweight with age (McPherson et al. 2007) and

160

subsequently it is difficult to make direct comparisons between the data. It is also plausible that the present study being of a specific area of the UK (i.e. Northumberland) and of a much smaller sample size may therefore under-represent the proportion of obese adolescents (Chapter 5.4). Similarly as discussed in Chapter 5 the proportion of obese participants in this study may be under-represented due to a bias in recruitment of participants (Chapter 5.4.1). Gender differences in prevalence of overweight and obese are discussed in Chapter 4.6.

#### 6.3.4. Tracking of BMI from childhood to late adolescence and adulthood

The most striking observation from this study is that whilst a large proportion of overweight 11-12 year old participants had moved from overweight (36% of overweight males and 50% of overweight females) or obese (25% of obese males only) to normal weight, the majority of participants had maintained their BMI classification status over the 6 years of study (Chapter 6.2.1). Other studies have reported similar findings. For example the number of students from the HABITS study who moved from overweight to healthy weight was 36% and very few (7%) from obese to healthy weight (Wardle, et al. 2006). Gordon-Larsen, et al. (2004) also reported a small proportion (14.4%) of males (aged 13-20y) moved out of the obese category as they became adults (19-26y). It should also be considered that some children (11-12 year olds) of the present study may have had relatively high weights primarily due to high lean mass, rather than high body fat levels which are not identified by BMI alone (Chapter 2.2). These findings emphasise that being overweight or obese at age 11-12 years greatly increases risk of being overweight or obese at age 16-18 years. However as stated this progression is not inevitable. While a substantial proportion of overweight or obese children at age 11-12 years became normal weight at age 16-18 years, a small proportion of participants in the present study became obese at age 16-18 years (Figure 6.3 and Figure 6.4). Therefore lower weight in childhood should still be a focus of concern since it offers no protection against adult obesity and is associated with increased risk of adult disease (Wright et al. 2001).

The finding that BMI tracked significantly from childhood (age 11-12 years) to late adolescence (age 16-18 years) (Chapter 6.2) concurs with other studies (Chapter 2.5.1). In a five year longitudinal study of participants from age 11 to 16 years, Wardle *et al.* (2006) reported that adiposity tracked strongly over time and BMI correlations were greater than 0.9 at one and two year intervals and above 0.8 for three and four year intervals. In agreement with Johannsson, (2006) (Chapter 2.5.1) this indicates that the children who are fatter than average at age 11 years are likely to remain fatter in late adolescence. Similarly, tracking of BMI was stronger in the present study (a 6 year interval) (R=0.65 males, R=0.75 females) than in a longitudinal study of Northumberland adolescents (age 12 years) into adulthood (age 33 years) (20 year interval) (R=0.58 males, R=0.56 females) (Craigie *et al.* 2004).

In a systematic review of the literature from 1985 to 2005 Singh *et al.* (2008) found increased risk for an overweight or obese youth to become overweight or obese in adulthood (Chapter 2.5.1). Guo *et al.* (2002) estimated greater probability of being obese at age 35 years from age 17 to 20 years in both males and females, than from age 12 to 20 years in females and from age 11.5 to 16 years in males. The author went onto suggest if individuals end their adolescence with moderately elevated BMI, then there was a greater likelihood of obesity in later adulthood (for example, age 35 years) (Chapter 2.5.1). Therefore on this basis, participants of this present study who were overweight or obese at age 16-18 years may be at greater risk of being an overweight or obese adult than those who were overweight or obese at age 16-18 years).

During adolescence, many young people are concerned with body image (Tiggeman, 2005) and weight issues and some are reported to engage in dieting behaviours to control their weight (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 2002; Butland *et al.* 2007) (Chapter 2.3.1) which in part might explain the reduction in weight status, particularly of females.

However Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* (2006) found that dieting and weight control behaviours, particularly unhealthful behaviours (e.g. meal skipping, smoking) at age 12 years were associated with weight gain (rather than weight loss) at age 17 years. Furthermore dieting at age 12 years was associated with higher BMI values and a greater prevalence of overweight status in both males and females (Chapter 2.3.1). Freedman *et al.* (2004) reported that obese children tend to be taller than their lean counterparts and faster growth goes with a larger appetite in general, and this was a plausible explanation for the females who remained obese from age 11-12 to 16-18 years.

Few studies have reported the effect of socioeconomic status on tracking of adiposity. However, prevalence of obesity is reportedly greater in lower social groups (for example HSE, 2004; in Butland *et al*, 2007; Wardle *et al.* 2006). Whilst at age 11-12 years this finding was true for males in the present study, the mean BMI of females was greater in the high and middle social groups. However, at age 16-18 years mean BMI was greater in the low social group for both males and females (though significantly so only for males), suggesting that social disparities in adiposity in females may not become apparent until adulthood. It is important to consider too that when the BMI is subdivided by social group, the number in each BMI category become much smaller so the power to detect social class effects are reduced substantially even if they exist.

#### 7. CHANGES AND TRACKING IN DIET FROM CHILDHOOD TO LATE ADOLESCENCE

#### Chapter overview

- Introduction
- 7.1 Changes in dietary intake from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years
  - o 7.1.1 Food energy intake (FEI)
  - o 7.1.2 Dietary fat intake
  - o 7.1.3 Dietary carbohydrate intake
  - o 7.1.4 Dietary protein intake
- 7.2 Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from age 11-12 to 16-18 years
  - o 7.2.1 Tracking of food energy intake (FEI)
  - o 7.2.2 Tracking of dietary fat intake
  - o 7.2.3 Tracking of dietary carbohydrate intake
  - o 7.2.4 Tracking of dietary protein intake
  - o 7.2.5 Tracking of energy intake by social group
- 7.3 Discussion

#### Introduction

There is evidence that some childhood behaviour continues into adulthood and initiation of health-compromising behaviours such as poor dietary intake in childhood contributes to physiological risk factors (e.g. cardiovascular disease) in adulthood (Twisk *et al.*1997).

Because being overweight as an adolescent is associated with being overweight as an adult and because eating habits formed in adolescence continue into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004a), it is likely that poor dietary habits in adolescence will have important implications for health and well-being in adulthood (for example (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999) (Chapter 2).

Continuing on from Chapter 6 which focussed on how these young people had changed in the available measures of body composition (height, weight and BMI) over this period of adolescence (age 11-12 to 16-18 years); The aim of this chapter is to compare the dietary intake from age 16-18 years with that of these young people at age 11-12 years and provides estimates of changes in, and tracking of, diet over this period of adolescence.

Changes, that is, difference in dietary intake between the two time periods were tested using paired t-tests (Table 7.1 to Table 7.3). Differences between males and females at each time point were tested using independent sample tests and are shown in Table 7.4 to Table 7.6.

It is important to note that at age 16-18 years alcohol formed part of the energy intake of several of these participants (Chapter 4.2.3), however this was not the case at age 11-12 years. Therefore to allow true comparisons to be made between the two data, total energy intake in this chapter only, is expressed as 'Food Energy' which excludes energy from alcohol at age -16-18 years. Macronutrients expressed as units of percent energy intake are calculated as a percentage of food energy.

Tracking, defined as the maintenance of relative position in rank of behaviour over time (Kelder *et al.* 1994) (Chapter 2.5), was used to determine the extent to which dietary intake in childhood continued into late adolescence (Chapter 7.2).

#### 7.1. Changes in dietary intake from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years

The focus of this thesis is energy balance therefore the aspects of participants' diets that are investigated are total energy intake<sup>1</sup> and macronutrient intake. These intakes are expressed as units of absolute intake (MJ/d or g/d), grams per kg body mass (MJ/kg/d or g/kg/d), and the per cent of food energy intake (% FEI) derived from each macronutrient. The average intakes of energy and the macronutrients at age 11-12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At age 16-18 years alcohol formed part of the energy intake of several of these participants, however this was not the case at age 11-12 years. Therefore to allow true comparisons to be made between the two data, total energy intake in this chapter only, is expressed as 'Food Energy' which excludes energy from alcohol at age -16-18 years. Macronutrients expressed as units of percent energy intake are calculated as a percentage of food energy.
and 16-18 years are shown in Table 7.1 to Table 7.6. Change in intake between the two time points and 95% confidence intervals for the change in intake are presented (Table 7.1 to Table 7.3) for the entire sample and for males and females separately. Table 7.4 (MJ/d or g/d), Table 7.5 (% FEI) and Table 7.6 (MJ/kg/d or g/kg/d) present the difference in intakes between males and females at age 11-12 and 16-18 years, and the 95% confidence intervals for the between gender differences.

Where the data were not normally distributed, the data were  $\log_e$  transformed to return the data to normal distribution before analysis. These  $\log_e$  data were back transformed (exp<sup>x</sup>) to produce geometric means (indicated by the symbol  $\neq$ ) (Table 7.1 to Table 7.6). In Table 7.1 'mean differences' represent the ratio of the geometric means, that is mean (geometric) intake at age 16-18 years divided by mean (geometric) intake at age 11-12 years. A value greater than one indicates an increase over time and a value less than one indicates a decrease over time. Between males and females (Table 7.4 to Table 7.6) 'mean differences' represent the ratio of the geometric means between sexes, that is mean (geometric) intake of males divided by mean (geometric) intake of females. A value greater than one indicates a higher intake in males than females and a value less than one indicates a lower intake in males than females. Confidence intervals associated with these data are of the ratio of geometric means.

			Mean intake		Change in intake (16-18 years -11-12 years)		
	Units	Sample	11-12 years	16-18 years	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI
		All	7.90	9.80	1.90**	1.50	2.30
Food Energy	MJ/d	Male	8.40	11.7	3.30**	2.60	4.00
		Female	7.70	8.90	1.20**	0.70	1.60
		All	75.2	93.8	18.5**	13.9	23.2
Fat	g/d	Male	78.5	113	34.2*	26.9	41.4
		Female	73.5	83.8	10.3**	4.78	15.7
		All	254	293	1.15**	1.10	1.20
Carbohydrate	g/d≠	Male	269	338	1.25**	1.16	1.35
		Female	247	272	1.09**	1.04	1.15
		All	55.3	79.2	1.43**	1.35	1.50
Protein	g/d≠	Male	60.6	105	1.72**	1.57	1.88
		Female	52.7	68.4	1.29	1.22	1.37

Table 7.1 Intakes of food energy	(MJ/d) and macronutrient ints (g/d) and changes in
intakes between ages 11-12 and	16-18 years.

			Mean intake		Change in intake (16-18 years -11-12 years)			
	Units	Sample	11-12 years	16-18 years	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI	
		All	0.182	0.158	-0.024**	-0.032	-0.017	
Food Energy	MJ/kg/d	Male	0.192	0.167	-0.025**	-0.038	-0.012	
		Female	0.176	0.153	-0.024**	-0.033	-0.014	
		All	1.74	1.51	-0.23**	-0.31	-0.15	
Fat	g/kg/d	Male	1.80	1.61	-0.19*	-0.32	-0.06	
		Female	1.71	1.46	-0.25**	-0.36	-0.14	
		All	5.70	4.66	0.81**	0.77	0.85	
Carbohydrate	g/kg/d≠	Male	6.00	4.75	0.79**	0.72	0.85	
		Female	5.55	4.61	0.83**	0.78	0.87	
		All	1.24	1.25	1.01	0.96	1.06	
Protein	g/kg/d≠	Male	1.35	1.47	1.08	0.98	1.19	
		Female	1.18	1.15	0.97	0.91	1.03	

Table 7.2 Intakes of food energy	(MJ/kg/d) and macronutrients	(g/kg/d) and changes in
intakes between ages 11-12 and	16-18 years.	

Table 7.3 Intakes of macronutrients (%FEI) and changes in intakes between ages 11-12	2
and 16-18 years.	

			Mean intake		Change in intake (16-18 years -11-12 years)		
	Units	Sample	11-12 years	16-18 years	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI
		All	35.0	34.9	-0.12	-0.97	0.71
Fat	% food	Male	34.6	35.7	1.06	-0.20	2.31
	energy	Female	35.2	34.4	-0.75	-1.85	0.35
	% food	All	52.7 52.8	50.4 48.1	-2.30** -4.70**	-3.25 -6.22	-1.34 -3.17
Carbohydrate	energy	Female	52.6	51.6	-1.03	-2.20	0.14
		All	12.1	14.3	1.18**	1.13	1.22
Protein	% food energy≠	Male	12.6	15.7	1.24**	1.15	1.33
		Female	11.9	13.7	1.15**	1.10	1.20

		Mean intake		Diffe (n	Difference in intakes (males-females)			
Units	Age (Years)	Male	Female	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI		
Food Energy	11-12	8.40	7.70	0.68*	0.17	1.19		
(MJ/d)	16-18	11.7	8.80	2.83**	2.00	3.66		
Fat (g/d)	11-12	78.5	73.5	5.01	-0.64	10.7		
	16-18	113	83.8	28.9**	19.3	38.6		
Carbohydrate (g/d≠)	11-12	269	247	1.08*	1.01	1.16		
	16-18	338	272	1.24**	1.13	1.35		
	11-12	60.6	52.7	1.15**	1.07	1.23		
Protein (g/d≠)	16-18	105	68.4	1.53**	1.38	1.69		

Table 7.4 Differences in absolute intake of food energy (MJ/d) and macronutrients (g	J/d)
between males and females at ages 11-12 and 16-18 years	

Fable 7.5 Differences in macronutrient intake (%FEI) between males and females at age	es
11-12 and 16-18 years	

		Mean	intake	Difference in intakes (males-females)			
% Food Energy	Age (years)	Male	Female	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI	
<b>F</b> /	11-12	34.6	35.2	-0.53	-1.68	0.63	
Fat	16-18	35.7	34.4	1.27	-0.42	2.98	
	11-12	52.8	52.6	0.13	-1.06	1.32	
Carbohydrate	16-18	48.1	51.6	-3.53*	-5.51	-1.56	
	11-12	12.6	11.9	1.06*	1.01	1.11	
Protein≠	16-18	15.7	13.7	1.15**	1.06	1.23	

		Mean intake		Difference in intakes (males-females)			
Units	Age (years)	Male	Female	Mean difference	Lower CI	Upper CI	
Food Energy	11-12	0.191	0.177	0.014	-0.001	0.031	
MJ/kg/d	16-18	0.167	0.153	0.014	-0.002	0.031	
Fat g/kg/d	11-12	1.80	1.71	0.099	-0.072	0.271	
	16-18	1.61	1.46	0.164	-0.017	0.345	
Carbohydrate g/kg/d≠	11-12	6.00	5.55	1.07	0.97	1.19	
	16-18	4.75	4.61	1.02	0.92	1.15	
Protein	11-12	1.35	1.18	1.14*	1.03	1.26	
g/kg/d≠	16-18	1.47	1.15	1.27**	1.13	1.43	

Table 7.6 Differences in food energy (MJ/kg/d) and macronutrient intake (g/kg/d) between males and females at ages 11-12 and 16-18 years

### 7.1.1. Food energy intake (FEI)

Food energy intake (FEI) (MJ/d) of the whole sample increased (1.9 MJ/d) significantly (p<0.001) over time (Table 7.1). This increase was significant for both males and females (p<0.001) but the increase observed in males (3.3 MJ/d) was nearly 3 times that of females (1.2 MJ/d). Further investigation (Table 7.4) revealed that whilst the average FEI of males were significantly (p<0.05) greater (0.68 MJ/d) than females at age 11-12 years, this difference had increased significantly (2.83 MJ/d) (p<0.001) by the age of 16-18 years.

This difference was less apparent when participants' body mass (kg) was taken into account (Table 7.2). Average daily food energy intake per kg body weight had fallen significantly by -0.02 MJ/kg/d, in the sample as a whole and in both males

(-0.03 MJ/kg/d) and females (-0.02 MJ/kg/d) separately (all p<0.001). Between males and females there was no significant difference (p>0.05) in average intake (MJ/kg/d) at either age (Table 7.6).

#### 7.1.2. Dietary fat intake

It can be seen from Table 7.1 that between ages 11-12 and 16-18 years fat intake (g/d) increased significantly (p<0.001) in the sample as a whole by 18.5 g/d. This increase was greater in males (34.2g/d; p<0.05) than females (10.3g/d; p<0.001). Subsequently, at age 16-18 years males consumed significantly (p<0.001) higher intakes of fat (28.9g/d more) than females (Table 7.4).

There was a significant (p<0.001) decrease in fat intake per unit body mass (g/kg/d) in both males and females (Table 7.2). On this basis males reported higher intakes of fat than females at both time points (age 11-12 and 16-18 years), but the gender difference was not significant at either age (p>0.05) (Table 7.6).

As a proportion of percent food energy intake (% FEI) the overall intake of fat fell slightly between age 11-12 and 16-18 years (Table 7.3) but this fall was not significant (p>0.05). Intakes of males increased (1% point) and intakes of females decreased (-0.75% point), but neither change was significant (p>0.05). At age 11-12 years intakes were slightly higher in females (35.1%) compared with males (34.6%). However this trend was reversed at age 16-18 years with females consuming 34.4% and males consuming 35.6% energy from fat (Table 7.5). There were no significant differences in % FEI from fat between sexes at age 11-12 (-0.53% point) or 16-18 years (+1.27% point) (both p>0.05) (Table 7.5).

### 7.1.3. Dietary carbohydrate intake

Carbohydrate intake (g/d) increased significantly (p<0.001) between age 11-12 and 16-18 years (Table 7.1). Mean intake increased by 38.6 g/d, however the increase observed in males (+69.1g/d) was somewhat greater than that of females (+24.7g/d). In contrast, intakes of carbohydrate (g/kg/d) fell significantly (p<0.001) (Table 7.2) over the same time period and there were no significant differences observed between intakes of males and females at either age (p>0.05) (Table 7.6).

The average percent of food energy intake (%FEI) derived from carbohydrate decreased significantly between age 11-12 and 16-18 years (p<0.001) (Table 7.3). Intakes of males fell significantly (-4.7% points; p<0.001) whilst little change was observed in intakes of females (-1% points; p>0.05). At age 11-12 years there was little difference in % FEI from carbohydrate between males (52.7%) and females (52.6%), however at age 16-18 years males consumed significantly less energy from carbohydrate (%FEI) than females (48% and 51% respectively) (p<0.05) (Table 7.5).

### 7.1.4. Dietary protein intake

For all participants and all units of expression (g/d, g/kg/d, %FEI) there was an increase in protein intake between ages 11-12 and 16-18 years (Table 7.1 to Table 7.3). However a non-significant (p>0.05) decrease in protein intake was observed in females when expressed per unit body weight (g/kg/d) (Table 7.2). On average males consumed more energy from protein than females at both time points but the difference was significantly greater at age 16-18 years (p<0.001) (Table 7.5).

### Summary of Chapter 7.1

- Absolute intakes of food energy (MJ/d) and macronutrients (g/d) increased over time in the whole sample with greater increases observed in males than females.
- At age 16-18 years percent food energy (%FEI) from protein in both males and females increased whilst percent food energy (%FEI) from carbohydrate decreased. Intakes of percent food energy (%FEI) from fat increased in males and decreased in females.
- When intake was expressed per unit body weight, protein intake (g/kg/d) increased in males whilst a decrease was observed in females. Total food energy (MJ/kg/d), fat (g/kg/d) and carbohydrate (g/kg/d) decreased in both males and females.

### 7.2. <u>Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from age 11-12 to 16-18</u> years

The first section of this chapter (7.1) sought to identify changes in nutrient intake between age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years. The focus of this section is to determine the extent to which the characteristics of dietary intake in childhood continued into late adolescence and to quantify tracking of dietary intake.

In the first instance, Pearson correlation analyses were carried out to assess the relationship between nutrient intakes at age 11-12 years (2000) and the corresponding nutrient intakes at age 16-18 years (2006) and are illustrated in Figure 7.1 to Figure 7.4. Table 7.7 to Table 7.9 show the mean intake of participants at age 11-12 and 16-18 years, for all participants by gender. The correlation coefficient of relationship between intakes at each time point is shown as Pearson's R with the significance of difference from zero (p value) established using the t-test indicated by asterisk (\*) and the percentage of variance explained by the  $r^2$  value.

Tracking, defined as the maintenance of relative position in rank of behaviour over time (Kelder *et al.* 1994) (Chapter 2.5), was used to determine the extent to which dietary intake in childhood continued into late adolescence. Participants were grouped into quartiles of intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years. Range of intake in each quartile by gender at age 11-12 and 16-18 years are shown in Table 7.10 to Table 7.20. The percentage of participants maintaining quartile position was assessed using cross tabulation (Table 7.10 to Table 7.20) and is illustrated by group in Figure 7.5 to Figure 7.9. By chance alone 25% of participants would be expected to maintain quartile position. Therefore to investigate the probability (strength of agreement) beyond chance that a participant would remain in the same quartile between the two time points the Kappa (k) test was applied to the cross tabulated data (Table 7.21).

174

To identify any social disparities, tracking of participants' mean intakes by social group (refer to Chapter 4) at each stage (age 11-12 and 16-18 years) (Figure 7.10 and Figure 7.11) were explored using the Kruskal Wallis test.

The correlations between food energy intake (MJ/d) and macronutrient intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years and corresponding intakes at age 16-18 years were modest ( $r^2 < 20\%$ ) though all correlations were significant (p<0.001) (Table 7.7). The relationship between intakes of food energy (MJ/d) was stronger in males (R =0.42;  $r^2=18\%$ ) than in females (R=0.36;  $r^2=13\%$ ). The correlations for fat intake (g/d) was greater in males (R=0.49) and explained 24% of the variance of fat intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years compared to R=0.30 and 9% in females. The correlations between carbohydrate and protein intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years and corresponding intakes at age 16-18 years were similar in males and females with the relationship for protein intake being slightly weaker in males (p<0.05) than females (p<0.001) (Table 7.7).

When energy and macronutrient intake were expressed by kg/body weight, the effect of intake at age 11-12 years on corresponding intakes at age 16-18 years was stronger (MJ/kg/d r<sup>2</sup>>30%, g/kg/d r<sup>2</sup>>20%). Likewise the correlation for fat intake (g/kg/d) was increased (Table 7.8) but as with absolute intakes (g/d) continued to be greater in males (R=0.60, r<sup>2</sup>=36%) than females (R=0.51, r<sup>2</sup>=26%). Carbohydrate and protein intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years had a stronger effect on female intakes at age 16-18 years (R=0.61, r<sup>2</sup>=37%; R=0.52, r<sup>2</sup>=27% respectively) than that of males (R=0.49, r<sup>2</sup>=24%; R=0.47, r<sup>2</sup>=22% respectively) (Table 7.8).

As a percentage of food energy intake (%FEI) the effect of all macronutrient intakes at age 11-12 years on intakes of corresponding nutrients at age 16-18 years was small (Table 7.9). The greatest (albeit weak) effect was found on males intake of fat (%FEI) at age 11-12 years which explained 20% of the variance at age 16-18 years. While the relationship between the intakes of % FEI from fat and carbohydrate at age 11-12 and

16-18 years were sigificant in both males (both p<0.001) and females (p<0.05; p<0.001 respectively), for protein intake when expressed as %FEI the relationship was significant only in females (p<0.001)(Table 7.9).



Food energy (MJ/kg/day) age 11 years

Figure 7.1 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between food energy intake (FEI) at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years



Figure 7.2 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between dietary fat intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years



Figure 7.3 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between carbohydrate intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years



Figure 7.4 Pearson correlation graphs to illustrate associations between protein intake at age 11-12 years and at age 16-18 years

					Correlation	Correlation Coefficient		
	Units	Sample	11-12	16-18	Pearson R	% variance $(r^2)$		
	Onits	Campic	years	years	T Carson R			
		All	7.9	9.8	0.42**	0.18		
Food Energy	MJ/d	Male	8.4	11.7	0.42**	0.18		
		Female	7.7	8.9	0.36**	0.13		
		All	75.2	93.8	0.39**	0.15		
Fat	g/d	Male	78.5	112.7	0.49**	0.24		
		Female	73.5	83.8	0.30**	0.09		
		All	260.9	292.9	0.43**	0.18		
Carbohydrate	g/d≠	Male	276.1	337.6	0.37**	0.14		
		Female	252.8	271.9	0.42**	0.18		
		All	55.3	79.2	0.42**	0.18		
Protein	g/d≠	Male	60.6	104.7	0.31*	0.10		
		Female	52.7	68.4	0.36**	0.13		

Table 7.7 The correlations between en	ergy intake (MJ/d) and	macronutrient intake (g/d) at
age 11-12 years with corresponding in	takes at age 16-18 year	rs
	Maan intaka	Correlation Coefficient

Table 7.8 The correlations between energy intake (MJ/kg/d) and macronutrient intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years with corresponding intakes at age 16-18 years

			Mean Intake		Correlation	Coefficient
	Units	Sample	11 -12	16-18	Pearson R	% variance $(r^2)$
	Onito	Campie	years	years	1 curson r	
		All	0.18	0.16	0.59**	0.35
Food Energy	MJ/kg/d	Male	0.19	0.16	0.56**	0.31
		Female	0.18	0.15	0.60**	0.36
		All	1.74	1.51	0.54**	0.29
Fat	g/kg/d	Male	1.80	1.61	0.60**	0.36
		Female	1.71	1.46	0.51**	0.26
		All	5.70	4.66	0.57**	0.32
Carbohydrate	g/kg/d≠	Male	6.00	4.75	0.49**	0.24
		Female	5.55	4.61	0.61**	0.37
		All	1.24	1.25	0.53**	0.28
Protein	g/kg/d≠	Male	1.35	1.47	0.47**	0.22
		Female	1.18	1.15	0.52**	0.27

	•		Mean	intake	Correlation	Coefficient
	Units	Sample	11-12	16-18	Pearson R	% variance $(r^2)$
	Onito	Campio	years	years	i caroon re	
	% food	All	35.0	34.9	0.28**	0.08
Fat	energy	Male	34.6	34.6	0.45**	0.20
	energy	Female	35.1	34.4	0.20*	0.04
	% food	All	52.7	50.4	0.31**	0.10
Carbohydrate	% 1000	Male	52.8	48.1	0.41**	0.17
	energy	Female	52.6	51.6	0.28**	0.08
	0/ faad	All	12.1	14.3	0.24**	0.06
Protein	% 1000	Male	12.6	15.7	0.03	0.00
	energy≠	Female	11.9	13.7	0.30**	0.09

Table 7.9 The correlations between p	ercent energy intake (%	FEI) derived from
macronutrients at age 11-12 years on	corresponding intakes	at age 16-18 years
	Maan intoka	Convolation Coefficie

### 7.2.1. Tracking of food energy intake (FEI)

Evidence of tracking was fairly strong in the lowest and highest quartiles of food energy intake (MJ/d) (Table 7.10 and Figure 7.5). Over 50% of both males (50%) and females (52%) maintained their position in the lowest quartile, and over 40% (44% males; 42% females) remained in the highest quartile. Tracking in the second and third quartiles was less evident, particularly in males, with less than 25% remaining in either quartile (12% and 18% respectively) (Table 7.10). Overall however, tracking of food energy intake (MJ/d) was poor at best (Table 7.21). A *k* of 0.16 for females and *k*=0.07 for males revealed that the probability that FEI (MJ/d) tracked between the two time points (age 11-12 and 16-18 years) was poor.

Quartile at age	of intake (MJ/d) e 11-12 years	Qua	Quartile group of food energy intake (MJ/d) at age 16-18 years		
	Range (MJ/d)	Gender	Range (MJ/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<7.2	Male	<9.5	50	
	<6.6	Female	<7.2	52	
Second	7.2 to 8.3	Male	9.5 to 11.3	12	
	6.6 to 7.7	Female	7.2 to 8.7	35	
Third	8.3 to 9.8	Male	11.3 to 13.5	18	
	7.7 to 8.8	Female	8.7 to 10.1	19	
Highest	>9.8	Male	>13.5	44	
	>8.8	Female	>10.1	42	

Table 7.10 Quartile of food energy intake (MJ/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (MJ/d) at age 11-12 years.



Figure 7.5 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position (MJ/d) at age 16-18 years.

When body weight was taken into consideration (MJ/kg/d), on the whole, evidence of tracking in all participants increased (Figure 7.6). This is also illustrated by the significant (p<0.001) Pearson correlation (R=0.59 r<sup>2</sup>=35%) in Table 7.8. Figure 7.6 shows that participants in the lowest quartile at age 11-12 years were less likely to move into the highest quartile at age 16-18 years (<5%), than the reverse scenario (<10%). Overall (lowest, second and highest quartiles), tracking of FEI (MJ/kg/d) was fair (Table 7.21) and slightly stronger in males (k=0.33) than females (k=0.24) (Table 7.11 and Table 7.21).

Quartile of intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 11-12 years		Quartile group of food energy intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 16-18 years		
	Range (MJ/kg/d)	Gender	Range (MJ/kg/d)	Maintenance of quartile Position (%)
Lowest	<0.15	Male	<0.13	50
	<0.14	Female	<0.11	48
Second	0.15 to 0.19	Male	0.13 to 0.16	59
	0.14 to 0.18	Female	0.11 to 0.15	32
Third	0.19 to 0.22	Male	0.16 to 0.20	35
	0.18 to 0.22	Female	0.15 to 0.19	41
Highest	>0.22	Male	>0.20	56
	>0.22	Female	>0.19	50

Table 7.11 Quartile of food en	nergy intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 16-	18 years by quartile of
intake (MJ/kg/d) at age 11-12	years.	



Figure 7.6 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position (MJ/kg/d) at age 16-18 years.

### 7.2.2. Tracking of dietary fat intake

Tracking of dietary fat intake (%FEI) was poor (k=0.15 males, k=0.06 females) (Table 7.21). In the lowest quartile a greater percentage of males (50%) than females (26%) maintained position whilst maintenance of the highest quartile position was similar for both males (38%) and females (39%) (Table 7.12). When expressed as absolute units (g/d) tracking of fat intake was greater than as %FEI (Table 7.21). Overall, strength of agreement (k) was greater in males (k=0.25, p<0.001) than females (k=0.15, p<0.05) (Table 7.21), and males (56%) were more likely than females (32%) to maintain the upper 50<sup>th</sup> centile of fat intake (g/d) (Table 7.13). As with total food energy intake (MJ/kg/d), in the study participants as a whole, stability of position for dietary fat intake was greater when expressed per unit body weight (g/kg/d), with over 40% maintaining position in each quartile (Figure 7.7). Tracking was similar for both males and females (Table 7.14) and there was fair strength of agreement (k=0.23 males, k=0.32 females) (Table 7.21).

Quartile At age	Quartile of intake (%FEI) At age 11-12 years		Quartile group of fat intake/day (%FEI) at age 16-18 years		
	Range (%FEI/day)	Gender	Range (%FEI/day)	Maintenance of quartile Position (%)	
Lowest	<31.8	Male	<33.0	50	
	<32.8	Female	<31.0	26	
Second	31.8 to 34.5	Male	33.0 to 36.0	35	
	32.8 to 35.5	Female	31.0 to 35.3	26	
Third	34.5 to 37.6	Male	36.0 to 39.5	24	
	35.5 to 37.7	Female	35.3 to 38.2	28	
Highest	>37.6	Male	>39.5	38	
	>37.7	Female	>38.2	39	

# Table 7.12 Quartile of % FEI from fat at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake at age 11-12 years

### Table 7.13 Quartile of fat intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile	Quartile of intake (g/d)			Quartile group of fat intake (g/d)	
At ag	At age 11-12 years			at age 16-18 years	
	Range (g/d)	Gender	Range (g/d)	Maintenance of quartile	
Lowest	<65.2 <61.5	Male Female	<90.2 <67.5	<u>position (%)</u> 44 48	
Second	65.2 to 78.4	Male	90.2 to 107.0	29	
	61.5 to 74.1	Female	67.5 to 82.0	32	
Third	78.4 to 90.3	Male	107.0 to 128.2	47	
	74.1 to 85.3	Female	82.0 to 98.8	31	
Highest	>90.3	Male	>128.2	56	
	>85.3	Female	>98.8	32	

# Table 7.14 Quartile of fat intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile At ag	Quartile of intake (g/kg/d) At age 11-12 years			ntake (g/kg/d) /ears
	Range (g/kg/d)	Gender	Range (g/kg/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)
Lowest	<1.39	Male	<1.23	44
	<1.25	Female	<1.02	52
Second	1.39 to 1.79	Male	1.23 to 1.54	47
	1.25 to 1.68	Female	1.02 to 1.42	42
Third	1.79 to 2.19	Male	1.54 to 1.96	29
	1.68 to 2.09	Female	1.42 to 1.74	50
Highest	>2.19	Male	>1.96	50
	>2.09	Female	>1.74	53



Figure 7.7 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of dietary fat intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)

#### 7.2.3. Tracking of dietary carbohydrate intake

Tracking of dietary carbohydrate (%FEI) was greater, albeit poor (k=0.19, p<0.05), in males than females (Table 7.21). In males, 50% of the lowest quartile and 44% of the highest quartile maintained position compared to 32% in each quartile respectively for females (Table 7.15). When expressed as g/d (<35%) and g/kg/day (<35%), stability of tracking for all participants was weaker in the second and third quartiles than the highest and lowest quartiles (Figure 7.8). Similar percentages of both males and females maintained the lowest (50% males; 45% females) and highest quartiles (44% males; 45% females) for carbohydrate intake (g/d) (Table 7.16). When body weight was taken into account (g/kg/d) maintenance of the lowest quartile position was greater in females (68% females; 50% males; 47% females) (Table 7.17). Overall tracking of carbohydrate intake (g/d) was poor for both males (k=0.19) and females (k=0.16), and was fair (k=0.23 males, k=0.26 females) when body weight (g/kg/d) was taken into consideration.

Quartile o at age	of intake (%FEI) 11-12 years	Quartile group of carbohydrate intak (%FEI) at age 16-18 years		ydrate intake/day /ears
	Range (%FEI/day)	Gender	Range (%FEI/day)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)
Lowest	<49.9	Male	<44.0	50
	<49.9	Female	<48.6	32
Second	49.9 to 52.0	Male	44.0 to 47.7	41
	49.9 to 52.6	Female	48.6 to 50.5	32
Third	52.0 to 56.2	Male	47.7 to 52.7	24
	52.6 to 55.6	Female	50.5 to 56.0	19
Highest	>56.2	Male	>52.7	44
	>55.6	Female	>56.0	32

# Table 7.15 Quartile of % FEI from carbohydrate at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake at age 11-12 years

## Table 7.16 Quartile of carbohydrate intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile	e of intake (g/d)	Quartile group of carbohydrate intake (		drate intake (g/d)
at ag	e 11-12 years	at age 16-18 years		vears
	Range (g/d)	Gender	Range (g/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)
Lowest	<228.2	Male	<273.5	50
	<213.5	Female	<224.2	45
Second	228.2 to 275.8	Male	273.5 to 334.6	29
	213.5 to 250.8	Female	224.2 to 277.5	26
Third	275.8 to 316.7	Male	334.6 to 414.3	35
	250.8 to 286.6	Female	277.5 to 331.8	31
Highest	>316.7	Male	>414.3	44
	>286.6	Female	>331.8	45

# Table 7.17 Quartile of carbohydrate intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile of intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years		Qua	Quartile group of carbohydrate intake (g/kg/d) At age 16-18 years		
	Range (g/kg/d)	Gender	Range (g/kg/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<4.79	Male	<3.80	50	
	<4.43	Female	<3.53	68	
Second	4.79 to 6.38	Male	3.80 to 4.81	29	
	4.43 to 5.75	Female	3.53 to 4.69	32	
Third	6.38 to 7.82	Male	4.81 to 5.84	35	
	5.75 to 7.26	Female	4.69 to 6.03	31	
Highest	>7.82	Male	>5.84	56	
	>7.26	Female	>6.03	47	



Figure 7.8 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of dietary carbohydrate intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)

### 7.2.4. Tracking of dietary protein intake

The weak correlation of protein intake (%FEI) at age 11-12 years and protein intake at age 16-18 years (Table 7.9) is illustrated further in Table 7.18 and Figure 7.9, with less than 35% of both males and females maintaining quartile position of %FEI (Table 7.18). The effect was stronger when protein intake was expressed as g/d (Table 7.10). Tracking was similar in males and females and strongest in the lowest (44% males; 42% females) and highest (44% males; 39% females) quartiles for both. As for the other macronutrients, evidence of tracking was stronger when body weight was taken into consideration (g/kg/d) (Table 7.11) with more than 60% (all participants) maintaining the lowest quartile position (Figure 7.9). Females (68%) were more likely than males (50%) to maintain the lowest quartile position, whilst similar figures were found for both males (44%) and females (43%) in the highest quartile (Table 7.20). Overall, for all units of expression (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d) tracking of dietary protein intake was poor (Table 7.21).

Quartile of intake (%FEI) at age 11-12 years		Quartile group of protein intake/day (%FEI) at age 16-18 years			
	Range (%FEI/day)	Gender	Range (%FEI/day	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<11.4	Male	<13.5	31	
	<10.4	Female	<12.0	32	
Second	11.4 to 12.7	Male	13.5 to 15.5	24	
	10.4 to 11.9	Female	12.0 to 13.7	16	
Third	12.7 to 14.2	Male	15.5 to 17.8	24	
	11.9 to 13.4	Female	13.7 to 15.4	34	
Highest	>14.2	Male	>17.8	25	
	>13.4	Female	>15.4	32	

# Table 7.18 Quartile of % FEI from protein at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake at age 11-12 years

### Table 7.19 Quartile of protein intake (g/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile of intake (g/d)		Quartile group of protein intake (g/d)			
at age 11-12 years		at age 16-18 years			
	Range (g/d)	Gender	Range (g/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<52.9	Male	<84.3	44	
	<44.4	Female	<56.1	42	
Second	52.9 to 59.0	Male	84.3 to 101.5	29	
	44.4 to 54.3	Female	56.1 to 69.5	23	
Third	59.0 to 70.8	Male	101.5 to 129.4	29	
	54.3 to 61.5	Female	69.5 to 85.9	22	
Highest	>70.8	Male	>129.4	44	
	>61.5	Female	>85.9	39	

## Table 7.20 Quartile of protein intake (g/kg/d) at age 16-18 years by quartile of intake (g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years

Quartile of intake (g/kg/d)		Quartile group of protein intake (g/kg/d)			
at age 11-12 years		at age 16-18 years			
	Range (g/kg/d)	Gender	Range (g/kg/d)	Maintenance of quartile position (%)	
Lowest	<1.05	Male	<1.23	50	
	<0.93	Female	<0.89	68	
Second	1.05 to 1.39	Male	1.23 to 1.52	35	
	0.93 to 1.22	Female	0.89 to 1.24	39	
Third	1.39 to 1.71	Male	1.52 to 1.83	24	
	1.22 to 1.54	Female	1.24 to 1.49	19	
Highest	>1.71	Male	>1.83	44	
	>1.54	Female	>1.49	43	



Figure 7.9 Percentage of participants maintaining relative quartile position of dietary protein intake at age 16-18 years (%FEI, g/d, g/kg/d)

	Males		Females			
	Ν	<i>k</i> *	р	n	<i>k</i> *	p
FEI (MJ/d)	66	0.07	0.32	125	0.16	<0.001
FEI (MJ/kg/d)	66	0.33	<0.001	124	0.24	<0.001
Fat %FEI	66	0.15	<0.05	125	0.06	0.24
Fat (g/d)	66	0.25	<0.001	125	0.15	<0.05
Fat (g/kg/d)	66	0.23	<0.001	124	0.32	<0.001
CHO %FEI	66	0.19	<0.05	125	0.05	0.33
CHO (g/d)	66	0.19	<0.05	125	0.16	<0.05
CHO (g/kg/d)	66	0.23	<0.001	124	0.26	<0.001
Protein % FEI	66	0.01	0.89	125	0.05	0.33
Protein (g/d)	66	0.15	<0.05	125	0.08	0.11
Protein (g/kg/d)	66	0.17	<0.05	124	0.23	<0.001

Table 7.21 Strength of agreement (*kappa*) for maintenance of quartile position between age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years

\*Strength of agreement: value of k <0.20=Poor; 0.21-0.40=Fair; >0.41=Moderate

### 7.2.5. Tracking of energy intake by social group

To identify social disparities in intakes of energy (MJ/d, MJ/Kg/d) or macronutrients (g/d, g/Kg/d, %FEI/d) mean intakes of each social group by gender were compared at each age using the Kruskal Wallis test. At age 11-12 years there were no significant differences between social groups (for males or females) for intakes of energy or macronutrients for any unit of expression. At age 16-18 years, in males only, participants from the low social group were more likely (*p*<0.01) to have higher intakes of fat (g/d, g/Kg/d) than those in the middle and high social groups (Figure 7.10 and Figure 7.11). There were no significant differences found for all other intakes of energy (MJ/d, MJ/Kg/d) or macronutrients (g/d, g/Kg/d, %FEI/d) at age 16-18 years.



Figure 7.10 Tracking of fat intake (g/d) by social group (males)



Figure 7.11 Tracking of fat intake (g/kg/d) by social group (males)

### Summary of Chapter 7.2

- There were significant Pearson correlations between intakes (MJ/d; g/d; MJ/kg/d; g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years and intakes at age 16-18 years in both males and females but evidence of tracking (*k*) was poor.
- The strongest evidence of tracking was for total food energy intake when expressed relative to body weight (MJ/kg/d) in both males (*k*=0.33) and females (*k*=0.24).
- On the whole participants in the highest and lowest quartiles were most likely to maintain their relative position of rank of dietary behaviour.
- There was evidence of social disparity in intakes of fat (g/d, g/kg/d) for males but not females and only at age 16-18 years with males from the low social group consuming highest intakes at age 11-12 and 16-18 years.

### 7.3. Discussion

#### 7.3.1. Change in dietary intake from age 11-12 years to 16-18 years

Few studies have explored the changes in dietary intake throughout adolescence (age 11-12 to 16-18 years) and those that have, are mainly cross-sectional in design rather than longitudinal (Nicklas *et al.* 2001; Alexy *et al.* 2002; Neumark Sztainer *et al.* 2003; Fletcher *et al.* 2004). There are few data therefore with which to directly compare results from the present study. Nevertheless it is interesting to explore how the changes reported in present study participants compare with longitudinal studies of other age groups (for example Singer *et al.* 1995; Post *et al.* 2001; Boreham *et al.* 2004; Craigie *et al.* 2004; Neumark Sztainer *et al.* 2004) (Figure 7.12 and Figure 7.13).

The primary focus of this chapter was to assess how nutrient intake from foods changed and tracked during the period of adolescence (Chapter 1). At age 16-18 years a large proportion of participants consumed alcohol which would have contributed to their total energy intake (Chapter 4.2.3). However, to make direct comparisons between intakes at age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years, expressing macronutrient intake as a percentage of food energy controlled for variations in alcohol intake between the two time points. For example the data reported at age 16-18 years was adjusted by deducting alcohol (g/d) from total food energy intake (MJ/d) and all macronutrients were re-calculated as a (%EI) from food (%FEI).

At age 16-18 years both males and females reported an increase in food energy intake (MJ/d) which is in agreement with males from the Young Hearts Study who reported higher intakes (MJ/d) at age 15 years than at age 12 years (Robson *et al.* 2000). In contrast at age 22 years both males and females in the same study reported significantly lower intakes of energy (MJ/d; P < 0.04) than at age 15 years (Boreham *et al.* 2004). Contrasting findings in terms of dietary change have been reported. Post *et al.* (2001) reported increases in energy intake (MJ/d) until the age of 21 years and a decrease at age 33 years, whilst Craigie *et al.* (2004) reported decreased intake (MJ/d)

in females but increased intake (MJ/d) in males at age 33 years when compared with energy intake at age 11-12 years.

Explanations for these differences can be postulated. Essentially all of the studies were carried for different lengths of time over different years and secular changes over time are inevitable. Also cultural differences a likely to be present. For example, while the present study and that reported by Craigie et al. (2004) are UK based studies, those reported by Robson et al. (2000) and Boreham et al. (2004) are studies of Northern Irish participants and the AGHALS study (Post et al. 2001) is an Amsterdam based study (Chapter 2.5.2). Additionally, the Young Hearts Study was in three phases YH1 (age 12 and 15 years) YH2 (YH1 at age 15 years) and YH3 (age 22 years). YH3 was a follow-up of two cohorts, i.e. participants who were age 15 years in YH1 and those who were age 15 years in YH2 (Boreham et al. 2004). Subsequently some of the participants studied in YH3 were not studied at age 12 years and therefore were not included in the data by Robson et al. (2000) which may account for the decrease in intakes reported at age 15 and age 22 years. A plausible explanation for the increase observed in the present study, is that the period between age 11-12 and 16-18 years is one of rapid growth and development and increases in energy intake are inevitable (Department of Health, 1991). Similarly at age 22 years changes in energy intakes (MJ/d) (Post et al. 2001; Boreham et al. 2004) may have been associated with the life course events occurring between age 16 and 22 years, such as the transition from education to employment, and moving out of the family home with friends or partners (Wills, 2005). The reductions in intake after this age may be due to the decreased energy demands and a reduction in physical activity levels (Craigie et al. 2004), a notion which might be investigated further in a follow-up study of these young people.

199



Figure 7.12 Energy intake (MJ/d) of present study participants (males) compared with other longitudinal studies



Figure 7.13 Energy intake (MJ/d) of present study participants (females) compared with other longitudinal studies

Whilst food energy was greater in males than in females at both age 11-12 and 16-18 years, the difference between the sexes increased over time (0.68MJ/d at 11-12 years; 2.83MJ/d at 16-18 years). This difference can be explained by the difference in body composition between males and females which increase as these young people approach physiological maturity (Chapter 2.2.1). Males were on average (12kg) heavier and (15cm) taller than females at 16-18 years (Chapter 4.4.2) and when body weight was accounted for (MJ/kg/d) there was no significant difference in food energy intake between males and females.

At age 16-18 years males reported significant increases in fat, carbohydrate and protein intake (g/d). Similar patterns were observed for females with the exception that an increase in protein intake was not significant. For both males and females intakes per kg body weight decreased between age 11-12 and 16-18 years. These findings were similar to those reported by Post *et al.* (2001) in which EI relative to body weight decreased until the age of 27 years in both males and females. This decrease continued in males at age 33 years whilst a slight increase was observed in females at age 33 years. The author also reported an increase in fat intake (g/d) in males until age 21 years and a decrease at age 33 years, but in females there was no significant change in fat intake (g/d) over the same period. Findings for protein intake were also similar, where males of both studies reported an increase over the study period.

Encouragingly, for both males and females there was little change in the average %FEI from fat which was around the recommended level of 35% at both ages (Department of Health 1991). Similarly Boreham et al. (2004) and Post et al. (2001) reported significant decrease in intakes of total fat (% energy P < 0.001) to around the recommended level of 35% at age 15 and 22 years. This might suggest that health messages (Chapter 2.3) are not just simply understood but are being reflected in dietary behaviour. The small change in fat intake (%FEI) and a similar decrease in carbohydrate (%FEI) also reported by Boreham et al. (2004), was mirrored by an increase in percent energy from protein (%FEI). This decrease in %FEI from carbohydrate may be attributable to a decline in consumption of breakfast cereals and fruit and vegetables. For example authors have reported changes in food consumption patterns during adolescence (Lytle et al. 2000; Demory Luce et al. 2004; Videon & Manning, 2003). In a five year study of US children aged 8 to 14 years, Lytle et al. (2000) reported decreases in breakfast consumption, and particularly the variety of healthful foods consumed. Conversely, in a UK study of young people's food practices during the transition to adulthood, Wills (2005) found that young people reported an increase in breakfast consumption during this time (age 16-24 years).

201
Preoccupation with body weight and diet is also a common occurrence, especially in female adolescents (Barker *et al.* 2000) and the advent of 'protein diets' such as the Atkins diet (Atkins, 2003) may have influenced the intake of these participants, particularly females. In a UK study of adolescent females, Barker *et al.* (2000) found that girls who reported being less satisfied with weight were also more likely to report lower intakes of percentage energy from fat and higher percentage energy from protein (Chapter 2.3.1). This preoccupation with body image also occurs in males for example eating certain foods such as protein drinks (Chapter 4.2.3) to make them more muscular, or to gain or lose weight (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 1999).

Studies of adolescents have also shown that smoking is associated with reduced intakes of protein, carbohydrate, fruits and vegetables (Crawley & While, 1995), however in this study there were no significant differences found in dietary intake between smokers or non-smokers of either sex (Chapter 4.6).

As explained at the beginning of this discussion, at age 16-18 years, alcohol contributed to the energy consumption of more than 68% of these study participants (Chapter 4.2.3). However, it is noteworthy that although the difference in total energy intake is greater (2.6MJ/d (EI); 1.9MJ/d (FEI)) between age 11-12 years and age 16-18 years (1.9MJ/d) when alcohol is taken into consideration, the direction of change as %EI for all macronutrients is the same as for %FEI. For example, intakes of %EI from fat and carbohydrate also decreased in both males and females at age 16-18 years while protein intake in both males and females increased albeit to a slightly lesser extent when alcohol was included. Therefore this reduction in energy intake from fat (%EI) and carbohydrate (%EI) is not simply a reflection of increased protein intake, but also of the addition of alcohol to the diet of these study participants, the effects of alcohol consumption are discussed in Chapter 4.6.5.

It should also be considered in respect of changes seen between childhood and adolescence in the present study, and between other studies, that changes in intake may be attributable not only to change in food consumption. Methodological differences (Chapter 2.5.2) were also present between studies and are likely to contribute to variation in reported data. In the present study participants completed 2 x 3 day food diaries and were interviewed to clarify their content (Chapter 3.3), whilst Boreham *et al.* (2004) for example used the diet history method which is reliant on memory of usual diet and therefore is more susceptible to error. The different methods employed to measure portion size may also have introduced bias and mis-reporting of dietary intake should also be considered (Chapter 2.4 and Chapter 5.3).

## 7.3.2. Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from age 11-12 to 16-18 years

There is evidence that dietary patterns formed in early life (Kelder *et al.* 1994; Singer *et al.* 1995; Wang *et al.* 2002) and in adolescence (Post *et al.* 2001; Craigie *et al.* 2004) may track into adulthood. However studies to date reporting the strength of tracking of diet during the adolescent years from childhood (age 11-12 years) to young adulthood (age 16-18 years) are scarce (Cusatis *et al.* 2000; Robson *et al.* 2000).

As reported by other authors (Cusatis *et al.* 2000; Robson *et al.* 2000; Post *et al.* 2001; Gallagher *et al.* 2005;) overall tracking of food energy and macronutrient intake in the present study was poor at best with less than 20% of the variance in intake at age 16-18 years explained by intake at age 11-12 years, and *kappa (k)* scores (Altman, 1991) of 0.16 for females and 0.07 for males. This contrasts with the much stronger tracking observed for body weight (Chapter 6). However in agreement with Dunn *et al.* (2000) and Craigie *et al.* (2004) there was a tendency to remain within the broad category of ranking with over 50% of those who were very low (MJ/d) or very high (MJ/d) consumers at age 11-12 years remaining to be as such at age 16-18 years.

As a percentage of total food energy intake (%FEI), evidence of tracking for macronutrients was also poor (k<0.20) in both males and females. Of particular note is the small percentage of females who maintained their position in the lowest quartile (26%) for fat intake (%FEI) suggesting that almost three quarters of the quartile increased their percentage energy from fat, which may be consistent with the notion that adolescents (age 16-18 years) eat an unhealthy, and in particular a high fat diet (Henderson *et al.* 2002; Larson *et al.* 2006). These findings were similar to those reported by Cusatis *et al.* (2000) in which females with the highest diet quality at age 12 years showed significant deterioration throughout adolescence. In agreement with Craigie *et al.* (2004) tracking of FEI and fat intake were stronger when expressed per unit body weight. The values for FEI (MJ/kg/d), which were fair (k=0.24 females) to moderate (k=0.33 males), were similar to data reported by Robson *et al.* (2000).

It is widely acknowledged that measurement of dietary intake is subject to methodological errors such as mis-reporting (Chapter 5.3). This may help explain the weaker tracking of nutrients compared with body size (height and weight) which can be measured with greater precision (Chapter 2.2.1). Furthermore methodological differences between dietary data collections, time period lapses between sampling periods and methods used for the calculation of tracking coefficients (Chapter 2.5) make it difficult to compare meaningfully the datasets (Gallagher *et al.* 2005).

In addition, changes that occur during adolescence are erratic and it might be intuitively assumed that in striving for greater autonomy, intakes at this age would be less likely to show evidence of tracking. In childhood, intakes are dictated by parental guidance and reporting of intakes may also be influenced by parents therefore increasing the probability of tracking at this younger age (Singer *et al.*1995). During adolescence societal influences become more influential and therefore change is more likely to occur over this time (Chapter 2.3.1).

It is also possible that as with BMI (Chapter 6) dietary behaviour in late adolescence may be more inclined to stabilise and persist into adulthood; however no studies to date have explored this notion and might be investigated further in a follow-up study of these participants. Furthermore it might be postulated, that if dietary intake does stabilise in late adolescence this would be a key time for preventative measures of unhealthful behaviours to be in place.

#### Social group effects on tracking of energy intake

Interestingly none of the studies discussed above reported any social group effects on the tracking of energy intake. In this study the only evidence of social disparity in tracking was in dietary intake of fat for male participants. In absolute terms (g/d) there was an increase in fat intake across all social groups but there was a significantly greater increase in participants from the low social group. This social disparity in fat intake continued to be evident when body weight (g/kg/d) was taken into consideration suggesting that the greater fat intake was not simply a reflection of greater increase in body mass. This disparity may in part be explained by the environments (Lake and Townshend. 2006) in which participants live and work. For example in lower socioeconomic areas there may be a greater number of food outlets where the availability of healthy choices are constrained, such as 'pie shops' and 'fish and chip shops'. Education (or lack of) may also be a factor in the choices of these young males where health and nutrition is not a priority (Chapter 2.3).

#### 8. MODELLING THE PREDICTION OF ADIPOSITY IN LATE ADOLESCENCE

- Introduction
- 8.1 Anthropometric outcome variables investigated
- 8.2 Factors tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years
- 8.3 Variables that most strongly predict BMI at age 16-18 years
- 8.4 Variables that most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years
- 8.5 Variables that most strongly predict waist circumference (WC) at age 16-18 years
- 8.6 Variables that most strongly predict waist circumference hip circumference ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years
- 8.7 Discussion

#### Introduction

Obesity has come to be considered a global epidemic and excess body weight is now the most common childhood disorder in Europe (World Health Organization, 2003). However the aetiology of overweight and obesity is complex and multifaceted (Butland *et al.* 2007). Studies have reported a number of plausible contributory factors of obesity in children and adolescents but expert opinion is divided on the primary causal factor (World Health Organization, 2003b) (Chapter 2.2).

The previous chapters have described the participants of the present study in terms of their demographic characteristics, anthropometric measurements and health related behaviours at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4); compared the height, weight and BMI of study participants at age 16-18 years with those of the same individuals at age 11-12 years (Chapter 6); provided estimates of changes in, and tracking of, anthropometric measurements (focussed on overweight and obesity) between age 11-12 and 16-18 years (Chapter 6); compared the dietary intake from age 16-18 years with that of these young people at age 11-12 years (Chapter 7) and provided estimates of changes in, and tracking of, diet over this period of adolescence (Chapter 7). Each of these

chapters also investigated the individual relationships between each variable with a primary focus on the contributory factors to adiposity at age 16-18 years.

The aim of this chapter is to enlarge on those findings and investigates the relationship between a combination of individual variables and anthropometric outcomes at age 16-18 years.

General linear modelling (Chapter 3.9.5) was used to explore the effect of each variable in turn (Figure 8.1). The remainder of this chapter describes the models which explain the largest proportion of the variation in adiposity at age 16-18 years.

#### 8.1. Anthropometric outcome variables investigated

As discussed in previous chapters, BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was used as a proxy measure of adiposity in the baseline study at age 11-12 years and consequently was the main measure of adiposity in this follow-up study at age 16-18 years (Chapter 8.3). Due to the health risks associated with the distribution of adiposity (Chapter 2.2) predictors of % body fat (Chapter 8.4), waist circumference (WC) (Chapter 8.5) and waist to hip ratio (WHR) (Chapter 8.6) at age 16-18 years were also investigated.

#### 8.2. Factors tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years

The factors tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years were broadly categorised into variables measured at age 11-12 years and variables measured at age 16-18 years (Figure 8.1). Given the focus of this thesis is energy balance (Chapter 1), dietary intake and anthropometric variables at each age were the primary factors, with social group and lifestyle factors at age 16-18 years also considered. The following sections describe these variables in more detail.



Figure 8.1 Variables tested as predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years

#### 8.2.1. Demographic factors

In the first instance, to investigate whether the predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years differed between males and females, gender was tested as an interaction term with each factor (Appendix 11). A priori, following statistical advice, if more than half of the factors for each adiposity outcome were influenced by gender, then separate analyses were carried out for each gender. BMI was the only outcome found not to be influenced by gender, thus all outcome variables, other than BMI at age 16-18 years, were analysed separately by gender.

Social group was obtained by parental occupation at age 11-12 years (Chapter 3.2) and categorised into high, middle and low social groups (Fletcher *et al.*, 2004) for

inclusion in these analyses. 'Unclassified' generally refers to participants for whom insufficient information was provided to enable classification (Chapter 3.2), for this reason participants from this group (n=12) were not included in these analyses. Education and/or employment status (Chapter 4.2.1) of participants were also included in the analyses.

#### 8.2.2. Anthropometric factors

BMI was the only anthropometric measurement of adiposity at age 11-12 years and this was measured as the log<sub>e</sub> of BMI (Chapter 4.2.2)at age 11-12 years. Chapter 6 discussed the relationship between BMI at age 11-12 years and BMI at age 16-18 years. The influence of BMI at age 11-12 years on all other measures of adiposity at age 16-18 years was also investigated (Chapter 6.1.3). This chapter investigates whether the strength of association remains when other variables are considered. The relationships (and health risks associated with) between each measure of adiposity at age 16-18 years have been discussed in Chapter 4.

#### 8.2.3. Dietary intake

Diet and lifestyle factors are reported to be the primary reason for the high rates of excessive body fat (Willet, 1998). The key causes of the global increase in overweight and obesity have been identified as increased consumption of energy-dense foods high in fats and sugars, increased sedentary behaviour and reduced physical activity (Butland *et al.* 2007). Individual relationships between dietary intake at age 16-18 years and adiposity at age 16-18 years were discussed in Chapter 4. Chapter 7 described the influence of dietary intake at age 11-12 years on intake at age 16-18 years. This chapter describes the relationships between dietary intake at age 11-12 years and adiposity at age 16-18 years, and explores the extent to which intake of selected nutrients at both ages in combination might predict adiposity at age 16-18 years.

The nutrients tested were:

- Total energy intake (MJ) (with and without alcohol at age 16-18 years)
- Total fat (%EI)
- Total Carbohydrate (%EI)
- Protein (%EI)

#### 8.2.4. Lifestyle

• Social group at age 11-12 years was tested in each model.

The lifestyle factors at age 16-18 years tested in the models were:

- Level of alcohol consumption
- Smoking behaviour
- Self reported physical activity
- Measured daily physical activity levels

Each of these variables are described in detail in Chapter 4.

#### 8.2.5. Developing the models

The method used to produce a regression model for each outcome is discussed in Chapter 3.9.5. Briefly, each of the variables was investigated in turn. Where there were significant relationships, the most significant variable was considered as the primary variable. Each of the other variables was combined stepwise with the primary variable, to produce the most significant relationship. This sequence continued until all significant relationships were identified and no further influence was detected. Final models were produced based on the strongest relationships and are illustrated in Equation 8.1 to Equation 8.7 and Figure 8.1 to Figure 8.8<sup>1</sup>.

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  Shaded boxes represent the baseline variable set at 1. all other variables in that category take on values +/-regression coefficient x 1

#### 8.3. Variables that most strongly predict BMI at age 16-18 years

Log <sub>e</sub> BMI at age 16-18 years = $0.942$ + $0.720(Log_{e} BMI at age 11-12 years)$
<ul> <li>- 0.026 if daily smoker</li> <li>+ 0.006 if occasional smoker</li> <li>+ 0.062 if used to smoke if never smoked</li> </ul>
+ 0.056 if unemployed + 0.063 if only work part time + 0.068 if work full time + 0.047 if at college if in 6 <sup>th</sup> form

Equation 8.1 Regression equation to predict log<sub>e</sub> BMI at age 16-18 years

As discussed in Chapter 6 for both males and females, BMI at age 11-12 years was predictive of BMI at age 16-18 years. Given the strength of association (R=0.72) it was no surprise that this association remained when other factors were added to the model. Together with BMI at age 11-12 years, whether a person 'used to smoke' and if attending college or working was their primary occupation (Figure 8.2) explained 53% of the variation in BMI at age 16-18 years. No other factor added significantly to this model. In females only, EI at age 16-18 years was negatively associated with BMI at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) however the predictive effect was lost when combined with BMI at age 11-12 years, indicating that the association may a result of underreporting of dietary intake (Chapter 5.3) in females. Energy or nutrient intake at age 11-12 years was not significantly associated with BMI at age 16-18 years in either males or females. Alcohol intake of both males and females at age 16-18 years was positively and significantly associated with BMI at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) however, there was no predictive effect when combined with other variables in the model. There were no significant association between any measures of physical activity and BMI at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.4).



Figure 8.2 Variables found to most strongly predict BMI at age 16-18 years

#### 8.4. Variables that most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years

<b>% Body Fat at age 16-18 years (male)</b> = -44.845 + 18.713(Log <sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years)
+ 5.830 if unemployed + 3.360 if in full time work + 3.205 if at college (if at 6 <sup>th</sup> form)

#### Equation 8.2 Regression equation to predict % body fat at age 16-18 years (males)

```
% Body Fat at age 16-18 years (female)
= - 99.005
+ 37.747(Log<sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years)
+1.332 if daily smoker
- 0.654 if occasional smoker
+ 4.007 if used to smoke
If never smoked
```

#### + 0.303 (%EI from fat at age 11-12 years)

#### Equation 8.3 Regression equation to predict % body fat at age 16-18 years (females)

Whilst there was a weaker association between BMI at age 11-12 years and % body fat at age 16-18 years (than of BMI at age 16-18 years) (Chapter 6.1.3), it too was the strongest predictor of % body fat in models for both males and females. In males 38% of the variance in % body fat at age 16-18 years was explained by BMI at age 11-12 years and education/employment status. In females' different factors to those of males contributed to the model. BMI at age 11-12 years, smoking status and % EI derived from fat at age 11-12 years collectively explained 48% of the variance in % body fat at age 16-18 years.

At age 16-18 years energy intake or energy composition (EI or % EI) by males was not found to be significantly associated with % body fat at age 16-18 years. Interestingly in females, intakes of fat (%EI) at age 16-18 years were negatively (p<0.05) associated with % body fat at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) but this association was lost when other factors were taken into consideration and therefore this was not found to contribute to the final model (Equation 8.3). Energy intake or energy composition (EI or %EI) at 11-12 years, of either males or females was not significantly associated with % body fat at age 16-18 years. However in females only, when combined with BMI at age 11-12 years, fat intake (as %EI) at age 11-12 years was found to be a significant (p<0.05) predictor of % body fat at age 16-18 years.

Smoking at age 16-18 years was also a significant (p<0.05) predictor of females % body fat at age 16-18 years when combined with BMI at age 11-12 years. However when both variables were added to the model at the same time, the effect of smoking at age 16-18 years became less significant (p=0.07). Nevertheless both fat intake (%EI) and smoking status have been included in the final model as the percentage variance explained was greater when combined.



Figure 8.3 Variables found to most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years (Males)



Figure 8.4 Variables found to most strongly predict % body fat at age 16-18 years (females)

#### 8.5. Variables that most strongly predict waist circumference at age 16-18

<u>years</u>

Waist circumference at age 16-18 years (male) = 3.315	
+ 0.361(Log <sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years)	
<ul> <li>0.065 if daily smoker</li> <li>+ 0.143 if occasional smoker</li> <li>+ 0.030 if used to smoke</li> <li>if never smoked</li> </ul>	
+ 0.087 if unemployed + 0.038 if in full time work + 0.073 if at college if at 6 <sup>th</sup> form	
<ul> <li>+ 0.030 if used to smoke if never smoked</li> <li>+ 0.087 if unemployed</li> <li>+ 0.038 if in full time work</li> <li>+ 0.073 if at college if at 6<sup>th</sup> form</li> </ul>	

Equation 8.4 Regression equation to predict waist circumference at age 16-18 years (males)

Waist circumference at age 16-18 years (female) = 2.726
+ 0.524(Log <sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years)
+ 0.022 If daily smoker
+ 0.015 if occasional smoker
+ 0.069 if used to smoke
if never smoked
- 0.044 if unemployed
+ 0.047 if in part time work
+ 0.058 if in full time work
+ 0.050 if at college
if at 6 <sup>th</sup> form
- 0.003 if high alcohol consumed
+ 0.044 if low alcohol consumed
if no alcohol consumed

Equation 8.5 Regression equation to predict waist circumference at age 16-18 years (females)

Although separate models were produced for males and females, similar variables contributed to the final models for the prediction of WC at age 16-18 years. The strongest predictors of WC were similar to those of BMI and explained a comparable percent of the variance in WC (54% males, 50% females) as for BMI (53%). The relationships for each of the sexes were quite different however. In males the development of a high WC at age 16-18 years was most likely if they had a high BMI at age 11-12 years, were an occasional smoker (p=0.005) and unemployed at age 16-18

years (Figure 8.5). In contrast females were most likely to have a high WC at 16-18 years if they had a high BMI at age 11-12 years, used to smoke, were at college and were also low alcohol consumers (Figure 8.6). As with BMI at 16-18 years (Chapter 8.3) neither dietary intake at age 11-12 or 16-18 years, or physical activity contributed significantly to the models for the prediction of WC at age 16-18 years.



Figure 8.5 Variables found to most strongly predict waist circumference at age 16-18 years (males)



Figure 8.6 Variables found to most strongly predict waist circumference at age 16-18 years (females)

#### 8.6. Variables that most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18

<u>years</u>

```
WHR at age 16-18 years (male)
= -0.808
+ 0.209(Log<sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years)
- 0.036 if does not participate in activity
if take part in activity
```

Equation 8.6 Regression equation to predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years (males)

WHR at age 16-18 years (female) = -0.742 + 0.151(Log<sub>e</sub> BMI at age 11-12 years) + 0.011 if high consumption of alcohol + 0.039 if low consumption of alcohol If no alcohol consumed + 0.043 if unemployed + 0.031 if in part time work + 0.037 if in full time work + 0.047 if at college if at 6<sup>th</sup> form

### Equation 8.7 Regression equation to predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years (females)

Whilst much less of the variance in WHR at age 16-18 years was explained (Figure 8.7 and Figure 8.8), BMI at age 11-12 years continued to be the strongest predictive factor of WHR of both males and females at age 16-18 years. Intriguingly male WHR at 16-18 years was the only anthropometric outcome predicted by a measure of physical activity. Thus if a male had a high BMI at age 11-12 years they were predicted to have a higher WHR at age 16-18 years, however this effect was reduced if they did not take part in activity (self report) (see Chapter 4.4) at age 16-18 years. These two variables explained 31% of the variance in male WHR at age 16-18 years. Similar to WC (Chapter 8.5), females were more likely to develop a high WHR if they had a high BMI at age 11-12 years, were at college (rather than 6<sup>th</sup> form) and were low alcohol consumers (rather than consuming no alcohol in the reporting period), however all three variables explained only 22% of the variance in female WHR at age 16-18 years

(Figure 8.8). Although measured 'hard activity' was significantly negatively correlated with WHR in both males (R=-0.36) and females (R=-0.28) (Chapter 4) neither of these variables contributed significantly to either model (Figure 8.7 and Figure 8.8).



Figure 8.7 Variables found to most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years (males)



Figure 8.8 Variables found to most strongly predict waist to hip ratio (WHR) at age 16-18 years (females)

#### 8.7. Discussion

The baseline factors tested in the models, based on the findings of a comprehensive review by Parsons *et al.* (1999) of childhood predictors of adult obesity, were adiposity in childhood and diet in childhood (11-12 years) and adolescence (16-18 years). Parsons *et al.* (1999) considered that the relationship between childhood and adult fatness was established, whilst the relationship between childhood diet and adult fatness was less well understood. The remaining factors were based on socio-demographic and lifestyle factors measured at age 16-18 years and a similar study investigating the predictors of adult obesity from age 11-12 years (Craigie *et al.* 2004). In addition, physical activity levels and smoking were included; physical activity due the fundamentals of activity in energy balance and smoking as an indicator of an additional health related behaviours that could have an influence on adiposity through altered patterns of nutrient intake (Dallongeville *et al.* 1998).

Factors found to be predictive of body composition at age 16-18 years differed between the sexes. However it was clear that for both males and females, BMI at age 11-12 years was the strongest predictor of BMI, % body fat, WC and WHR at age 16-18 years. The models illustrate clearly that the influence of BMI in adolescence is strong enough that it is not confounded by any of the other factors that were tested. These findings emphasise the point that having a relatively high BMI in early adolescence is an independent risk factor for having a high BMI and high abdominal fat accumulation in young adulthood and therefore becoming or remaining overweight or obese. Furthermore, from a public health perspective, measures to prevent adiposity in adulthood should be taken during childhood and continued into adolescence.

Current nutrient intake (age 16-18 years) was not found to be a good predictor of body size at age 16-18 years. Although in chapter 4, for females only there were significant negative correlations between total energy intake (MJ/d) and BMI and WC at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) the effect was lost when combined with all other variables in the

models. The same finding was true for the significance of association between lower intakes of fat (%EI) and lower % body fat in females (Chapter 4.3). Widely reported difficulties in measuring accurate dietary intake (Chapter 2.4), such as the greater number of females under-reporting their dietary intake (Chapter 5.3) in this study, is the most likely explanation for these findings. However, current dieting behaviour, particularly in females of this age group (Neumark Sztainer *et al.* 2007) may also in part explain these findings. Similarly dietary behaviour at this age of adolescence (age 16-18 years) is unstable (Chapter 7.3.2) and therefore less likely to be predictive of adiposity at this age. At age 11-12 years %EI derived from fat was the only dietary variable found to be predictive of body composition, being a significant predictor of % body fat at age 16-18 years. Suggesting that the effects of high %EI derived from fat on adiposity are already established in childhood, however intervention during adolescence may reduce the effect in young adulthood.

Alcohol intake of both males and females at age 16-18 years was positively and significantly associated with BMI at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) however, there was no predictive effect when combined with other variables in the model. This indicates that the association was not necessarily causative i.e. higher alcohol consumers in late adolescence are not necessarily predisposed to high BMI. Nevertheless the importance of reducing the level of alcohol consumption in adolescence (age 16-18 years) should not be overlooked (Chapter 4.6.5).

Physical activity, either measured directly or self reported was not found to be a good predictor of body composition, the only significant association was a negative effect (relatively small effect compared with the influence of BMI) of not taking part in activity on WHR in males, indicating that males who were physically inactive were more likely to have lower WHR once BMI at age 11-12 years was taken into account. The direction of this association was not surprising given the large body of literature that has produced inconsistent results. Sallis *et al.* (2000), Ball *et al.* (2001) and Ekelund *et* 

*al.* (2002) for example found greater activity levels to be associated with lower BMI's. Treuth *et al.* 2005 reported BMI positively associated with sedentary time; and negatively correlated with time spent in light activity. Similarly, Ortega *et al.* (2007) reported children and adolescents with low levels of vigorous physical activity were more likely to be overweight. On the one hand the inconsistency of these results could be explained by the way in which the data were analysed, on the other there is a high probability that the findings are as a result of small sample size. Similarly there are a number of validated cut-off points for defining accelerometer counts into activity levels which are likely to produce inconsistent results between studies.

Whilst there were a number of variables found to contribute to the prediction of each measure of body composition the most significant predictor in all outcomes was BMI at age 11-12 years. Evidently the list of variables included is not exhaustive, however due to the timescale and limitations of this thesis only those considered as 'primary variables' have been explored in the production of the models.

It can be speculated that the little evidence predictive of body composition at age 16-18 years might be due to limitations of this study. For example the focus of this thesis is energy balance and its effect on adiposity; the contributors to energy balance are energy intake (dietary intake) and energy expenditure (physical activity). However, body composition is a reflection of long term energy intake and expenditure, and energy intake was measured at two time points whilst energy expenditure was measured at one time point only (Chapter 3). A further limitation of this aspect of the study is that there are only two time points: age 11-12 years and again at a time of much change and transition at age16-18 years. In addition only 6 days of data at each time point were measured, hence a total of 12 days of measurement over approximately six years were recorded. Therefore in order to detect any significant relationship between energy balance and adiposity it may be necessary to increase the

frequency of measurement. Similarly, it may be that the methods or duration of

assessment were not adequate to truly measure habitual behaviours.

#### 9 FINAL SUMMARY

Overweight and obesity are defined as "abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health" (World Health Organization, 2005). While genetic make up may be important in determining a person's susceptibility to weight gain, an individual's energy balance is determined by energy intake and energy expenditure. The key causes of the global increase in overweight and obesity are cited as diet and lifestyle factors, such as habitual consumption of energy-dense foods (high in fat, low in fibre and sugar-rich drinks), increased sedentary behaviour and reduced physical activity (Jebb, 2007). Prevention of obesity is a global public health priority and has led to intense research activity seeking to understand the factors which promote or prevent healthy diet and lifestyle behaviours. Exploration of tracking of health-related behaviours and of adiposity can inform policy, and direct interventions to focus on agegroups or life stages which are likely to be most effective in promoting lifelong healthy lifestyle behaviours. Understanding when adult lifestyle behaviours are established is essential to identifying optimum 'windows of opportunity' for intervention.

It is known that being overweight as an adolescent is associated with being overweight as an adult (Lean, 2000; Guo *et al.* 2002; Craigie *et al.* 2004). In addition there is some evidence that eating habits formed in adolescence continue into adulthood (Lake *et al.* 2004a) but few studies have investigated tracking of lifestyle behaviours important in determining obesity risk at this critical stage of the life-course.

The purpose of this study was to test the hypothesis that diet and adiposity track from early to late adolescence. The original aims of this study are presented below with a summary of the main findings relating to each aim:

# Aim i) To describe adiposity and lifestyle characteristics (dietary intake, physical activity, smoking behaviour) of these young people at age 16-18 years.

These young people were from various socioeconomic backgrounds, and although distribution were similar to the original study population, there were a greater number of participants from the high (56%) social group than from the middle (25%) and low (12%) social groups (Chapter 4.2).

The mean BMI of all participants at age 16-18 years was 22.3 (22.1 females; 22.4 males) and prevalence of overweight of obesity was 20% in females and 31% in males. Prevalence was lower when classified according to percent body fat (19% females; 12% males). In females there was little effect of social group on BMI and % body fat. There were however social disparities in BMI & % body fat for males, with participants in the high social group exhibiting lower mean BMI and lower mean % body fat than those in the middle and lower social groups (Chapter 4.2 and Chapter 6.2.2). Females were at greatest risk of cardiovascular disease from abdominal fatness (Lean, *et al.* 1995) with 42% of females in the highest quartile for BMI having waist measurements  $\geq$ 88cm. A further 45% (highest quartile) and 23% (third quartile) were at increased risk (WC $\geq$ 80cm).

Average total energy intakes (MJ/d) for both males and females were greater than the Department of Health (1991) reference values for 15 to 18 year olds (Chapter 4.2.3). Similarly, almost 50% of both males and females reported consuming almost 50% of their energy from dietary fat. Encouragingly, there were positive associations between EI (MJ/d) and all measures of physical activity in males. In females only there were negative associations with energy intake (MJ/d) and both BMI and WC. There was also a negative association between %EI from fat and % body fat in females but not males.

Of the 49% of participants for whom measured physical activity was recorded (Chapter 4.2.3), 91% of males and 84% of females achieved the health recommendation for

engaging in at least<sup>1</sup> moderate activity for more than half an hour per day. Male participants who engaged in hard physical activity (Table 4.13) were more likely to have lower % body fat and lower WHR, but no association was found with BMI.

Cigarette smoking was in the minority, with 20% of all participants reporting smoking either occasionally or on a regular basis. Female smokers were also more likely to be high alcohol consumers. Alcohol consumption during the study period was reported by 68% of participants (60% males; 72% females). Interestingly, high alcohol consumption was associated with high BMI and high % body fat in both males and females.

### Aim ii) To identify changes in, and tracking of, adiposity from 11-12 years to 16-18 years.

The prevalence of overweight males (21%) at age 11-12 years increased (+9% points) at age 16-18 years, whilst the percentage of overweight females (27%) decreased (-12% points). The prevalence of obesity in males (6%) at age 11-12 years decreased (-5% points) at age 16-18 years whilst the prevalence of obesity in females (2%) increased (+3% points) by the age of 16-18 years (Chapter 6.1.4).

There were highly significant evidence of tracking of BMI from age 11-12 years to age 16-18 years (Figure 6.2), particularly evident in those in the highest and lowest quartiles for BMI (Chapter 6.2.1); BMI at age 11-12 years was also strongly associated with all measures of adiposity at age 16-18 years (Chapter 6.1.3 and Chapter 8). Females were more likely than males to maintain their BMI classification at age 16-18 years (Chapter 6.2.1). Both males and females of the low social group were more likely than the other social groups, to remain in the highest quartile of BMI (Chapter 6.2.2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> includes moderate, hard and very hard activity

Aim iii)To identify changes in, and tracking of, energy intake and macronutrient contribution to energy of these participants between ages 11-12 years and 16-18 years.

Absolute intakes of food energy (MJ/d) and macronutrients (g/d) of both males and females increased significantly, with greater increases observed in males than females. Overall there was a non significant increase in %FEI from fat over time. In males, a significant decrease in %FEI from carbohydrate was mirrored by a significant increase in %FEI from protein (Chapter 7.1). When intake was expressed per unit body weight, protein intake (g/kg/d) increased in males whilst a decrease was observed in females. Total food energy (MJ/kg/d), fat (g/kg/d) and carbohydrate (g/kg/d) decreased in both males and females.

There were significant Pearson correlations between intakes (MJ/d; g/d; MJ/kg/d; g/kg/d) at age 11-12 years and intakes at age 16-18 years in both males and females, but evidence of tracking (k) was poor (Chapter 7.2). The strongest evidence of tracking was for total food energy intake when expressed relative to body weight (MJ/kg/d) in both males (k=0.33) and females (k=0.24). Evidence of social disparity in intakes of fat (g/d, g/kg/d) for males at age 16 to 18 (aim i) was already apparent at age 11-12 years with males from the low social group consuming highest intakes at both time points.

#### Aim iv) To determine factors predicting adiposity at age 16-18 years.

BMI at age 11-12 years remained the strongest predictor of BMI and all other measures of adiposity (% body fat; WC; WHR) at age 16-18 years when other factors were added to the models (Chapter 8.3 to 8.6). Other than BMI at age 11-12 years, all other measured factors (Chapter 8.1) were influenced by gender. Smoking status and employment status were significant predictors in each of the models. Physical activity was predictive only of WHR in males only, while alcohol was associated with WC and WHR in females only. Current dietary variables were not found to predictive of adiposity at age 16-18 years when other variables were added to the models (Chapter 8 and Chapter 4). At age 11-12 years %EI derived from fat was the only dietary variable found to be predictive of body composition, being a significant predictor of % body fat at age 16-18 years.

#### 9.1. Description of participants at age 16-18 years

With considerable effort this study achieved complete data from 193 of the 424 (45%) young people who had taken part in a similar study when the subjects were aged 11-12 years. The strengths of this study are that it provides a unique sample of measured dietary intake, anthropometric and physical activity data in young people aged 16-18 years for whom similar data (diet and anthropometric data) are available at 11-12 years. However there is a limitation in that not all the 2000 study sample participated in 2006.

Whilst there was a fairly even gender distribution at baseline (2000), only 34% of males compared with 55% of females participated in this follow-up (2006) study. Although both males and females from the unclassified (Chapter 3.2) social groups were less likely to take part in this follow-up study (only 10% of males and 38% of females from this group participated in this follow up study), the number of subjects in the unclassified group was small and, on the whole, social group appeared to have little effect on participation in the follow-up study. The social group distribution of participants in 2006 was similar to that of the 2000 study with relatively high proportion of participants from the high social group in both studies (58% males, 55% females in 2006; 49% males, 45% females in 2000).

In terms of primary occupation of participants, most participants (83% (73% male; 89% female)) remained in education at age 16-18 years (although it should be noted that some participants also worked part-time whilst studying at college). In terms of primary

occupation, males were similar to those of the same age group in the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS) (Gregory *et al.* 2000) participants. Compared with the NDNS, females in the present study were less likely to have left full time education, which may be a reflection of both secular changes in participation in full-time education and the results of government policy to encourage teenagers to remain in full time education (http://ema.direct.gov.uk).

Adolescence is a period when a significant proportion of females are concerned about their weight (Chapter 2.3.1). For example in a Scottish study of non-obese adolescents (15 years of age) in 2008, 18.8% males compared with 40.1% females in a study of non-obese adolescents were concerned about their weight (Sweeting *et al.* 2008). Given that female non-participants were on average 2.3kg heavier than female participants when aged 11-12 years (Chapter 5), being heavier may have influenced their decision not to take part in this follow-up study. This notion is also supported by the observation that both males and females who were obese at age 11-12 years (n=29) were less likely to take part in this follow-up study (n=22). Subsequently it is highly likely that the proportion of overweight and obese adolescents in this study area of Northumberland is under-represented.

BMI, although widely recognised as an index of adiposity, does not distinguish between fat mass and lean (muscle and bone) mass, or give any information about the distribution of fat in the body and can lead to misclassification in individuals (Chapter 2.2.1). Therefore, at age 16 - 18 years, in addition to BMI, bioimpedance analysis (BIA) was also used to identify overweight or obese prevalence in these study participants. Thus, according to their BMI, prevalence of overweight or obese in this study at age 16 -18 years was 24% (31% males; 20% females), which for males was notably higher than in the NDNS (24%). This could be explained largely by the year on year increase in overweight and obesity, particularly among males (Butland *et al.* 2007). However, when BIA was used as the method of adiposity assessment, the

prevalence of overfat /obese was lower (16% (12% males; 19% females)) (Chapter 4). This suggests that 62% of the 21 males classified as overweight or obese according to BMI may be misclassified, and that higher body weights may be attributable to muscular build (in females there was a much higher level of agreement (75%) between the two methods). Alternatively, the cut-offs for overfat/obese used with BIA data may not correspond directly with those used with BMI data i.e. because the two approaches are radically different in what is measured, there is uncertainty about the criteria for making judgments about body fatness which may require further research. Therefore, future epidemiological studies (of all age groups) should also consider other methods of adiposity assessment (such as BIA) as well as BMI in the identification of prevalence of overweight and obesity in populations.

Regardless of potential limitations in BMI in defining those who were 'overfat' almost a fifth of the females and 12% of males were classified as overweight or obese at age 16-18 years. Reports suggest (Guo et al. 2002) that there is a greater likelihood of obesity in later adulthood (for example, age 35 years), if individuals end their adolescence with moderately elevated BMI. Therefore on this basis, participants in the present study who are overweight or obese at age 16-18 years may be at greater risk of being an overweight or obese adult than those who were overweight or obese at age 11-12 years (but not at age 16-18 years) (Chapter 6). The health implications of this excess adiposity are numerous: for example, abdominal obesity is a particular risk for type 2 diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia – and is strongly linked to an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Kopelman, 2007) and of bowel cancer (Larsson & Wolk, 2007). Females are at increased risk if their WC > 80cm (WC  $\ge$  94cm males) and the risk is greater with a WC>88cm (>102cm males) (Lean et al. 1995). Using these criteria, female participants of this present study at age 16-18 years were already potentially at greater risk of type 2 diabetes, hypertension and CVD from abdominal fatness, i.e. 13 (42%) of the 30 females with the highest BMI also had a WC >88cm (Chapter 4.2.2).

Moreover, given the tracking of BMI between early and late adolescence (Chapter 6) the data reported in this thesis pertaining to adiposity may be an underestimation of the prevalence of obesity in young people in Northumberland because a smaller proportion of the obese children at age 11-12 were followed up at age 16-18 years. Therefore a greater proportion of young people in this area are likely to be at higher risk of developing diseases attributable to adiposity in adulthood than are apparent from this study. Particularly in light of findings from a Scottish study of 15 year olds, where Sweeting *et al.* (2008) reported little evidence of any effect of psychological distress on obesity. Moreover, the authors suggested that there was a failure to recognise obesity and that overweight is accepted as the new 'normal' weight among UK adolescents (Sweeting *et al.* 2008). In the context of public health, age and population appropriate measures to promote well-being and prevent adiposity in adulthood should begin during childhood and be continued into adolescence.

In terms of reported energy intake and contributions made by the macronutrients to energy intake at age 11-12 years these follow-up study participants at age 16-18 years were highly representative of the original study sample for both genders (Chapter 5.1.4). How the intake of energy and macronutrients changed, and tracked from age 11-12 to 16-18 years are discussed later in this chapter. However, at age 16-18 years the average energy intake (EI/MJ/d) of the present study participants (12.5 MJ/d males, 9.4MJ/d females) was higher than the average EAR for adolescents aged 15 to 18 years (11.51MJ/d males, 8.83 MJ/d females) (Department of Health, 1991) (Chapter 4.6.3). Energy intakes were also higher than those reported in the NDNS (Gregory *et al.* 2000) for both males and females. These findings may be explained in part by the higher prevalence of overweight in the present study, for example energy requirements may be greater as a result of the increased body size, but similarly, prevalence of overweight might be as a consequence of the higher intakes. Also there is a possibility of under-reporting in the dietary data in the NDNS (Rennie *et al.* 2005) and of course that the present study and the NDNS employed different methods of dietary

assessment (Chapter 3.8). The NDNS study is the only comparable study of this age group in the UK. There is almost a decade (1997 to 2006) between the data collection periods of the 2 studies and there is a high likelihood that diets of this age group have changed over this period and any comparison made should be considered in this light.

At age 16-18 years the average %EI from fat was lower than that reported in the NDNS (Gregory *et al.* 2000) and below than the recommended level of 35% (Department of Health, 1991) for both males and females. However, more than 47% of both males and females consumed an average of almost 50% EI from fat over the study period (Chapter 4.2.3). The health effects of this excessive intake of total %EI from fat are less understood, however, there are known associations with certain fatty acids and coronary heart disease and cancers. In this study there is little evidence to suggest that high intakes of dietary fat per se were associated with adiposity (Chapter 4.3) which supports the notion that diets high in fat are not the primary cause of excess adiposity in western societies (Willet, 1998, Butland *et al.* 2007). Nevertheless, because high fat diets are likely to be more energy-dense, in the long term if this behaviour continues into adulthood it is highly likely that weight gain will follow, particularly in genetically susceptible individuals (Hill, 2006).

Late adolescence (16-18 years) is a time of increased independence, and in addition to erratic eating behaviour (Chapter 2.3), secular changes such as an increase in alcohol consumption (www.tradingstandards.gov.uk) in young people may contribute to the reported increase in energy intake. Recommended levels for alcohol intake (%EI) are available only for adults >18 years (Department of Health, 1991) and is set at 5% EI. However, a substantial proportion (68%) of these young people, all aged less than 18 years, were already consuming more than the recommended level of 5% of their average daily intake.
The finding that both males and females with high % body fat were more likely to be high alcohol consumers might indicate that high alcohol consumption in adolescence may be a contributory factor, in combination with other lifestyle factors, to the rising obesity epidemic in adulthood (Chapter 8). It could be speculated that consumption of high fat, high salt foods (for example, crisps, peanuts, kebabs and chips) may also be associated with high alcohol consumption, thereby contributing to excess energy intakes and so the higher % body fat reported. However, there were no associations found in this study population either between high intake of dietary fat (%EI), or total energy (EI) and high % body fat which might suggest that alcohol is consumed in place of food by these participants. It is evident that there are clear health implications for excessive alcohol consumption (http://www.dh.gov.uk) and further studies of the association between alcohol and adiposity in adolescence are warranted. Furthermore there is evidence that dietary patterns formed in adolescence (Post *et al.* 2001; Craigie *et al.* 2004) may track into adulthood, but participants would need to be followed-up again in adulthood to establish the true extent of this phenomena.

Data from the self-reported questionnaire (Chapter 4.2.3) revealed that only 55% of males and 23% of females reported taking part in physical activity ('to work up a sweat') on 3 or more days per week. Direct measures of physical activity (accelerometer data) showed that a similar proportion of both males (43%) and females (42%) met the recommendation (Chapter 2.6) for activity in adults (30 minutes per day) and a small proportion took part in at least moderate activity for more than 1 hour per day (16% males; 13% females). This suggests that although these young people did not actively seek to take part in specific activities (Chapter 4.2.3 '*Activity data*'), for some, their lifestyle at this age may be such that it meets health recommendations. It is important to note however, that direct measures of physical activity were available for only 50% of this sample population and therefore these results may not reflect the true picture in the whole sample population. By either self report or direct measures, it is clear that a substantial proportion of this young population are inactive participants

(57% males; 58% females). Such low levels of activity are a particular concern in that this behaviour, if unchanged, will increase the risk of obesity in adulthood.

One of the objectives for measuring activity was to investigate how levels of physical activity might influence, or be influenced, by body size. The most significant findings for the effect of physical activity on adiposity in these young people were the negative associations between hard physical activity and % body fat in males, and between hard physical activity and % body fat in males, and between hard physical activity, particularly in these young males and females. This suggests that high levels of activity, particularly in these young males offered some 'protection' against high levels of adiposity. Of course such associations cannot address the issue of direction of causality and it is possible that those with higher % body fat (males) or higher WHR (males and females) chose to undertake less hard physical activity.

There was stronger evidence of associations between energy expenditure (in physical activity) and energy intake. For males only, there was a moderate (r=-0.49, p<0.05) association between high levels of light activity (the more sedentary) and lower reported %EI from alcohol - this was mirrored by higher %EI from fat in males who were less active (fewer than 3 days per week). It could be speculated that sedentary males might be less likely to socialise (Wills, 2005) and perhaps more likely to watch TV or play computer games and to undertake snacking whilst doing so (Utter et al. 2003). Conversely, these observations may imply that the males who were more active were also more likely to 'go out drinking', for example after sports activities. This is supported by the striking association that males who engaged in moderate or hard physical activity had higher EI (MJ/d), perhaps to fuel their greater physical activity. There was no significant association between higher physical activity and the contribution made by any other macronutrient to energy intake (%EI) including %EI from alcohol. However, as stated previously, these active males were also more likely to have a lower % body fat, and given that high alcohol consumption per se was associated with higher % body fat, these active males may only represent a small percentage of the high alcohol consumers. Once again the most likely explanation for

these findings is the low number of participants in the study and subsequent risk of reporting bias. Therefore further studies of these associations are recommended. The prevalence of smoking was relatively low compared with the national average for smoking among adults in the UK (23% males, 21% females) (<u>www.statistics.gov.uk</u>); and with adolescents who were investigated in the NDNS (Gregory *et al.*2000). In the present study, 15% (13% males, 16% females) of respondents smoked on a daily basis and a further 5% (3% males, 6% females) smoked occasionally. The reasons for smoking or not smoking were not investigated in this study. However smoking prevalence among 16 to 19 year olds has decreased from around 30% in 1998 to around to 20% in 2006 for both males and females (<u>www.ic.nhs.uk</u>). This lower prevalence may be in response to greater health awareness which reflects the secular reduction in smoking prevalence in the UK (<u>www.statistics.gov.uk</u>; <u>www.ic.nhs.uk</u>).

Female smokers were significantly (*p*=0.01) more likely to be high alcohol (%EI) consumers than those who had never smoked. Although there were only a small number of participants who were classified as smokers, the significance of this relationship between smoking and alcohol consumption would indicate a cluster of these unhealthy behaviours in these 16-18 year old females, particularly in those also exhibiting a high % body fat. There was no association found between either alcohol intake or smoking and any of the measures of dietary intake. Further studies of this age group would need to identify whether this is behaviour representative of this study population alone or of the national population.

# 9.2. <u>Changes in anthropometry, especially in adiposity, between ages 11-12</u> and 16-18 years

Longitudinal studies of obesity among adolescents (for example, Sweeting *et al.* 2008) have shown steeper increases in BMI of males compared to females over time. In this

study there was little gender difference in BMI of these participants in childhood (age 11-12 years) or adolescence (age 16-18 years). Whilst on average males were significantly (p<0.001) taller and heavier than females (at age 16-18 years), there were similar increases in BMI for both genders (males +2.8 units and females +2.9 units). This narrow gender difference in BMI at age 16-18 years is largely explained by the complication that during adolescence not only height and weight, but also body composition is still changing (Friedman, 1997; Page and Fox, 1998).

### 9.2.1. Tracking of adiposity in these young people

The most striking observation from this study is that whilst a large proportion of overweight 11-12 year old participants had moved from overweight (36% of overweight males and 50% of overweight females) or obese (25% males only) to normal weight, the majority of participants had maintained their BMI classification status over the 6 years of study. It should also be considered that some children (11-12 year olds) of the present study participants may have had relatively high weights primarily due to high lean mass, rather than high body fat levels which are not identified by BMI alone (Chapter 2.2). Nevertheless, significant positive relationships were identified between BMI at age 11-12 years and all measures of adiposity (BMI, % body fat, WC) at age 16-18 years for both males and females. This not only supports the hypothesis that adiposity tracks from 11-12 years to 16-18 years, it also provides strong evidence that BMI at age 11-12 years is indicative of % body fat and WC at age 16-18 years. These findings emphasise that being overweight or obese at age 11-12 years increases greatly risk of being overweight or obese at age 16-18 years. However, as stated, this progression is not inevitable. While a substantial proportion of overweight or obese children at age 11-12 years became normal weight at age 16-18 years, a small proportion of normal weight participants in the present study became overweight or obese at age 16-18 years. Therefore lower weight in childhood should not be a cause for complacency since it offers no certain protection against adult obesity and associated risk adult disease (Wright et al. 2001).

During adolescence, many young people are concerned with body image (Tiggeman, 2005; Sweeting *et al.* 2008) and body weight issues and some are reported to engage in dieting behaviours to control their weight (Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* 2002; Butland *et al.* 2007) (Chapter 2.3.1) which in part might explain the reduction in weight status, particularly of females. However Neumark-Sztainer *et al.* (2006) found that dieting and weight control behaviours, particularly unhealthful behaviours (e.g. meal skipping and smoking) at age 12 years were associated with weight gain (rather than weight loss) at age 17 years. Furthermore the author reported 'dieting' at age 12 years was associated with higher BMI values and a greater prevalence of overweight status in both males and females (Chapter 2.3.1). This would indicate a potential opportunity for increased education to improve knowledge in adolescence (age 11-18 years) on the importance of healthful behaviour, but also to facilitate a positive change and to identify and provide support for those young people 'at risk' of adult disease.

Longitudinal studies with measurement at frequent time intervals have reported stronger tracking over time than those with longer time intervals between measurements. Wardle *et al.* (2006) for example reported that adiposity tracked strongly over time and BMI correlations were greater than 0.9 at one and two year intervals and above 0.8 for three and four year intervals. In agreement with these previous findings, tracking of BMI was stronger in the present study (across a 6 year time interval) (R=0.65 males, R=0.75 females) than in a longitudinal study of Northumberland adolescents (age 12 years) into adulthood (age 33 years) (across a 20 year time interval) (R=0.58 males, R=0.56 females) (Craigie *et al.* 2004). These findings suggest that longitudinal studies carried out over longer periods of time with shorter intervals may provide better evidence for the extent of tracking of adiposity (Wardle *et al.* 2006; Johannsson, 2006).

The prevalence of obesity is reportedly greater in lower social groups (for example HSE, 2004; in Butland *et al.* 2007; Wardle *et al.* 2006) however few studies have

reported the effect of social group on tracking of adiposity. Whilst at age 11-12 years there was evidence of an effect of social group on BMI for males in the present study, the mean BMI of females was greater in the high and middle social groups. However, at age 16-18 years mean BMI was greater in the low social group for both males and females (though significantly so only for males), suggesting that social disparities in adiposity emerge later in childhood and in females may not become apparent until adulthood. It is important to note that in the present study when the sample is divided by social group, the number of respondents in each BMI category within each social group become much smaller so the power to detect any social class effects is reduced substantially.

## 9.3. <u>Changes in the energy intake of these young people between age 11-12</u> and 16-18 years

Whilst food energy intake was greater in males than in females at both age 11-12 and 16-18 years, the difference between the sexes increased over time (0.68MJ/d at age 11-12 years *v*. 2.83MJ/d at age 16-18 years). This difference can be explained by the difference in body size between males and females which increase as these young people approach physiological maturity (Chapter 2.2.1). Males were on average (12kg) heavier and (15cm) taller than females at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.4.2) and when scaled for body weight (i.e. energy intake data expressed as MJ/kg/d) there was no significant difference in food energy intake between males and females. As discussed previously (Chapter 9.1) the increases in food energy intake between age 11-12 and 16-18 years may be due to secular changes, but they may also be reflective of increased energy demands at this age (Chapter 2). However, whilst some of these participants might have active lifestyles reflective of their food energy intake at this age (Chapter 4), a decrease in energy expenditure (Butland *et al.* 2007) in young adulthood might not be mirrored by a decrease in energy intake (Craigie, *et al.* 2004), thus

resulting in weight gain, a notion which might be investigated further in a follow-up study of these young people in adulthood such as that of Craigie *et al* 2004 for example.

For both males and females there was little change in the average %FEI from fat (0.12%) which was around the recommended level of 35% at both ages (Department of Health 1991). However this small change in fat intake (%FEI) and a similar decrease in carbohydrate (%FEI), was mirrored by an increase in percent energy from protein (%FEI)(Table 7.3). Preoccupation with body weight and diet is common, especially in female adolescents (Barker et al. 2000) and the advent of 'protein diets' such as the Atkins diet (Atkins, 2003) may have influenced the intake of these participants, particularly females. In a UK study of adolescent females, Barker et al. (2000) found that girls who reported being less satisfied with weight were also more likely to report lower intakes of percentage energy from fat and higher percentage energy from protein (Chapter 2.3.1). This preoccupation with body image also occurs in males for example consuming certain foods such as protein drinks as an aid to make them more muscular, or to gain or lose weight (Neumark-Sztainer et al. 1999). In addition to fat, carbohydrate and protein, at age 16-18 years alcohol contributed to the energy intake of more than 68% of these study participants (Chapter 4.2.3). When alcohol was taken into consideration, the direction of change (between the surveys in 2000 and 2006) as %EI for all macronutrients is the same as for %FEI. For example, intakes of %EI from fat and carbohydrate also decreased in both males and females at age 16-18 years while protein intake in both males and females increased, albeit to a slightly lesser extent, when alcohol was included. Therefore this reduction in energy intake from fat (%EI) and carbohydrate (%EI) is not simply a reflection of increased protein intake, but also of the addition of alcohol to the diet of these study participants. The effects of alcohol consumption have been discussed previously (Chapter 9.1)

# 9.3.1. Tracking of energy and macronutrient intake from age 11-12 to 16-18 years

As reported by other authors (Cusatis *et al.* 2001; Robson *et al.* 2000; Gallagher *et al.* 2005; Post *et al.* 2001), overall tracking of food energy and macronutrient intakes in the present study was weak but statistically significant. This contrasts with the much stronger tracking observed for body weight (Chapter 6). However in agreement with Dunn *et al.* (2000) and Craigie *et al.* (2004) when participants were grouped into quartiles by their intakes there was a tendency to remain within the broad category of ranking with over 50% of those who were very low (MJ/d) or very high (MJ/d) consumers at age 11-12 years remaining as such at age 16-18 years.

Of particular note is the small percentage of females who maintained their position in the lowest quartile (26%) for fat intake (%FEI). Almost three quarters of this quartile increased their percentage energy from fat, which may be consistent with the notion that many adolescents (age 16-18 years) eat an unhealthy, and in particular a high fat, diet (Henderson *et al.* 2002; Larson *et al.* 2006). These findings were similar to those reported by Cusatis *et al.* (2000) in which females with the highest diet quality at age 12 years showed significant deterioration throughout adolescence.

It is widely acknowledged that measurement of dietary intake is subject to methodological errors such as mis-reporting (Chapter 5.3). This may help explain the weaker tracking of nutrients compared with body size (height and weight) which can be measured with greater accuracy and precision (Chapter 2.2.1). In addition, changes that occur during adolescence (age 11-18 years) are erratic (Wills, 2005) and it might be intuitively assumed that in striving for greater autonomy, intakes at this age would be less likely to show evidence of tracking than in childhood for example. In childhood, not only are dietary intakes subject to parental guidance but also reporting of dietary intakes may also be influenced by parents therefore increasing the probability of tracking at this younger age range (age 4-10 years) (Singer *et al.*1995). During

adolescence, (non-familial) societal influences become more important and therefore change is more likely to occur over this time (Chapter 2.3.1). It is also possible that, as with BMI (Chapter 6), dietary behaviour in late adolescence may be more inclined to stabilise and persist into adulthood. However no studies to date have explored this notion which could be investigated further in a follow-up study of these participants. Furthermore it might be postulated, that if dietary intake does stabilise in late adolescence, this would be a key time for preventative measures to address unhealthy behaviours to be instigated.

Interestingly none of the studies discussed in this thesis reported any social group effects on the tracking of energy intake. In the present study, the only evidence of social disparity in tracking was in dietary intake of fat for male participants. In absolute terms (g/d), there was an increase in fat intake across all social groups but there was a significantly greater increase in participants from the low social group. This social disparity in fat intake continued to be evident when body weight (g/kg/d) was taken into consideration suggesting that the greater fat intake was not simply a reflection of greater increase in body mass. This disparity may in part be explained by the environments (Lake and Townshend. 2006) in which participants live and work. For example, in lower socioeconomic areas there may be a greater number of food outlets where the availability of healthy choices are constrained, such as 'pie shops' and 'fish and chip shops'. Education (or lack of) may also be a factor in the choices of these young males for whom health and nutrition is not a priority (Chapter 2.3).

#### 9.4. Predictors of adiposity at age 16-18 years

Diet and lifestyle factors, namely increased consumption of energy-dense foods (high in fat and low in fibre) and sugar-rich drinks, increased sedentary behaviour and reduced physical activity are cited as the primary cause for the high rates of excessive

body fat (Jebb, 2007). However, as discussed previously there was little evidence of such associations in the present study (Chapter 4).

The factors which were found to be predictive of body composition at age 16-18 years differed between the sexes. However it was clear that for both males and females, BMI at age 11-12 years was the strongest predictor of BMI, % body fat, WC and WHR at age 16-18 years. The models in Chapter 8 illustrate clearly that the influence of BMI in adolescence is strong enough that it is not confounded by any of the other factors that were tested. The mechanism(s) responsible for this stability of BMI is not known and could reflect tracking of adiposity-related behaviours underpinned by genetic determinants of these behaviours and of body size/ body composition per se. Nevertheless these findings emphasise the point that having a relatively high BMI in early adolescence is an independent risk factor for having a high BMI and high abdominal fat accumulation in young adulthood and therefore becoming or remaining overweight or obese.

Current energy and/or nutrient intake (at age 16-18 years) was not found to be a good predictor of body size at age 16-18 years. Although, as reported in Chapter 4, for females only there were significant negative correlations between total energy intake (MJ/d) and BMI and WC at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3), the effect was lost when combined with all other variables in the models. The same finding was true for the significance of the association between lower intakes of fat (%EI) and lower % body fat in females (Chapter 4.3). Higher intakes of dietary fat (g/day) were significantly associated with lower BMI and % body fat (both R=-0.22, p<0.05) at age 16-18 years. These findings may be explained by the greater number of females likely to be underreporting their dietary intake (Chapter 5.3). However they may also reflect current dieting behaviour, particularly common in females of this age group (Neumark Sztainer *et al.* 2007). For example, Barker *et al.* (2000) reported that girls aged 14-16 years

with a BMI of 24kg/m<sup>2</sup> were 19 times more likely to diet than those with a BMI of less than 19kg/m<sup>2</sup> (Chapter 2).

In combination with BMI at age 11-12 years and smoking status at age 16-18 years, %EI derived from fat at age 11-12 years was the only dietary variable found to be predictive of body composition in females, being a significant predictor of % body fat at age 16-18 years. These observations suggest that the effects of a high %EI derived from fat on adiposity are already established in childhood and offer an opportunity for intervention during adolescence that may reduce the risk of higher adiposity being maintained into young adulthood.

Alcohol intake of both males and females at age 16-18 years was positively and significantly associated with BMI at age 16-18 years (Chapter 4.3) but this factor was not predictive when combined with other factors in the model. This indicates that the association was not necessarily causative i.e. higher alcohol consumers in late adolescence are not necessarily predisposed to high BMI. Nevertheless, for other health and social reasons, the importance of reducing the level of alcohol consumption in adolescence (age 16-18 years) should not be overlooked (Chapter 4.6.5).

In Chapter 4 it was reported that higher levels of hard physical activity were associated with lower % body fat in males and with WHR for both males and females. However, in the regression models, physical activity, either measured directly or self reported, was not found to be a good predictor of body composition at age 16-18 years. The only significant association was a negative effect (relatively small effect compared with the influence of BMI) of not taking part in physical activity on WHR in males, indicating that males who were physically inactive were more likely to have lower WHR once BMI at age 11-12 years was taken into account. The direction of this association was not surprising given that the large body of literature that has reported inconsistent findings. Sallis *et al.* (2000), Ball *et al.* (2001) and Ekelund *et al.* (2002) for example found

greater activity levels to be associated with lower BMI's. Treuth *et al.* (2005) reported BMI positively associated with sedentary time; and negatively correlated with time spent in light activity but only in females. No association was found for males. Similarly, Ortega *et al.* (2007) reported that children and adolescents with low levels of vigorous physical activity were more likely to be overweight. In contrast, others (Trost *et al.* 2001) reported no association between physical activity/ sedentary behaviour and adiposity. On the one hand the inconsistency of these results could be explained by the way in which the data were analysed (for example using categorical variables as oppose to continuous data), on the other there is a high probability that the inconsistent findings are as a result of small sample sizes. Similarly there are a number of different cut-off points for defining accelerometer counts into the various activity levels which are likely to produce inconsistent results between studies. More high powered prospective studies are required to evaluate this relationship between physical activity levels and adiposity, particularly in adolescents.

Smoking status and employment status were also highlighted as predictors of adiposity in many of the models (Chapter 8). However, whilst there is a strong possibility that these factors might contribute to adiposity in the general population, the relationship is not fully understood. Furthermore, in this study the findings are complicated by the fact that both of these factors were distinctly biased (i.e. 66% were non-smokers; and 83% were in full time education). Further work on the predictors of adiposity would be valuable in the advancing understanding the aetiology of obesity which is clearly a global challenge. The methods challenges and results of this study could be used to inform such further work.

As reported in other studies of adolescents, there was little effect of social group in the prediction of adiposity in late adolescence. These findings support the notion that young people's lives may be less constrained by traditional structures such as gender and class (Wills, 2005; Sweeting *et al.* 2008) and whatever lifestyle choices that might

contribute to body size in young adulthood does not appear to be influenced by social group. However as with employment and smoking status, the social groups were not equally represented in this follow-up study cohort, which constrains the ability to draw definitive conclusions about the impact of social group (Chapter 4) and a more socially representative data set might produce somewhat different results.

#### 9.5. Limitations of the study

While there is no doubt that failure to recruit 100% of the original sample (Chapter 4.1) places some limitations on the results of this work, recruitment of these young people in itself proved to be challenging (Chapter 4). This was due in part to the limited information collected during the original study in 2000. When the study was carried out in 2000, there was no expectation of a follow-up study of these study participants and because the field-work for that study was carried out in schools only (Fletcher, 2003), full addresses and telephone numbers of participants were not collected and recorded. As a consequence, in the present follow-up study the primary means of contacting these young people was through the primary schools which they had left several years previously. However, obtaining personal information or destination school information retrospectively proved to be a challenge because of the constraints imposed by data protection laws.

While the method of recording food intake data remained relatively unchanged between the 2000 and the 2006 studies, the method of portion size estimation was changed. In 2000, food models were used to facilitate comparisons with previous studies of children of the same age in the same schools in 1980 and 1990 (Hackett, *et al.* 1982; Adamson *et al.* 1992). In adults there is good evidence to support the use of photographs to estimate portion size and nutrient intake (Nelson *et al.* 1994; Robinson *et al.* 1997; Gerber *et al.* 1997) but evidence of the utility of food photographs in late

adolescence was scarce at the time of data collection (2000). However, there have been major advances in this area in recent years and age-specific food atlases have been produced (Foster *et al.* 2006) with the oldest age range being 11 to 16 years. For the present study (of respondents aged 16-18 years) it was deemed appropriate to use Nelson *et al.* (1997) food atlas for use in adults. However, this may have produced a bias in the estimation of portion sizes since it is not known which of the atlases produced by Foster *et al.* (2006) and those of Nelson *et al.* (1997) is most appropriate for the "in between" age group (16-18 year olds) investigated in the present study.

For most respondents in the present study at age 16-18 years, the interview was carried out in the school which they were attending. However those study participants who had left school or were on study leave were interviewed at their home (Chapter 3). In a small number of cases where a parent of the participant was at home at the time of interview, the participant was prompted and inadvertently assisted in the recall of dietary information by the parent. Whilst this potentially increases the accuracy of the information it does introduce a possible reporting bias in respect of other participant data and of the data at age 11-12 years (which was collected in school in the absence of parents).

An additional limitations of the study, is the lack of data on physical activity at age 11-12 years. However, to my knowledge, currently there are no other physical activity data of this nature in this age group (age 16-18 years) in the UK and, at the very least, the present study provides a basis for future research in this area.

As with dietary intake, physical activity is notoriously difficult to measure accurately in free-living populations. However the application of accelerometers in such research has expanded exponentially over the last decade and facilitated greatly direct measurement of physical activity (Troiano, 2006). There are however, limitations to the use of accelerometers (Chapter 2.6). In addition to those described in Chapter 2.6,

participants in this study also reported removing the monitors for contact sports such as rugby and football and for activities such as gymnastics and 'clubbing' (Chapter 4.6.4). The failure to accurately measure these activities will lead to underestimation of the physical activity of individuals who regularly participate in such activities (Cooper, *et al.* 2000).

Accelerometer data can be used to assess moderate to vigorous activity as well as physical inactivity, but in general however, validation studies have been carried out under controlled laboratory conditions rather than with free-living individuals (Trost *et al.* 1998, Freedson *et al.* 1998; Cooper *et al.* 2000). Furthermore whilst accelerometers provide an estimate of activity volume, estimation of energy expenditure from such measurements requires further assumptions and calculations and presents addition challenges in validation studies (Corder *et al.* 2007).

Despite these limitations, accelerometry provides a promising means of physical activity measurement, particularly in those whose primary mode of activity is walking. Once limitations such as the inability of accelerometers to capture some activities commonly reported by these young people (Chapter 4.2.3 *'Actigraph accelereometer data*) have been overcome, use of accelerometers in combination with heart rate monitoring (Rennie *et al.* 2006) will be a very valuable approach for the assessment of physical activity patterns in young people.

It can be speculated that limitations in the tools available for estimating the key determinants of energy balance viz. energy intake and energy expenditure may have contributed to limited evidence obtained in this study on factors predictive of body composition at age 16-18 years. For example the focus of this thesis is energy balance and its effect on adiposity; the contributors to energy balance are energy intake (dietary intake) and energy expenditure (physical activity). However, body composition is a reflection of long term energy intake and expenditure, and energy intake was measured

at two time points whilst energy expenditure was measured at one time point only (Chapter 3). A further limitation of this aspect of the study is that measurements were made at only two time points viz. at age 11-12 years and again at age16-18 years - a time of much change and transition. In addition only 6 days of data at each time point were measured, hence a total of 12 days of measurement over approximately six years were recorded. Therefore in order to detect any significant relationship between energy balance and adiposity it may be necessary to increase the frequency of measurement. Similarly, it may be that the methods or duration of assessment were not adequate to truly measure habitual behaviours.

#### 9.6. Further work

Evidently, studies of this age group (16-18 years) are scarce and given that it is a period of rapid growth both physically and emotionally, further research is essential to form an understanding of the factors that influence the behaviour of this age group.

In contrast to findings for the tracking of diet, this study provides strong evidence that BMI tracks from early to late adolescence and that 11-12 year olds who were overweight or obese were at greatest risk of being overweight or obese at age 16-18 years. However, during this important period of physiological change opportunities exist to become a healthy weight even if the individual is overweight as a child. Evidence from other studies (Guo *et al.* 2002) suggest that individuals entering young adulthood overweight are likely to remain overweight or become obese throughout adulthood, therefore the importance of reducing the prevalence of obesity in childhood should not be overlooked. While BMI has been found to track well the limitations of BMI as a measure of adiposity of the individual are well recognised i.e. some children may have relatively high BMI primarily because of high lean mass, rather than high body fat content. For this reason, future studies should consider measurement of waist

circumference and of % body fat (e.g. by bioelectrical impedance) in addition to BMI for a more accurate estimation of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents. Research into the levels of alcohol consumption and the reasons for excessive drinking in this age group could provide valuable background information to enable successful intervention; there is limited and conflicting information available on the link between alcohol and obesity. Well-designed studies of both adults and young people are required to fully understand the effects of excessive alcohol consumption on overweight and obesity in young people; findings from this study indicate there was a significant positive correlation between high alcohol intakes and BMI and % body fat in both sexes, and with WC in males.

Although valuable data were obtained on physical activity levels in these participants, it is important to note that these data represent only 50% of this sample population and therefore percentages may be higher or lower in the whole sample population. Therefore further research into physical activity and sedentary behaviour in this age group, and work to identify how best to maintain or re engage physical activity in adolescents of this age (16-18 years) is warranted. Particular attention should be given to the high level of inactivity (57% males; 58% females) in these participants, which, if maintained into adulthood, may increase the risk of obesity.

A further area for future study is the notion that decreases in energy expenditure (Butland *et al.* 2007) of adolescents as they mature into adulthood may not be mirrored by decreases in energy intake. Such positive energy balances are likely to result in weight gain and, eventually, to greater prevalence of overweight and obesity, particularly in adult males (Van Lenthe, *et al.*1996; Craigie, *et al.* 2004).

#### 9.6.1. Health implications and initiatives

It is evident that in this small sample of adolescents that there are important health issues to be addressed; it is likely that these issues are applicable at least to some

extent to the UK adolescent population as a whole. For example excessive alcohol intake, erratic eating patterns and sedentary lifestyles all have long term health implications. In this present study a number of plausible factors were identified that may contribute to the increasing prevalence of obesity, for example, energy and macronutrient intake, and lifestyle choices such as smoking, alcohol consumption and physical activity. However, as identified in the UK government report "Foresight: Tackling Obesities: Future Choices' (Butland *et al.* 2007) there is no simplistic explanation for the causes of overweight and obesity.

This present study does however provide clear evidence that adiposity tracks from childhood to adolescence therefore it is imperative that prevention programmes in this age group are considered high priority. Research has identified that weight gain in most individuals is rapid, but once gained it is difficult to lose (Butland *et al.* 2007). The mechanism responsible for this stability of BMI is not known, but it could reflect a tracking of 'build', a genetic propensity for adiposity, a persistence of behaviours that influence energy intake and/or expenditure, or that in some way factors present in childhood or early adolescence lead to permanent metabolic changes that persist into adulthood. Whatever the reason, a high BMI in adulthood is a known risk factor for a number of health consequences (e.g. diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer). Therefore preventing overweight and obesity in childhood and/or adolescence could be an effective method to prevent further increases in obesity and the associated health problems, and personal and societal costs in adulthood.

As outlined in Chapter 2.3 the UK government report "Foresight: Tackling Obesities: Future Choices' when addressing the causation, prevention and treatment of overweight and obesity there are numerous factors to consider and subsequently no simple solution. Addressing only one aspect of the problem will not provide sustainable changes.

Perhaps we need to lose the stigma of the term 'healthy eating' which might be a barrier to change. For example if children and adolescents have what is perceived as a 'healthy' lunch box they might be teased that they are 'not cool' or 'unfashionable' or labelled as 'geeks'. Recent evidence from work emerging from the Dept of Health Public Health Research Consortium supports this negative image of healthful behaviours (particularly food behaviours) in young adolescents (http://www.york.ac.uk/phrc/PHRC%20B2-06%20Exec%20Summary\_FV.pdf). We do not label exercise as 'healthy' (because it is all beneficial to health) but there are different levels and activities that are better suited to one person than another. In the same way all (or at least most) 'food' is good for you, as it provides energy to sustain life, but too much of one thing or too little of another may affect individuals and populations differently. In terms of food intake and nutrition the approach may be to educate on the benefits of a balanced diet – and not excluding any foods but teaching about the importance of moderation. There is an urgent need, most particularly for clear messages to be given by the media working in partnership with government agencies and health professionals that a balanced diet is the way forward and not including this food and excluding that food – there are so many mixed messages that lead to confusion in the population. A fundamental change in people's attitudes about the choices they make is required.

Overweight and obesity, moreover, poor health is not unique to one age group. The causes at an individual level are many and varied and differ between population groups and across a person's life course. Subsequently there is a clear need for initiatives to provide support and intervention at every level.

In the community many youths and adults may have left education without the skills and knowledge to adopt a 'healthy' lifestyle. Community workshops and youth initiatives have the opportunity to provide young people and parents with the facilities and training to obtain these skills and knowledge to adopt healthy lifestyle choices. Discussion groups and opportunities to engage with others in a neutral setting will provide young people with better social opportunities and empower them with the skills to make positive decisions. Building healthy communities, such as community projects to build allotments would allow young people to engage in the production of the food they eat and also reap the rewards of their labour.

Schools, through the curriculum and the wider school environment and ethos, from primary age continuing through to young adulthood have the opportunity to provide education from the fundamentals of nutrition and its importance throughout the life course. This approach has the advantage of not stigmatising those that are overweight or obese, but identifying that everyone is at risk of health problems later in life from poor nutrition throughout their life course. The environments that the schools provide both inside and outside the school setting such as facilities for engaging in physically challenging activities, after school clubs, dining facilities are an important aspect of obesity prevention. Food technology classes that teach how to cook practical wholesome dishes such as rice, pasta and vegetable dishes, (as oppose to puddings and desserts) can provide not only the skills to cook, but to form the practical basis of nutrition education which is reflected in the school food policy now in place (http://www.schoolfoodtrust.org.uk).

There is opportunity to work with food retailers, reducing the cost of foods perceived as health foods such as fresh fruit and vegetables, unprocessed meat and fish products and nuts, may encourage consumers, particularly from low income families, to make better choices for health. There is a pilot scheme operating under the auspices of Change4Life (http://www.nhs.uk/Change4Life/) which is a partnership between the Dept of health and convenience stores in low income areas increasing the availability of high quality, reasonably priced fresh fruit and vegetables. Larger retailers offer '5 a day promotions' with reduced cost of at least 5 different fruit and vegetables each day. A further step would be to reduce the availability of other foods that are commonly

perceived as 'value for money,' but perhaps not particularly healthful for a balanced diet; this may discourage consumers from buying these foods in excess. One such example might be to discard the promotion of offers such as 'buy one get one free' and 'three for two offers' on multipacks of crisps, fizzy drinks, sweets and high sugar cereals.

Change4Life is a multi faceted social marketing programme which has focussed initially on families with young children and has recently turned its attention to adults. This is partnership between Government departments, industry, retailers and includes marketers with skills in 'selling a product'. As yet, there has been no particular focus on adolescents and young adults; it is likely the approaches to date will have had little impact on young adults (with the possible exception of increased availability of fresh produce in corner stores frequented by young people). An opportunity exists to use the skills of the Change4Life campaign perhaps working with the School Food Trust and organisations like Connexions to develop social marketing and interventions which would engage young people and make 'being healthy' 'cool'. (Hackett et al., 1983; Caspersen et al., 1985; Schofield et al., 1985b; Schofield et al., 1985a; Davis & Furnham, 1986; Holland et al., 1988; Department of Health, 1989; Holland et al., 1989; Livingstone et al., 1990; Altman, 1991; Frank, 1991; Holland et al., 1991; Stein et al., 1991; Adamson et al., 1992; Holland et al., 1992a; Holland et al., 1992b; Livingstone et al., 1992; Holland et al., 1993; Serdula et al., 1993; Kelder et al., 1994; Bingham et al., 1995; Boulton et al., 1995; Chan et al., 1995; Singer et al., 1995; Chan, 1996; Jain et al., 1996; Lean et al., 1996; Mahoney et al., 1996; Shepherd & Dennison, 1996; Torun et al., 1996; Van Lenthe et al., 1996; Han et al., 1997; Lake et al., 1997; Power et al., 1997; Whitaker et al., 1997; Berenson et al., 1998b; Feunekes et al., 1998; Johansson et al., 1998; Sichert-Hellert et al., 1998; Freedman et al., 1999; Guo & Chumlea, 1999; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 1999; Oliver & Wardle, 1999; Society for Adolescent Medicine, 1999; Barker et al., 2000; Cavadini et al., 2000; Cole et al., 2000; Cooper et al., 2000; Dunn et al., 2000; Gregory et al., 2000; Lytle, 2000; Martinez, 2000; Nelson, 2000a; Robson et al., 2000; Samuelson, 2000; Taylor et al., 2000; Trost et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000; Bertheke Post et al., 2001; Croll et al., 2001; Day et al., 2001; Despres, 2001; Laitinen et al., 2001; McCarthy et al., 2001; Tyrrell et al., 2001; Wright et al., 2001; Alexy et al., 2002; Gallagher et al., 2002; Goldberg, 2002; Henderson et al., 2002; Puyau et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2002; Webb, 2002; Fuentes RM, 2003; Jebb et al., 2003; Livingstone & Black, 2003; Magarey et al., 2003; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2003; Boreham et al., 2004; Craigie et al., 2004; Demory-Luce et al., 2004; Department of Health Physical Activity Health Improvement and Prevention, 2004; Fletcher et al., 2004; Fulkerson et al., 2004; Gordon-Larsen et al., 2004; Jebb et al., 2004; Lake et al., 2004a; Lake et al., 2004b; Lobstein et al., 2004; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2004; Rennie et al., 2005; Ekelund et al., 2006; Johannsson et al., 2006; Lawlor & Chaturvedi, 2006; McCarthy et al., 2006; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2006; Rennie et al., 2006; Troiano, 2006; Wardle et al., 2006; Butland et al., 2007; Garnett et al., 2007; Krebs et al., 2007; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2007; Ward et al., 2007)

## (Lawlor & Chaturvedi, 2006)

(Livingstone & Robson, 2000) (Story & Resnick, 1986) (Department of Health, 1991)

(Watt & Sheiham, 1996; Neumark-Sztainer *et al.*, 1999) (Story *et al.*, 1996) (Food Standards Agency, 2003; Videon & Manning, 2003)

(O'Dea, 2003)

(Kelsey et al., 1998) (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2000) (Hearn et al., 1998) (Baranowski et al., 1999; Birch, 1999; Kratt et al., 2000; Nicklas et al., 2001) (Lau et al., 1990; Woodward et al., 1996; Backman et al., 2002; Lee & Reicks, 2003; Hanson et al., 2005) (Crawley & While, 1995) (Huang & Volpe, 2004) (McCullum & Achterberg, 1997) (Chapman & Maclean, 1993) (Twisk, 2003) (Berenson et al., 1998a) (Srinivisan et al., 1996; Twisk et al., 1997) (Freedson et al., 1998) (Nelson et al., 1997) (Fletcher, 2003) (Food Standards Agency, 2002) (Chan et al., 1994) (Office of National Statistics, 2000) (Office of National Statistics, 1990) (Chumlea & Guo, 1994) (Garrow, 1981) (Trost et al., 1998) (Trost et al., 2001) (Ekelund et al., 2005) (Sallis et al., 1993) (Michaud et al., 1990) (Weidner *et al.*, 1996) (Braam et al., 1998) (Nelson *et al.*, 1994) (Robinson et al., 1997) (Gerber et al., 1997) (Hill, 2006) (Foster et al., 2006) (Webb, 2002) (Dietz, 1997) (Nunez et al., 1997)

(Lean et al., 1995) (Corder et al., 2007) (Welk et al., 2007) (Singh et al., 2008) (Nelson, 1997) (Molarius & Seidell, 1998) (Lean, 2000) (Guo et al., 2002) (Nelson, 2000b) (Ebbeling et al., 2002) (Trost et al., 2001) (Harris et al., 2000) (Wills, 2005) (McPherson et al., 2007) (Kopelman, 2007) (Jebb, 1997; Jebb, 2007) (Baranowski & Domel, 1994) (James et al., 2004) (Nelson et al., 2007) (Ludvig et al., 2001) (Katzmarzyk et al., 2001) (Tiggemann, 2005) (Willett, 1998) (Lake & Townshend, 2006) (Cusatis et al., 2000) (Gallagher et al., 2005) (Corder et al., 2008) (Atkins, 2003) (Ekelund et al., 2002) (Ball et al., 2001) (Ortega et al., 2007) (Sallis et al., 2000) (Treuth et al., 2005) (Barasi, 2003)

(Noller & Callan, 1991)

(Goran, 1998)

(Rolland-Cachera et al., 1987)

(Harnack & Schmitz, 2006)

(Wills, 2005)

(Ashwell, 2005)

(Nicklas et al., 2003)

(Gregory et al., 1990)

(Frank, 1991)

(Post et al., 2001)

(Harris et al., 2000)

(Friedman, 1997)

(Page & Fox, 1998)

(Ashwell, 1997)

(Trost & Pate, 1999)

(McGill et al., 2000)

(Ferriera et al., 2005)

(Cade et al., 2002)

(Baker et al., 2007)

(Engeland et al., 2004)

(Field et al., 2005)

(Food Standards Agency, 2010)

(Prentice & Jebb, 1995)

(McCarthy et al., 2003)

(Utter et al., 2003)

(Nader et al., 2008)

(Lowry et al., 2000)

(Troiano & Flegal, 1998)

(Department of Health, 2008)

http://www.tradingstandards.gov.uk

(Bandini et al., 1990)

(Bratteby et al., 1998)

(Freedman et al., 2004)

(Parsons et al., 1999)

(Dallongeville et al., 1998)

(Sweeting et al., 2008)

(Larsson & Wolk, 2007)

(NHS, 2010)

(Craigie et al., 2003)

(World Health Organization, 2005); ; (World Health Organization, 1995); (World Health Organization, 2003b; World Health Organization, 2003a)

(Birch, 1987)

(Hackett et al., 1984); (Hackett et al., 1982)

(MAFF, 1999)

(Registrar General, 1980)

(Office for National Statistics, 2001)

(Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002)

(Larson *et al.*, 2006)

(Department of Health, 1989)

(Food Standards Agency, 2010); (Singer et al., 1995); (Taylor et al., 2000)

(Bingham & Day, 1997); (Martinez, 2000); (Must & Tybor, 2005);(Willett, 1998)

(Food Standards Agency, 2001); (Lake et al., 1997); (Must & Tybor, 2005)

(Gibson, 1990) (McCarthy et al., 2003); (Johansson et al., 1998);(Wang et al., 2002)

(Cavadini et al., 2000);(Johannsson et al., 2006);(Stein et al., 1991)

(Ekelund et al., 2006);(Freedman et al., 1999);(Gordon-Larsen et al., 2004)

#### References

- Adamson A, Rugg-Gunn A, Butler T, Appleton D & Hackett A (1992) Nutritional intake, height and weight of 11-12-year-old Northumbrian children in 1990 compared with information obtained in 1980. *British Journal of Nutrition* **68**, 543-563.
- Alexy U, Sichert-Hellert & Kersting M (2002) Fifteen-year time trends in energy and macronutrient intake in German children and adolescents: results of the DONALD study. *British Journal of Nutrition* **87**, 595-604.
- Altman DG (1991) Practical Studies for Medical Research, pp. 404-407. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Ashwell M (1997) The Ashwell Shape Chart a new millenium approach to communicate the metabolic risks of obesity. *Obesity Research* **5**, 45S.
- Ashwell M (2005) Waist to height ratio and the Ashwell shape chart could predict the health risks of obesity in adults and children in all ethnic groups. *Nutrition & Food Science* **35**, pp.359-364.
- Atkins RC (2003) Dr Atkins New Diet Revolution. London: Vermillion.
- Backman D, Haddad E, Lee J, Johnston P & Hodgkin G (2002) Psychosocial predictors of healthful dietary behaviour in adolescents. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behaviour* 34, 184-193.
- Baker J, Olsen L & Sorensen TIA (2007) Child Body-Mass Index and the Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in Adulthood. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 357, 2329-2337.
- Ball K, Owen N, Salmon J, Bauman A & Gore CJ (2001) Associations of physical activity with body weight and fat in men and women. International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 25, 914-919.
- Bandini LG, Schoeller DA, Cyr HN & Dietz WH (1990) Validity of reported energy intake in obese and nonobese adolescents. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **52**, 421-425.
- Baranowski T & Domel SB (1994) A cognitive model of children's reporting of food intake. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **59**, 212S-217.
- Baranowski T, Weber Cullen K & Baranowski J (1999) Psychosocial correlates of dietary intake: Advancing dietary intervention. *Annual Review of Nutrition* **19**, 17-40.
- Barasi ME (2003) *Human Nutrition: A health perspective*, 2nd ed. London: Arnold publishers.
- Barker M, Robinson S, Wilman C & Barker DJP (2000) Behaviour, body composition and diet in adolescent girls,. *Appetite* **35**, 161-170.
- Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W & Wattigney WA (1998a) Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. *New England Journal of Medidine*. **338**, 1650-1656.

- Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR & Nicklas TA (1998b) Atherosclerosis: a nutritional disease of childhood. *The American Journal of Cardiology* **82**, 22-29.
- Bertheke Post G, de Vente W, Kemper HCG & Twisk JWR (2001) Longitudinal trends in and tracking of energy and nutrient intake over 20 years in a Dutch cohort of men and women between 13 and 33 years of age: The Amsterdam growth and health longitudinal study. *British Journal of Nutrition* **85**, 375-385.
- Bingham SA, Cassidy A, Cole TJ, Welch A, Runswick SA, Black AE, Thurnham D, Bates C, Khaw KT, Key TJA & Day NE (1995) Validation of weighed records and other methods of dietary assessment using the 24 h urine nitrogen technique and other biological markers. *British Journal of Nutrition* **73**, 531-550.
- Bingham SA & Day NE (1997) Using biochemical markers to assess the validity of prospective dietary assessment methods and the effect of energy adjustment. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **65**, 1130S-1137S.
- Birch LL (1987) Children's food preferences:developmental patterns and environmental influences. *Annals of Child Development* **4**, 171-208.
- Birch LL (1999) Development of food preferences. *Annual Review of Nutrition* **19**, 41-62.
- Boreham C, Robson P, Gallagher A, Cran G, Savage JM & Murray L (2004) Tracking of physical activity, fitness, body composition and diet from adolescence to young adulthood: The Young Hearts Project, Northern Ireland. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* **1**, 14.
- Boulton TJC, Magarey AM & Cockington RA (1995) Tracking of serum lipids and dietary energy, fat and calcium intake from 1 to 15 years. *Acta Paediatric* 84, 1050-1055.
- Braam LAJLM, Ocke MC, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB & Seidell JC (1998) Determinants of Obesity-related Underreporting of Energy Intake, pp. 1081-1086.
- Bratteby LE, Sandhagen B, Fan H, Enghardt H & Samuelson G (1998) Total energy expenditure and physical activity as assessed by the doubly labelled water method in Swedish adolescents in whom energy intake was underestimated by 7-d diet records. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **67**, 905-911.
- Butland B, Jebb SA, Kopelman P, McPherson K, Thomas S, Mardell J & Parry V (2007) Foresight: Tackling Obesities: Future Choices Project Report [GOf Science, editor. London.
- Cade J, Thompson R, Burley V & Warm D (2002) Development , validation and utilisation of food-frequency questionnaires a review. *Public Health Nutrition* **5**, 567-587.
- Caspersen C, Powell KE & Christenson GM (1985) Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health related research. *Public Health Reports* **100**, 126-131.
- Cavadini C, Decarli B, Grin J, Narring F & Michaud P-A (2000) Food Habits and sport activity during adolescence: differences between athletic and non-athletic teenagers in Switzerland. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **54**, S16-S20.

- Chan W (1996) Meat products and dishes: Sixth supplement to the fifth edition of McCance and Widdowson's Composition of Foods. London: The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge and Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Chan W, Brown J & Buss D (1994) *Miscellaneous foods: fourth supplement to the Fifth Edition of McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods.*: Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC).
- Chan W, Brown J, Lee SM & Buss DH (1995) *Meat, poultry and game: Fifth supplement to the fifth edition of McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods,.* London: The Royal Society of Chemistry and Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Chapman G & Maclean H (1993) "Junk food" and "healthy food". Meanings of food in adolescent women's culture. *Journal of Nutrition Education* **25**, 108-113.
- Chumlea W & Guo S (1994) Bioelectrical impedance and body composition:present status and future directions. *Nutrition Reviews* **52**, 123–131.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM & Dietz WH (2000) Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *British Medical Journal* **320**, 1240-.
- Cooper AR, Page AS, Fox KR & Misson J (2000) Physical activity patterns in normal, overweight and obese individuals using minute-by-minute accelerometry. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **54**, 887-894.
- Corder K, Brage S & Ekelund U (2007) Accelerometers and pedometers: methodology and clinical application. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care* **10** 597-603.
- Corder K, Ekelund U, Steele R, Wareham NJ & Brage S (2008) Assessment of Physical Activity in Youth. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **105**, 977-987.
- Craigie AC, Lake AA, Wood C, Gibsons M, Rugg-Gunn AJ, Mathers JC & Adamson AJ (2003) Tracking of adiposity and dietary intake from adolescence to adulthood: a longitudinal study. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* **27**, S9 T5:01-04.
- Craigie AM, Mathers JC, Rugg-Gunn AJ & Adamson AJ (2004) Change in nutrient intake between adolescence and adulthood: a 21-year longitudinal study. *Nutrition Bulletin* **29**, 204-212.
- Crawley HF & While D (1995) The diet and body weight of British teenage smokers at 16-17 years. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **49**, 904-914.
- Croll JK, Neumark-Sztainer D & Story M (2001) Healthy Eating: What does it mean to adolescents? *Journal of Nutrition Education* **33**, 193-198.
- Cusatis D, Chinchilli V, Johnson-Rollings N, Kieselhorst K, Stallings V & Llyod T (2000) Longitudinal nutrient intake patterns of US adolescent women: the Penn State Young Women's Health Study. *Journal of Adolescent Health* **26**, 194–204.
- Dallongeville J, Marecaux N, Fruchart JC & Amouyel P (1998) Cigarette smoking is associated with unhealthy patterns of nutrient intake: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Nutrition* **128**, 1450-1457.

- Davis E & Furnham A (1986) The dieting and body shape concerns of adolescent females. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* **27**, 417-428.
- Day NE, McKeown N, Wong MY, Welch A & Bingham S (2001) Epidemiological assessment of diet: a comparison of a 7-day diary with a food frequency questionnaire using urinary markers of nitrogen, potassium and sodium. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **30**, 309-317.
- Demory-Luce D, Morales M, Nicklas T, Baranowski T, Zakeri I & Berenson G (2004) Changes in food group consumption patterns from childhood to young adulthood: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **104**, 1684-1691.

Department of Health (1989) The diets of British School Children: London: HMSO.

- Department of Health (1991) Dietary reference values for food energy and nutrients for the United Kingdom. London: Department of Health.
- Department of Health (2008) Youth Alcohol Action Plan [Department for Children Schools and Families, editor: Crown Copyright.
- Department of Health Physical Activity Health Improvement and Prevention (2004) At least five a week: © Crown copyright, 2004
- Despres J-P (2001) Health consequences of visceral obesity. *Annals of Medicine* **33**, 534 541.
- Dietz W (1997) Periods of risk in childhood for the development of adult obesity: what do we need to learn? . *Journal of Nutrition*, 1884S–1886S
- Dunn JE, Liu K, Greenland P, Hilner JE & Jacobs DR (2000) Seven-year tracking of dietary factors in young adults: the CARDIA study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* **18**, 38-45.
- Ebbeling CB, Pawlak DB & Ludwig DS (2002) Childhood obesity:public-health crisis, common sense cure. *The Lancet* **360**, 473-482.
- Ekelund U, Aman J, Yngve A, Renman C, Westerterp KR & Sjostrom M (2002) Physical activity but not energy expenditure is reduced in obese adolescents: a case control study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **76**, 935-941.
- Ekelund U, Neovius M, Linne Y, Brage S, Wareham N & Rossner S (2005) Associations between physical activity and fat mass in adolescents: the Stockholm Weight Development Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 81, 355-360.
- Ekelund U, Sarnblad S, Brage S, Ryberg J, Wareham NJ & Aman J (2006) Does physical activity equally predict gain in fat mass among obese and nonobese young adults? *International Journal of Obesity* **31**, 65-71.
- Engeland A, Bjorge T, Tverdal A & Sogaard A (2004) Obesity in adolescence and adulthood and the risk of adult mortality. *Epidemiology*. **15**, 79-85.
- Ferriera I, Twisk J, Van Mechelen W, Kemper HCG & Stehouwer C (2005) Development of fatness, fitness, and lifestyle from adolescence to the age of 36 years: determinants of the metabolic syndrome in young adults: the amsterdam

growth and health longitudinal study. *Archives of International medicine* **165**, 42-48.

- Feunekes GIJ, de Graaf C, Meyboom S & van Staveren WA (1998) Food choice and fat intake of adolescents and adults: associations of intakes within social networks. *Preventive Medicine* **27**, 645-656.
- Field AE, Cook NR & Gillman MW (2005) Weight status in childhood as a predictor of becoming overweight of hypertensive in early adulthood. *Obesity Research* **13**.
- Fletcher ES (2003) Changes in the diets of adolescents. Doctor of Philosophy, Newcastle University.
- Fletcher ES, Rugg-Gunn A, Matthews JNS, Hackett A, Moynihan PJ, Mathers JC & Adamson AJ (2004) Changes over 20 years in macronutrient intake and body mass index in 11 to 12 year old adolescents living in Northumberland. *British Journal of Nutrition* **92**, 321-333.
- Food Standards Agency (2001) The Balance of Good Health: Food Standards Agency.
- Food Standards Agency (2002) *McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods, Sixth summary edition.* Cambridge: Royal Society of Chemistry.
- Food Standards Agency (2003) Food Standards Agency role in school based initiatives. London: Consumer Committee Meeting.
- Food Standards Agency (2010) <u>http://www.eatwell.gov.uk</u>. London.
- Foster E, Matthews J, Nelson M, Harris J, Mathers J & Adamson A (2006) Accuracy of estimates of portion size using food photographs the importance of using ageappropriate tools. *Public Health Nutrition* **9**, 509-514.
- Frank GC (1991) Taking a bite out of eating behaviour: Food records and food recalls of children. *Journal of School Health.* **61**, 198-199.
- Freedman DS, Serdula MK, Srinivasan SR & Berenson GS (1999) Relation of circumferences and skinfold thicknesses to lipid and insulin concentrations in children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **69**, 308-317.
- Freedman DS, Thornton JC, Mei Z, Wang J, Dietz WH, Pierson RNJ & Horlick M (2004) Height and adiposity among children. *Obesity Research* **12**, 846-853.
- Freedson P, Melanson E & Sirard J (1998) Calibration of the Computer Science and Applications, Inc. accelerometer. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise* **30**, 777-781.
- Friedman D (1997) Secular increases in relative weight and adiposity amond children over two decades: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Paediatrics* **99**, 420-426.
- Fuentes RM NI, Shemeikka S, Tuomilehto J, Nissinen A. (2003) Tracking of body mass index during childhood: a 15-year prospective population-based family study in eastern Finland. *International Journal of Obesity Related Metabolic Disorders* 27, 716–721.
- Fulkerson JA, French SA & Story M (2004) Adolescents' attitudes about and consumption of low-fat foods: associations with sex and weight-control behaviors. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **104**, 233-237.

- Gallagher A, Robson P, Livingstone M, Cran G, Strain J, Murray L, Savage J & Boreham C (2005) Tracking of energy and nutrient intakes from adolescence to young adulthood: the experiences of the Young Hearts Project, Northern Ireland. *Public Health Nutrition* **9**, 1027-1034.
- Gallagher A, Savage J, Murray L, Smith GD, Young I, Robson P, Neville C, Cran G, Strain J & Boreham C (2002) A longitudinal study through adolescence to adulthood: the Young Hearts Project, Northern Ireland. *Public Health* **116**, 332-340.
- Garnett SP, Baur LA, Srinivasan S, Lee JW & Cowell CT (2007) Body mass index and waist circumference in midchildhood and adverse cardiovascular disease risk clustering in adolescence. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **86**, 549-555.
- Garrow J (1981) *Treat Obesity Seriously A Clinical Manual* Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone.
- Gerber M, Bonfacj C & Scali J (1997) Comparison and validation of three nutritional assessment methods. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **65**, S1300-1301.
- Gibson RS (1990) *Principles of nutritional assessment*. New York/Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Goldberg G (2002) The validation of dietary intake data: How do we know if it is accurate?(Abstract). In *The Nutrition Society Workshop*.
- Goran MI (1998) Measurement issues related to studies of childhood obesity: Assessment of body composition, body fat distribution, physical activity and food intake. *Paediatrics* **101**, 505-518.
- Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Nelson MC & Popkin BM (2004) Five-year obesity incidence in the transition period between adolescence and adulthood: the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **80**, 569-575.
- Gregory J, Foster K, Tyler H & Wiseman M (1990) The Dietary and Nutritional Survey of British Adults. London: Office of Population Censuses and Surveys.
- Gregory J, Lowe S, Bates CJ, Prentice A, Jackson LJ, Smithers G, Wenlock R & Farron M (2000) *National Diet and Nutrition Survey: young people aged 4-18 years*. London: HMSO.
- Guo S, Wu W, Chumlea W & Roche A (2002) Predicting overweight and obesity in adulthood from body mass index values in childhood and adolescence. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **76**, 653-658.
- Guo SS & Chumlea WC (1999) Tracking of body mass index in children in relation to overweight in adulthood. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **70**, 145S-148S.
- Hackett AF, Pearce J, Twist A, Rugg-Gunn AJ & Estoe JE (1982) The use of a dietary diary plus interview to measure the dietary habits schoolchildren. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **41**, 92A.
- Hackett AF, Rugg-Gunn AJ & Appleton DR (1983) Use of a dietary diary and interview to estimate the food intake of children. *Human Nutrition Applied Nutrition* **37**, 293-300.

- Hackett AF, Rugg-Gunn AJ, Appleton DR, Parkin JM & Eastoe JE (1984) A two-year longitudinal study of dietary intake in relation to the growth of 405 English children initially aged 11-12 years. *Annals of Human Biology* **11**, 545-553.
- Han TS, Seidell JC, Currall JE, Morrison CE, Deurenberg P & Lean MEJ (1997) The influences of height and age on waist circumference as an index of adiposity in adults. *International Journal of Obesity* **21**, 83-89.
- Hanson NI, Neumark-Sztainer D, Eisenberg ME, Story M & Wall M (2005) Associations between parental report of the home food environment and adolescent intakes of fruits, vegetables and dairy foods. *Public Health Nutrition* **8**, 77-85.
- Harnack L & Schmitz H (2006) The role of nutrition and physical activity in the obesity epidemic. In *Obesity Prevention and Public Health*, pp. 21-36 [D Crawford and R Jeffrey, editors]. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Harris M, Stevens J, Thomas N, Schreiner P & Folsom A (2000) Associations of Fat Distribution and Obesity with Hypertension in a Bi-ethnic Population: The ARIC Study. *Obesity Research* **8**, 516-524.
- Hearn M, Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Doyle C, Smith M, Lin L & *al.* e (1998) Environmental influences on dietary behaviour among children: availability and accessibility of fruits and vegetables enable consumption. *Journal of Health Education* **29**, 26-32.
- Henderson L, Gregory J & Swan G (2002) *The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: Adults aged 19-64 years. Types and Quantities of Foods Consumed.* London: Crown HMSO.
- Hill JO (2006) Understanding and Addressing the Epidemic of Obesity: An Energy Balance Perspective. *Endocrine Reviews* **27**, 750-761.
- Holland B, Brown J & Buss DH (1993) *Fish and Fish Products: The third supplement to McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (5th Edition).* London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Holland B, Unwin ID & Buss DH (1988) Cereals and Cereal Products: The third supplement to McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (4th Edition). London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Holland B, Unwin ID & Buss DH (1989) *Milk Products and Eggs: The fourth supplement* to *McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (4th Edition).* London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Holland B, Unwin ID & Buss DH (1991) Vegetables Herbs and Spices: The fifth supplement to McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (4th Edition). London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Holland B, Unwin ID & Buss DH (1992a) *Fruit and Nuts: The first supplement to McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (5th Edition).* London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.
- Holland B, Welch AA & Buss DH (1992b) Vegetable Dishes: The second supplement to McCance and Widdowson's The Composition of Foods (5th Edition). London: Royal Society of Chemistry: Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food.

- Huang H & Volpe SL (2004) Physical activity behavior, Dietary patterns, and nutrition Knowledge of Third- and fourth grade Students in Western Massachusetts. *Journal of Extension* **42**.
- Jain M, Howe GR & Rohan T (1996) Dietary assessment in epidemiology: comparison of a food frequency and diet history questionnaire with a 7-day food record. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **143**, 953-960.
- James J, Thomas P, Cavan D & Kerr D (2004) Preventing childhood obesity by reducing consumption of carbonated drinks: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* **328**, 1237-1230.
- Jebb S (2007) *Dietary Determinants of Obesity*.Short Science Review. Foresight Tackling Obesities:Future Choices. *Obesity Reviews* **8**, 93-97.
- Jebb SA (1997) Aetiology of obesity. British Medical Bulletin 53, 264-285.
- Jebb SA, Lang R & Penrose A (2003) Improving communication to tackle obesity in the U.K. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **62**, 577-581.
- Jebb SA, Rennie KL & Cole TJ (2004) Prevalence of overweight and obesity among young people in Great Britain. *Public Health Nutrition* **7**, 461-465.
- Johannsson E, Arngrimsson SA, Thorsdottir I & Sveinsson T (2006) Tracking of overweight from early childhood to adolescence in cohorts born 1988 and 1994:overweight in a high birth weight population. *International Journal of Obesity* **30**, 1265-1271.
- Johansson L, Solvoll K, Bjorneboe GE & Drevon CA (1998) Under- and overreporting of energy intake related to weight status and lifestyle in a nationwide sample. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **68**, 266-274.
- Katzmarzyk P, Perusse L, Malina R, Bergeron J, Despres J & Bouchard C (2001) Stability of indicators of the metabolic syndrome from childhood and adolescence to young adulthood: the Quebec Family Study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* **54**, 190-195.
- Kelder SH, Perry CL, Klepp KI & Lytle LL (1994) Longitudinal tracking of adolescent smoking, physical activity, and food choice behaviours. *American Journal of Public Health* **84**, 1121-1126.
- Kelsey K, Campbell M & Vanata D (1998) Parent and adolescent girls' preferences for parental involvement in adolescent health promotion programs. *Journal of American Dietetic Association* **98**, 906-907.
- Kopelman P (2007) Health Risks Associated with Overweight and Obesity. Short Science Review. Foresight Tackling Obesities:Future Choices. Obesity Reviews 8, 13-17.
- Kratt P, Reynolds K & Shewchuck R (2000) The role of availability as a moderator of family fruit and vegetable consumption. *Health Education and Behaviour.* **27**, 471-482.
- Krebs NF, Himes JH, Jacobson D, Nicklas TA, Guilday P & Styne D (2007) Assessment of Child and Adolescent Overweight and Obesity. *Pediatrics* **120**, S193-228.

- Laitinen J, Power C & Jarvelin MR (2001) Family social class, maternal body mass index, childhood body mass index, and age at menarche as predictors of adult obesity. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **74**, 287-294.
- Lake A & Townshend T (2006) Obesogenic environments: exploring the built and food environments, pp. 262-267.
- Lake AA, Adamson AJ, Hyland RM & Mathers JC (2004a) Dietary change and perceptions of change over time. *Nutrition Bulletin* **29**, 199-203.
- Lake AA, Rugg-Gunn AJ, Hyland RM, Wood CE, Mathers JC & Adamson AJ (2004b) Longitudinal dietary change from adolescence to adulthood: perceptions, attributions and evidence. *Appetite* **42**, 255-263.
- Lake JK, Power C & Cole TJ (1997) Child to adult body mass index in the 1958 British birth cohort: associations with parental obesity. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* **77**, 376-380.
- Larson NI, Story M, Eisenberg ME & Neumark-Sztainer D (2006) Food Preparation and Purchasing Roles among Adolescents: Associations with Sociodemographic Characteristics and Diet Quality. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **106**, 211-218.
- Larsson S & Wolk A (2007) Obesity and colon and rectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **86**, 556-565.
- Lau RR, Jacobs Quadrel M & Hartman KA (1990) Development and change of young adults' preventive health beliefs and behaviour: Influence from parents and peers. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour* **31**, 240-259.
- Lawlor DA & Chaturvedi N (2006) Treatment and prevention of obesity--are there critical periods for intervention? *International Journal of Epidemiology* **35**, 3-9.
- Lean MEJ (2000) Pathophysiology of obesity. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **59**, 331-336.
- Lean MEJ, Han TS & Duerenberg P (1996) Predicting body composition be densitometry from simple anthropometric measurements. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **63**, 4-14.
- Lean MEJ, Han TS & Morrison CE (1995) Waist circumference as a measure for indicating need for weight management, pp. 158-161.
- Lee S & Reicks M (2003) Environmental and behavioural factors are associated with the calcium intake of low-income adolescent girls. *American Dietetic Association.* **103**, 1526-1529.
- Livingstone BM & Black AE (2003) Makers of validity of reported energy intake. *Journal* of Nutrition **133**, 895S-920S.
- Livingstone MBE, Prentice AM, Coward WA, Strain JJ, Black AE, Davies PSW, Stewart CM, McKenna PG & Whitehead RG (1992) Validation of estimates of energy intake by weighed dietary record and diet history in children and adolescents. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **56**, 29-35.
- Livingstone MBE, Prentice AM, Strain JJ, Coward WA, Black Ae, Barker ME, McKenna PG & Whitehead RG (1990) Accuracy of weighed dietary records in studies of diet and health. *British Medical Journal* **300**, 708-712.

- Livingstone MBE & Robson PJ (2000) Measurement of dietary intake in children. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **59**, 279-293.
- Lobstein TJ, Baur LA & Uauy R (2004) Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. *Obesity Reviews* **5**.
- Lowry R, Galuska DA, Fulton JE, Wechsler H, Kann L & Collins JL (2000) Physical activity, food choice, and weight management goals and practices among U.S. college students. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* **18**, 18-27.
- Ludvig DS, Peterson KE & Gortmaker SL (2001) Relation between consumption of sugar-sweetened drinks and childhood obesity: a prospective, observational analysis. *The Lancet* **357**, 505-508.
- Lytle L (2000) In defense of a low-fat diet for healthy children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **100**, 39-41.
- MAFF (1999) Food portion sizes, Second edition ed: The Stationery Office.
- Magarey AM, Daniels LA, Boulton TJ & Cockington RA (2003) Predicting obesity in early adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *International Journal of Obesity* **27**, 505-513.
- Mahoney L, Burns T & Stanford W (1996) Coronary risk factors measured in childhood and young adults life are associated with coronary artery calcification in young adults: The Muscatine Study. . *Journal of American College of Cardiology* **70**, 277-284.
- Martinez JA (2000) Obesity in young Europeans:genetic and environmental influences. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **54**, S56-S60.
- McCarthy HD, Cole TJ, Fry T, Jebb SA & Prentice AM (2006) Body fat reference curves for children. *International Journal of Obesity* **30**, 598-602.
- McCarthy HD, Ellis SM & Cole TJ (2003) Central overweight and obesity in British youth aged 11-16 years: cross sectional surveys of waist circumference. *BMJ* **326**, 624-627.
- McCarthy HD, Jarrett KV & Crawley HF (2001) The development of waist circumference percentiles in British children aged 5.0-16.9 y. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **55**, 902-907.
- McCullum C & Achterberg CL (1997) Food shopping and label use behaviour among high school-aged adolescents. *Adolescence* **32**, 181-197.
- McGill H, Jr, McMahan C, Herdercik E, Malcom G, Tracy R & Strong J (2000) Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **72**, 1370S-1315S.
- McPherson K, Marsh T & Brown M (2007) Modelling Future Trends in Obesity and the Impact on Health. In *Foresight Tackling Obesities:Future Choices*.
- Michaud C, Kahn JP, Musse N, Burlet C, Nicolas JP & MeJean L (1990) Relationships between a critical life event and eating behaviour in high-school students. *Stress Medicine* **6**, 57-64.
- Molarius A & Seidell JC (1998) Selection of anthropometric indicators for classification of abdominal fatness-a critical review. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders* **22**, 719-727.
- Must A & Tybor DJ (2005) Physical activity and sedentary behavior: a review of longitudinal studies of weight and adiposity in youth. *International Journal of Obesity* **29**, S84-S96.
- Nader PR, Bradley RH, Houts RM, McRitchie SL & O'Brien M (2008) Moderate to vigorous physical activity from ages 9 to 15 years. *American Medical Association* **300**, 295-305.
- Nelson M (1997) The validation of dietary assessment In *Design concepts in nutritional epidemiology*, pp. 241-272 [B Margetts and M Nelson, editors]. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Nelson M (2000a) Childhood nutrition and poverty. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **59**, 307-315.
- Nelson M (2000b) Methods and validity of dietary assessment. In *Human Nutrition and Dietetics* [JS Garrow, WPT James and A Ralph, editors]. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone.
- Nelson M, Atkinson M & Darbyshire S (1994) Food photographs improve estimates of nutrient intake in dietary surveys. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Soiciety* **56**, 205A.
- Nelson M, Atkinson M & Meyer J (1997) *A photographic atlas of food portion sizes*. London: MAFF Publications.
- Nelson M, Erens B, Bates B, Church S & Boshier T (2007) Low income diet and nutrition survey. Volume 2 Food Consumption, Nutrient Intake. London: The Stationery Office.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Hannan PJ, Story M, Croll J & Perry C (2003) Family meal patterns: Associations with sociodemographic characteristics and improved dietary intake among adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **103**, 317-322.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Ackard D, Moe J & Perry C (2000) The "Family Meal": Views of adolescents. *Journal of Nutrition Education* **32**, 329-334.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Hannan P, Perry C & Irving L (2002) Weight-Related Concerns and Behaviours Among Overweight and Nonoverweight Adolescents. *Archives of Pediatric Adolescent Medicine* **156**, 171-178.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Story M, Perry C & Casey MA (1999) Factors influencing food choices of adolescents: Findings from focus-group discussions with adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **99**, 929-937.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Guo J, Story M, Haines J & Eisenberg M (2006) Obesity, Disordered Eating, and Eating Disorders in a Longitudinal Study of Adolescents: How Do Dieters Fare 5 Years Later? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **106**, 559-568.
- Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Haines J, Story M & Eisenberg ME (2007) Why Does Dieting Predict Weight Gain in Adolescents? Findings from Project EAT-II: A 5-

Year Longitudinal Study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **107**, 448-455.

- Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Story M & Fulkerson JA (2004) Are family meal patterns associated with disordered eating behaviors among adolescents? *Journal of Adolescent Health* **35**, 350-359.
- NHS (2010) The NHS Information Centre: Smoking among children. http://www.ic.nhs.uk. London.
- Nicklas T, Baranowski T, Baranowski J, Cullen K, Rittenberg L & Olvera N (2001) Family and child-care provider influences on pre-school children's fruits and vegetable consumption. *Nutrition Reviews.* **59**, 224-235.
- Nicklas TA, Yang S-J, Baranowski T, Zakeri I & Berenson G (2003) Eating patterns and obesity in children: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* **25**, 9-16.
- Noller P & Callan V (1991) The Adolescent in the family. London: Routledge.
- Nunez C, Gallagher D, Visser M, Pi-Sunyer F, Wang Z & Heymsfield S (1997) Bioimpedance analysis: Evaluation of leg to leg systen based on pressure contact foot-pad electrodes. *Medicine & Science in Sports and Exercise* **29**, 524-531.
- O'Dea J (2003) Why do kids eat healthful food? Perceived benefits and barriers to healthful eating and physical activity among children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **103**, 497-500.
- Office for National Statistics (2001) Living in Britain:results from the 2000/01 General Household Survey. London: The Stationery Office.
- Office of National Statistics (1990) *Standard Occupational Classification*: London: The Stationery Office.
- Office of National Statistics (2000) *Standard Occupational Classification 2000 Volume 2 The coding index.* London: The Stationery Office.
- Oliver G & Wardle J (1999) Perceived effects of stress on food choice. *Physiology and Behaviour* **66**, 511-515.
- Ortega F, Ruiz J & Sjostrom M (2007) Physical activity, overweight and central adiposity in Swedish children and adolescents: the European Youth Heart Study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* **4**.
- Page A & Fox K (1998) Is body composition important in young people's weight management decision-making? *International journal of obesity related meatbolic disorders* **22**, 186-192.
- Parsons TJ, Power C, Logan S & Summerbell CD (1999) Childhood predictors of adult obesity: a systematic review. *International Journal of Obesity* **23**, S1-S107.
- Post GB, de Vente W, Kemper HCG & Twisk JWR (2001) Longitudinal trends in and tracking of energy and nutrient intake over 20 years in a Dutch cohort of men and women between 13 and 33 years of age: The Amsterdam growth and health longitudinal study. *British Journal of Nutrition* **85**, 375-385.

- Power C, Lake JK & Cole TJ (1997) Body mass index and height from childhood to adulthood in the 1958 British birth cohort. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **66**, 1094-1101.
- Prentice AM & Jebb SA (1995) Obesity in Britain: gluttony or sloth? BMJ 311, 437-439.
- Puyau M, Adolph L, Vohra FA & Butte N (2002) Validation and calibration of physical activity monitors in children. *Obesity Research* **10**, 150-157.
- Registrar General (1980) *Classification of Occupation 1980*: Population Censuses and Surveys London: HMSO.
- Rennie KL, Jebb SA, Wright A & Coward WA (2005) Secular trends in under-reporting in young people. . *British Journal of Nutrition.* **93**, 241-247.
- Rennie KL, Wells JC, K, McCaffrey TA & E. Livingstone MB (2006) The effect of physical activity on body fatness in children and adolescents. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **65**, 393-402.
- Robinson F, Morritz W & McGuiness P (1997) A study of the use of a photographic food atlas to estimate served and self-served portion sizes *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics* **10**, 117-124.
- Robson PJ, Gallagher AM, Livingstone MBE, Cran GW, Strain JJ, Savage JM & Boreham CAG (2000) Tracking of nutrient intakes in adolescence: the experiences of the Young Hearts Project, Northern Ireland. *British Journal of Nutrition* **84**, 541-548.
- Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M & Guilloud-Bataille M (1987) Tracking the development of adiposity from one month of age to adulthood. *Annals of Human Biology* **14**, 219-229.
- Sallis J, Buono M, Roby J, Micale F & Nelson J (1993) Seven-day recall and other physical activity self-report in children and adolescents. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **25**, 99-108.
- Sallis J, Prochaska J & Taylor W (2000) A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* **32**, 963-975.
- Samuelson G (2000) Dietary habits and nutritional status in adolescents over Europe. An overview of current studies in the Nordic countries. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **54**, S21-28.
- Schofield WN, Schofield C & James WPT (1985a) Basal metabolic rate. *Human Nutrition: Clinical Nutrition* **39C**, 1-96.
- Schofield WN, Schofield C & James WPT (1985b) Predicting basal metabolic rate, new standards and review of previous work. *Human Nutrition: Clinical Nutrition.* **39C**, 5-41.
- Serdula M, Ivery D, Coates R, Freedman D, Williamson D & Byers T (1993) Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. *Journal of Preventive Medicine* **22**, 167-177.
- Shepherd R & Dennison CM (1996) Influences on adolescent food choice. *Proceedings* of the Nutrition Society **55**, 345-357.

- Sichert-Hellert W, Kersting M & Schöch G (1998) Underreporting of energy intake in 1 to 18 year old German children and adolescents ("Underreporting" der Energiezufuhr bei 1- bis 18-jährigen deutschen Kindern und Jugendlichen). Zeitschrift für Ernährungswissenschaft **37**, 242-251.
- Singer MR, Moore LL, Garrahie EJ & Ellison RC (1995) The tracking of nutrient intake in young children: The Framingham Children's study. *American Journal of Public Health* **85**, 1673-1677.
- Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JWR, van Mechelen W & Chinapaw MJM (2008) Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. *Obesity Reviews*, 1-15.
- Society for Adolescent Medicine (1999) Position Statement. Improving the nutritional health of adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health.* **24**, 461-462.
- Srinivisan S, Bao W, Wattigney W & Berenson G (1996) Adolescent overweight is associated with adult overweight and related multiple cardiovascular risk factors: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Metabolism Clinical and Experimental* **45**, 235–240.
- Stein A, Shea S, Basch C, Contento I & Zybert P (1991) Variability and tracking of nutrient intakes of preschool children based on multiple administrations of the 24-hour dietary recall. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **134**, 1427-1437.
- Story M, Hayes M & LKalina B (1996) Availability of foods in high schools: Is there cause for concern? *Journal of American Dietetic Association* **96**, 123-126.
- Story M & Resnick MD (1986) Adolescents Views on Food and Nutrition. *Journal of Nutrition Education* **18**, 188-192.
- Sweeting H, West P & Young R (2008) Obesity among Scottish 15 year olds 1987-2006: prevalence and associations with socio-economic status, well-being and worries about weight. *BMC Public Health* **8**, 404.
- Taylor RW, Jones IE, Williams SM & Goulding A (2000) Evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and the conicity index as screening tools for high trunk fat mass, as measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, in children aged 3-19 y. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **72**, 490-495.
- Tiggemann M (2005) Body dissatisfaction and adolescent self-esteem: Prospective findings. *Body Image* **2**, 129-135.
- Torun B, Davies PSW, Livingstone MBE, Paolisso M, Sackett R & Spurr GB (1996) Energy requirements and dietary energy recommendations for children and adolescents 1 to 18 years old. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **50**, S37-S81.
- Treuth M, Hou N, Young D & Maynard M (2005) Accelerometry-Measured Activity or Sedentary Time and Overweight in Rural Boys and Girls. *Obesity Research* **13**.
- Troiano RP (2006) Translating accelerometer counts into energy expenditure: advancing the quest. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **100**, 1107-1108.
- Troiano RP & Flegal KM (1998) Overweight children and adolescents: Description, epdiemiology and demographics. *Paediatrics* **101**, 497-504.

- Trost S, Kerr L, Ward D & Pate R (2001) Physical activity and determinants of physical activity in obese and non-obese children. *International Journal of Obesity* **25**, 822-829.
- Trost S & Pate R (1999) Physical activity in children and youth. In *Lifestyle Medicine*, pp. 663-673 [J Rippe, editor]. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science.
- Trost S, Ward D & Moorehead S (1998) Validity of the Computer Science and Applications (CSA) activity monitor in children. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* **30**.
- Trost SG, Pate RR, Freedson PS, Sallis JF & Taylor WC (2000) Using objective physical activity measures with youth: how many days of monitoring are needed? *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* **32**, 426-431.
- Twisk J, Kemper H, van Mechelen W & Post G (1997) Tracking of risk factors for coronary heart disease over a 14-year period:a comparison between lifestyle and biologic risk factors with data from the Amsterdam Growth and Health Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **145**, 888-898.
- Twisk JWR (2003) The Problem of Evaluating the Magnitude of Tracking Coefficients. *European Journal of Epidemiology* **18**, 1025-1026.
- Tyrrell VJ, Richards G, Hofman P, Gillies GF, Robinson E & Cutfield WS (2001) Footto-foot bioelectrical impedance analysis: a valuable tool for the measurement of body composition in children. *International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 25, 273-278.
- Utter J, Neumark-Sztainer D, Jeffery R & Story M (2003) Couch potatoes or French fries: Are sedentary behaviors associated with body mass index, physical activity, and dietary behaviors among adolescents? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* **103**, 1298-1305.
- Van Lenthe FJ, Kemper HC, Van Mechelen W & Twisk JW (1996) Development and Tracking of Central Patterns of Subcutaneous Fat in Adolescence and Adulthood:The Amsterdam Growth and Health Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* **25**.
- Videon TM & Manning CK (2003) Influences on Adolescent Eating Patterns:The Importance of Family Meals. *Journal of Adolescent Health.* **32**, 365-373.
- Wang Y, Ge K & Popkin B (2000) Tracking of body mass index from childhood to adolescence: a 6-y follow-up study in China. . *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72, 018–1024.
- Wang Y, Monteiro C & Popkin BM (2002) Trends of obesity and underweight in older children and adolescents in the United States, Brazil, China, and Russia. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **75**, 971-977.
- Ward H, Tarasuk V, Mendelson R & McKeown-Eyssen G (2007) An exploration of socioeconomic variation in lifestyle factors and adiposity in the Ontario Food Survey through structural equation modeling. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* **4**, 8.
- Wardle J, Brodersen NH, Cole TJ, Jarvis MJ & Boniface DR (2006) Development of adiposity in adolescence: five year longitudinal study of an ethnically and

socioeconomically diverse sample of young people in Britain. *BMJ* **332**, 1130-1135.

- Watt RG & Sheiham A (1996) Dietary patterns and changes in inner city adolescents. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics **9**, 451-461.
- Webb GP (2002) Childhood and adolescence. In *Nutritition: A health promotion approach*, pp. 359. London: Arnold publishers.
- Weidner G, Kohlmann CW, Dotzauer E & Burns LR (1996) The effects of academic stress on health behaviors in young adults. *Anxiety Stress & Coping An International Journal* **9**, 123-133.
- Welk GJ, McClain JJ, Eisenmann JC & Wickel EE (2007) Field validation of the MTI Actigraph and BodyMedia armband monitor using the IDEEA monitor. *Obesity* **15**, 918-928.
- Whitaker RC, Wright JA, Pepe MS, Seidel KD & Dietz WH (1997) Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine* 337, 869-873.
- Willett W (1998) Is dietary fat a major determinant of body fat? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* **67**, 556S-562.
- Wills W (2005) Food and Eating Practices During the Transition from Secondary School to New Social Contexts. *Journal of Youth Studies* **8**, 97-110.
- Woodward D, Boon J, Cumming F, Ball P, Williams H & Hornsby H (1996) Adolescents' reported usage of selected foods in relation to their perceptions and social norms for those foods. *Appetite* **27**, 109-117.
- World Health Organization (1995) Physical status: the use and interpretation of anthropometry Geneva: WHO.
- World Health Organization (2003a) Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation. In *WHO Technical Report Series 916*. Geneva.
- World Health Organization (2003b) Factsheet: Obesity and overweight.
- World Health Organization (2005) World Health Organisation 'obesity and overweight' website, 2008;. In *Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity and Health*.
- Wright CM, Parker L, Lamont D & Craft AW (2001) Implications of childhood obesity for adult health: findings from thousand families cohort study. *British Medical Journal* **323**, 1280-1284.

Mr Trevor Doughty Director of Children's Services Education Northumberland County Council County Hall Morpeth NE61 2EF

4<sup>th</sup> January 2005

Dear Mr Doughty

#### Re: Northumberland Food Survey of Adolescents aged 16 to 17 years

I would like to inform you of a study that we hope to carry out over the next three years in four Northumberland high schools: Hirst High School, The King Edward VI High School, St Benet Biscop RC High School and Ashington High School.

In 2000, 424 children aged 11 to 12 years old, from seven schools in Northumberland (Ashington Alexandra Middle School, Ashington Hirst Park Middle School, Chantry Middle School, Newbiggin County Middle School, Newminster Middle School, Seaton Hirst Community Middle School, and St Benedict's RC Middle School) took part in the Northumberland Food Survey of the dietary intake of children in year 7.

This was the third survey in the series 1980, 1990 and 2000, which were undertaken by the University of Newcastle under the direction of Professor Andrew Rugg-Gunn. I have been involved since the 1990 study and have taken over guardianship of this work since Professor Rugg-Gunn's retirement in 2001.

These surveys give valuable data on the changing eating habits and body weight of children, which have been used throughout the UK and internationally. In addition, in 2000 a follow-up survey of the 1980 children, now aged 32 to 33 years, was carried out to investigate changes in dietary habits from childhood to adulthood.

I am delighted to enclose a copy of the scientific papers published from each of the 2000 studies which may be of interest to you. These have been published in the prestigious journals - British Journal of Nutrition and Appetite.

This work has created great interest, and as a direct result we have recently received funding from the Food Standards Agency for a study to follow up the children who took part in the 2000 survey now aged 16 to 17 years. Alison Hossack has been appointed to carry out this study.

The height, weight, waist and hip circumference and body composition (using electrical scales for measuring body fat) of the young people of this study will be measured, and they will be asked to record their dietary intake by completing two 3-day food diaries; complete a questionnaire regarding their eating habits and perception of food choice; and record their level of physical activity using a small electrical device such as an accelerometer (similar to a pedometer).

All university workers in contact with these young people will have prior Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) clearance.

We will be contacting the relevant High Schools (*Hirst High School, The King Edward VI School, St Benet Biscop Catholic High School and Ashington High School*) to arrange meetings at the end of January.

If you would like to discuss the details of the study or would like any further information please do not hesitate to contact either myself on 0191 222 5276 or Alison Hossack on 0191 282 4009.

Yours sincerely

Dr A Adamson BSc, SRD, PhD, RPHNutr. Lecturer in Nutrition, Project supervisor

Enc.

Mrs C Black Newbiggin County Middle School Cleveland Avenue Newbiggin-by-the-sea Northumberland NE64 6RR

23<sup>rd</sup> November 2004

Dear Mrs Black

You will remember that during 2000, your school very kindly took part in the Northumberland Food Survey of the dietary intake of children in year 7. Emma Fletcher collected these data and was made very welcome in your school, thank you.

This was the third survey in the series 1980, 1990 and 2000, originally begun by Professor Andrew Rugg-Gunn of the University of Newcastle. These surveys give valuable data on the changing eating habits and body weight of children, which have been used throughout the UK and internationally.

I am delighted to enclose a copy of the first scientific paper to be published from the 2000 study. This has been published in the prestigious British Journal of Nutrition. I have also enclosed a brief summary of the findings of the paper, which may be useful to you.

You may be interested to know that Emma Fletcher graduated with her PhD as a result of her study. Professor Andrew Rugg-Gunn retired two years ago but remains involved. I now have the role of principal researcher for these datasets. I was responsible for collecting the 1990 survey data and supervised the 2000 survey.

This work has created great interest, and as a direct result we have recently received funding from the Food Standards Agency for a study to follow up the children who took part in the 2000 survey. Alison Hossack has been appointed to carry out this study.

Our first task is to find these 'children' who will now be young people aged 16-17 years. We hope to be able to ask for your help with this by telling us which High school the children participating in the study went on to. I hope you will allow Alison to contact you in December to help trace the children of the 2000 study, and of course thinking further to the future, in time for a fourth survey in 2010.

Thank you once again to your school for participating in this work.

With very best wishes

Dr A Adamson BSc, SRD, PhD, RPHNutr. Lecturer in Nutrition

Enc.



# Hello again!

In 2000, you were kind enough to take part in a survey of your diet. You may remember that you filled in two food diaries during year seven of middle school, and Emma Fletcher came to talk to you about what you had eaten.

The great news is that we are carrying out another similar survey to find out what you are eating now, and we would really like you to take part. It is really important that as many people who took part last time, do so again - Every person is very important to the success of the study.

# What will I have to do?

The study will involve you as follows:

- Completing a three-day food diary twice during the year 2005. This diary will be the same as the one you used when you were in middle school. We don't need food to be weighed; just a description of the food is enough. Alison Hossack, a nutritionist will give the diary to you and discuss it with you.
- We would like you to complete an electronic questionnaire about the food you eat and your level of physical activity.
- We would also like you to measure your level of physical activity, using an electrical device such as an accelerometer (similar to a pedometer).
- On one occasion we would like to measure your height, weight, waist & hip circumference and body composition (what makes up your body).

#### At the end of the study

As a thank you for completing all aspects of the study, we will give you a £10 gift voucher and will enter you into a prize draw to win one of five prizes, each to the value of £150.

This is very exciting, as you would be providing information that has never been collected before. It gives us the chance to look at how what we eat changes as we get older. This is really important as it could be used to develop government health guidelines in the future.

Your involvement in this new project would be as important as it was in 2000. We hope you are still interested in helping us.

# What will happen to the results of the study?

The results of this study will be written and published in scientific and medical journals, and will be presented at meetings and conferences. Very importantly, we understand that we are collecting personal information about you that you would prefer others not to know. No one will be personally identified within the results. We will use numbers not names, and all personal details will be kept strictly confidential.

#### Contact for further information?

If you would like any further information about the study, please feel free to phone Alison Hossack on 0191 222 3829/07801097239.

#### What happens now?

Thank you for reading this. We really hope you will decide to take part in this important research. If you do, please read and sign the consent form enclosed, and return it to us in the envelope included. Please hand the envelope to your school office for us to collect.

I would point out that there is no obligation to take part, but I very much hope that you will help us again in this study. If you do not want to take part and would rather we did not contact you again, please use the enclosed consent form to indicate this and return it to us in the envelope included. Please hand the envelope to your school office for us to collect.

Thanks again for your time and consideration and we look forward to receiving your consent form.

Best wishes

Dr Ashley Adamson Lecturer in Nutrition, Project Supervisor

Enc.





Alison Hossack 01/10/2010



I have read the letter of invitation and have had the opportunity to ask questions about it.

I would / would not like to volunteer to take part in this study. (please delete as applicable)

# PLEASE COMPLETE THIS SECTION

SURNAME	FIRST NAME
SURNAME as at middle school (if dif	ferent)
ADDRESS	
	Post Code
TELEPHONE NUMBER	
EMAIL ADDRESS	
Please sign here	
Parent/guardian consent	

If you <u>do not</u> wish to take part in this study, and prefer that we did not send you any further information please fill in name and postcode only above and tick this box.

Please return the form to us in the enclosed envelope. Thank you

NB: Completing and returning this form <u>does not</u> put you under any obligation to take part in the study, and should you wish to take part in the study you are free to leave at any time.



...Anyone in **YEAR 12** who hasn't returned their forms for the food survey!

✓ We really would like you to take part, so much, we are giving everyone who completes the survey a £10 voucher and entering them into a draw for a prize to the value of £150 for taking part.

 Lost your form ? – You can get a new consent form from your school reception or contact Alison



✓ Fancy some feed back on how you eat...

... This will be available if you complete the study

# **SO HURRY AND GET YOUR FORMS RETURNED**

# Please return the form (even if you CAN'T take part)

Alison Hossack Mobile number 07801097239



		1	>	1	2.		1	0	/	2	1	9.1	>	1		1			
0/0	Food Code Office use	17375	21006	17161	17317	17139	17377	17283	11478	11506	17377	11506	1 4352	17198		11261	:"	off:	Ë
er ID/	Weight Office use	ZOON	Pula	28pm	2004	559	30001	3693	535	559	aler	600	sof.	MOOX		3/658	Time	Time o	Reaso
Volunte	Food Photo Office use	G197	1	999.	gigT.	, X	anH'	787.	929		This	1	342	·1616		· ·×	Time on:	Time off:	Reason:
	Offlice use	3	300													A monto	F	F	Ľ
on a new sheet	Amount eaten excluding leftovers. e.g. cup, slice, teaspoonful, portion of family meal	the Medun gluts	2 bug J	1   craft must	I redun glun	1 hrs.	I lorage alows	- trent	( pur	5	2 smeethquing	6	We to the Meduum	23 Medum glues	medan A ten	2	Time wearing your actigraph. Time on: $ \mathcal{B}: \mathcal{L} \mathcal{Q}_{i,M}$ Time on:	Time off: \ UtypyTime off:	Reason: bod Reason:
Start each day	Cooking method e.g. fried, grilled, ponached etc		A Contraction of the second			5							- Mo			O ola Pl	. Vitamin tablets,		
	/eight e		i et	6	red)	. Sould and veregie			UN	my shet bisub		Edmy shit biscits	MAND R	al surver / childre	he	rupen nytin	rescribed medication e.c		
1 & Date Switching 1924 Sul	Food & drink finclude:           Brand name, flavour and packet w           Enter each food item on a new lin	HAN Writer (Filtered	Tarber coned 1	(alle liente nou	: 00 Muster / rule	The Read M Schn	Spm filtered writer	Veretallie 5 aug	brown bread b	00m But surgen, Eat	It Spin rithered water	Bund Swington, E	OSan Sacuretti Induran	Mill into the		more bluebenzy and	e you taken any supplements or non p Please specify		

# ACTIGRAPH <sup>™</sup> PROTOCOL

# **Collection of Information**

The participants will be asked to wear the Actigraph for the same period as completing each food diary. Validation of the Actigraph data in this study will be by (1) comparing measured energy expenditure (EE) with recorded energy intake (EI). EI will be recorded using 2 x 3-day dietary diaries; (2) comparing measured EE with self reported physical activity. Self reported physical activity will be recorded using an electronic questionnaire. Each participant will asked to record the time period when they wear the monitor at the bottom of each days food intake. The participant will be interviewed on the fourth day along with their food diary in order to clarify information. Purpose built programmes will be adapted for use in this study.

# Initialisation of Actigraph Monitors

Prior to use, each monitor is to be initialised using the Actigraph software programme.

- Ensure the Actigraph reader is connected to the computer and switched on at the mains (this is indicated by a green light on the front of the reader).
- Open the Actigraph programme from the computer desktop by clicking on the Actigraph icon.
- Place a monitor in the reader printed face down, reader circle to the front (over the metal plate). Correct installation is indicated by a red flashing sequence between the monitor and reader.
- Initialise the monitor by highlighting the "initialize" tab on the left of the Actigraph programme.
- Check that the battery indicator is not highlighted in red (should be green or yellow the number represents the number of battery hours remaining and therefore should not be a minus figure).
- For the purpose of this study, each monitor is set to 1 minute epochs ().
- The date and start time is when the participant is due to be given the monitor.
- Participant ID is that which is found on the participant consent form.
- Press OK to initialise.

#### Downloading Actigraph data

- Open the Actigraph programme as above
- Place the monitor in the reader as above
- Click on the "stop Actigraph" tab on the left of the programme, then choose "stop and download" from the drop down box.
- Save the file as "ID(no.)" in the relevant file (i.e. school).
- Confirm by pressing "ok" and "ok" again to process the record. After downloading press "yes" to view file: the downloaded data will open in an Actigraph Graph file.

• Close file and from the left hand menu click the "Analyse" tab, then "Activity from Data File". Open the appropriate file (i.e. school) and "save". Press "yes" to view file in an excel spreadsheet.

# Instructions for use

- The monitor should be placed on the front right hip (for standardisation)
- The two circles (or groove on older models) on the front face should be facing upwards.
- The back of the monitor (unprinted) is be placed against the skin under the participants clothing.
- The belt should be fastened tight enough to prevent movement of the monitor (adjustment can be made by tightening or loosening the strap).
- The participant is asked to wear the monitor from time of delivery to time of collection (varying from 4 to 5 days), removing for bed, or bathing.
- The participant is asked to record on the bottom of each day of the food diary, the time the monitor is put on, when it is taken off and the reason it was taken off.

# Methods of explaining the task

- A short visit at the time of delivery of the food diary to present the respondent with the activity monitor will comprise of an introduction to the aims of the project:
- How we are planning to compare their energy intake (from the food diary) with their energy output (from the monitor).
- Motivate and enthuse the participants.
- Each participant will be provided with an Actigraph, initialized\* specifically for each participant.
- Participants who are still at school will be instructed in small groups. An explanation and details of the data collection will be given in the participating high schools. Participants traced, who are no longer attending high school in the Northumberland area, will be instructed in their own home, place of work or at a place of their choice.
- The participants will be asked to wear the monitor from delivery until collection, however, they will be asked only to record when they wear the monitor on the 3 days they complete their food diary; these days are written on the front of the diary. The three days recorded in each diary are consecutive but the days of the week will be chosen by convenience and the second diary will be completed for different days from the first diary.
- On the fourth day, interviews will take place in the schools or at a place convenient to the participant to clarify the recording time of the monitor for the

three days. The date and time of the interview is recorded on the inside cover of the diary. These interviews are to be as standardised as possible.

- The second food diary will be completed on different days to the initial recording. As before, the participants will be interviewed individually on the fourth day of completing the diary.
- \* Refer to paragraph 2 for instructions on initialisation.





# Questionnaire

All of the questions in this questionnaire are designed to provide the researcher, Alison Hossack, with an insight into what influences you (your age group) to eat the type of foods you eat. The answers to these questions may provide valuable data to help future Government health programmes.

All data is confidential and no person will be named in any future publication(s).

#### Part 1: About you

1. Please choose which statement best describes your living circumstances. *Please tick one box below* 



2. Please choose which statement(s) best describe your circumstances. Please tick as many boxes that apply below

I am still at school (6<sup>th</sup> form) I am at college (further education) (please specify) I work full time (please specify) I work part time (please specify) I am unemployed Other (please specify)

# 3. Who is the person that earns the most in the house where you live? *Please tick <u>one</u> below*

My father earns the most My mother earns the most My partner earns the most I am the person that earns the most Other (please specify)

- 3a. What is the name or title of this persons job? E.g. primary school teacher, state registered nurse, car mechanic, television service engineer, benefits assistant etc. *Please write your answer in as much detail as possible in the box below*
- 3b. What work does this person do most of the time in their main job? Please write your answer in as much detail as possible in the box below

#### 3c. Does this person supervise any other employees?

A supervisor or foreman is responsible for overseeing the work of other employees on a day to day basis.

Please tick one box below

Yes	
No	
Don't know	

4. What is your country of birth? *Please tick <u>one</u> box in column A* What is your ethnic group? *Please tick <u>one</u> box in Column B* 

Col <u>umn A</u>		Colu	ımn B	
A	England	Α		White
В	Northern Ireland			British
С	Republic of Ireland			Irish
D	Scotland			Any other white background
E	Wales			Please specify
F	Any other		-	
	Please specify	В		Mixed
				White and Black Caribbean
				White and Black African
				White and Asian
				Any other mixed background
				Please specify
			-	
		С		Asian or Asian British
				Indian
				Pakistani
				Bangladeshi
				Any other Asian background
				Please specify
		D		Black or Black British
				Caribbean
				African
				Any other black background
				Please specify
		_		
		E	<b></b>	Chinese or other ethnic group
				Chinese
				Any other
				Please specify

#### Part 2: About you and your health

#### 5. Do you smoke?

Please tick one box below

- Yes, I smoke daily
- Yes, I smoke occasionally No, but I used to smoke No, I have never smoked

	Please answer question	5α
Î	Please answer question	5α
Î	Please answer question	5α
Î	Please go to question	6

5a. If yes, how much on average do (did) you smoke per day? Please write in the amount for each; if none write 'O'



6. How strongly do you agree with this statement? 'Exercise is important to me' *Please tick <u>one</u> box below* 

Please fick one box below



Strongly disagree

7.

Disagree

neither agree	
nor disagree	

Strongly agree

At least once a week, do you take part in any regular activity, such as jogging, cycling etc., long enough to work up a sweat?

Agree

Please tick one box below

Yes			
No			
If yes,	how mo	any days per week?	

8. Over the next month, how confident are you that you are able to be physically active at least three times per week?

Please circle one number below

Very confident 1 2 3 4 5 Not at all confident

9. How strongly do you agree with the statement?
'I do more exercise now than when I was 12 years old' Please tick one box below







Strongly disagree

Disagree

neither agree nor disagree

Agree

Strongly agree

# 10. Each of the following statements are about your health, please identify how strongly you agree or disagree with the statements by *ticking* <u>one</u> box next to <u>each</u> of the statements below

	Strongly	Moderately	Slightly	Slightly	Moderately	Strongly
	disagree	disagree	disagree	agree	agree	agree
If I get III It is my own						
benaviour which determines						
Now soon I get well again.						
No matter what I do, if I am						
going to get III, I will get III.						
Having regular contact with my						
doctor is the best way for me						
to avoid illness.						
Most things that affect my						
health happen to me by						
accident.						
Whenever I don't feel well, I						
should consult a medical						
protessional.						
I am in control of my health.						
My family has a lot to do with						
my becoming ill or staying						
healthy.						
When I get ill, I am to blame.						
Luck plays a big part in						
determining how soon I will						
recover from an illness.						
Health professionals control						
my health.						
When I stay healthy, I'm just						
lucky.						
My physical well-being depends						
on how well I take care of						
myself.						
If I take care of myself, I can						
avoid illness.						
Whenever I recover from an						
illness, it's usually because						
other people (e.g. doctors,						
nurses, family, and friends)						
have been looking after me.						
Even when I take care of						
myself, it's easy to get ill.						
If it's meant to be, I will stay						
healthy.						
If I take the right actions, I						
can stay healthy.						
Regarding my health, I can only						
do what my doctor tells me to						
do.						

# Part 3: About your food choice

# 11. Who most influences what you eat?

Please tick <u>one</u> box below

Parent(s)/guardian	
Brother(s)/sister(s)	
Friends	
Spouse/partner	
Child/children	
Someone else (Please state who)	
No one but myself	

12. Who does the food shopping for your household? *Please tick one box below* 

Parent(s)/guardian Brother(s)/sister(s)	
Friends	
Spouse/partner	
Someone else (Please state who)	
No one but myself	

13. Do you eat a particular kind of diet e.g. vegetarian, weight control, Halal, Gluten free, etc.?

Please tick Yes or No in the box below.

No	Please go to question 14						
Yes	Please tick the boxes that apply to you						
	Gluten Free						
	Halal						
	Kosher						
	Vegan						
	Vegetarian						
	Wheat free						
	Weight gain						
	Weight reducing						
	Other Please state						

# 14. How often do <u>you</u> buy something to eat? Please include sweets and snacks that you buy for yourself?

Please tick one box.

Every day	PI	ease state how many times a day?	
Every other day	PI	ease state how many days per week?	
School/college days only			
Weekends only			
Other (please specify)			

#### 15. Where do you usually buy something to eat?

Please tick the <u>boxes</u> next to the places where you buy <u>MOST</u> of your food.

Supermarket

Small local shops Mobile Van

School/college canteen/cafe School/college vending machine Other (please specify)

Please specify

16. Do you read the labels of food packaging (front or back)? *Please tick <u>one</u> box below* 

Yes	
No	

. → Please answer question 16a

# 16a. What information do you look for on the label? *Please tick* all *the boxes that apply*

Amount of energy/calories Amount of carbohydrate Amount of protein Amount of fat Amount of salt Amount of sodium Allergy advice - please state Other - please state



17. How strongly do you agree with this statement?
'Eating healthily is important to me' Please tick one box below



18. Over the next month, how confident are you that you are able to eat healthily? *Please circle <u>one number</u> below* 

Very confident 1 2 3 4 5 Not at all confident

19. Thinking about what you eat now, how many portions of fruit and vegetables (*canned fresh or frozen*) do you eat each day? *Please tick <u>one box below</u>* 

	-
Five or more portions per day	
4 portions per day	
3 portions per day	
2 portions per day	
1 portion per day	
Every other day	
None	

20. Over the next month, how confident are you that you are able to eat at least five portions of fruit and vegetables per day? *Please circle one number below* 

Very confident 1 2 3 4 5 Not at all confident

# Part 4: About changes in your food choice since you were 12 years old

21. How much do you think your eating habits have changed since you were 12 years old? *Please tick one box below* 

No changes have occurred	Please go to question 24
Small changes have occurred	Please answer questions 22 and 23
Major changes have occurred	Please answer questions 22 and 23

22. Has your intake of the food items listed below changed from when you were 12 years old?

Please tick one box in each row and add your reasons



# 23. If your eating patterns have changed, what has influenced these changes?

Please tick <u>as many</u> of the boxes next to the things listed below that you think may explain a change in your eating habits?

 Reason for change in eating habits
 Change in the food that you like or dislike
 Your enjoyment of food
 Concerns about safety/content of foods e.g. food scares/organic foods
 The type and variety of foods available
 Price of foods
Advertising & marketing of food products (promotional offers)
I now have freedom over the foods that I eat
Desire to maintain health
Moving away from the family home
Your body weight
Ill health/special diet, in self/family members or friends
Living with children
Living with spouse or partner
Religion
Ethical/political concerns
The knowledge you have about food
The skills that you have to prepare/cook food
The time you have available to prepare and cook food
Travel and experiencing new foods
Money available to spend on food
The type of job that you have
Lack of available kitchen equipment
Work location and availability of food outlets in location
Ease of shopping for food
Other - please state

# Part 5: About you and your body image

24. Thinking about your weight now, how would you describe yourself? *Please tick <u>one</u> box below* 



25. Please look at the figures below and answer questions a and b,a) which one do you think represents your shape now?Please tick one box below.

Please lick one box below.

b) which shape would you like to be?

Please tick one box below.

Figure	Α	В	С	D	Ε	F	G	Н	I
9a)									
Please tick <u>one</u> box									
9b)									
Please tick <u>one</u> box									





26. Thinking about your weight as a 12 year old, how would you describe yourself? *Please tick one box below* 



underweight







Very Underweight overweight

very overweight

27. Please look at the figures below, which one do you think represents your shape at 12 years of age?

Please tick one box below (male or female).

Figure	A	В	С	D	Ε	F	G
Please tick one box							





28.	How strongly do you agree with this statement? 'Maintaining a healthy body weight is important to me" <i>Please tick <u>one</u> box below</i>									
	Strongly disagree	Disagree	neither agree nor disagree	Agree	Strongly agree					

29. Over the next six months, how confident are you that you are able to maintain a healthy body weight?

Please circle one number below

Very confident 1 2 3 4 5 Not at all confident

You have finished Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.

Alison Hossack

# TANITA<sup>™</sup>BODY FAT ANALYSIS PROTOCOL

# **Collection of Information**

- Height of participant, measured in cm using a Soehnle digital height measuring unit (ref).
- Age of participant.
- Level of activity of participant i.e. *standard* or *athletic* (athletic = more than 10 hours of intense physical activity per week and a resting heart rate of 60 beats per minute or less). (REF Tanita).

# Instructions for use

- Place the weighing platform on a level surface and align using the spirit level (refer to manufacturers instruction booklet).
- Connect reader to power socket and place on suitable surface (such as a table).
- Turn on the power.
- Set print reader to read measurements only (not goal)
- Enter clothes weight allow 2kg for clothing (refer to manufacturers instruction booklet)
- Select body type.
- Enter age
- Enter height (cm)
- Allow platform to stabilise.

# Methods for measuring participants

Participants should:

- Remove socks and shoes
- Remove clothing to a single layer (i.e. to shirt / t-shirt and trouser / skirt).
- Remove additional loose items such as money, keys, mobile phones etc
- Step on the weighing platform with:
  - Clean bare feet so they touch the electrodes Knees straight, hands by their side.
|                   | Log BMI17 |                | % Body Fat               | ¢     | LogWC (p- |                    | WHR (p-               | ,     |
|-------------------|-----------|----------------|--------------------------|-------|-----------|--------------------|-----------------------|-------|
| Sex*              | (p-value) | R <sup>2</sup> | (p-value) <mark>-</mark> | R²    | value)    | R²                 | value) <mark>-</mark> | R²    |
| Social Group (11) | 0.435     | 0.0%           | 0.000                    | 36.2% | 0.000     | 12.1%              | 0.000                 | 25.6% |
| Log BMI 11        | 0.000     | 50.1%          | 0.000                    | 61.6% | 0.000     | 48.2%              | 0.000                 | 36.8% |
| Alcohol 11        | 0.430     | -1.1%          | 0.131                    | 10.8% | 0.113     | 12.2%              | 0.024                 | 25.5% |
| % CHO 11          | 0.618     | -0.5%          | 0.000                    | 35.5% | 0.000     | 9.4%               | 0.000                 | 24.7% |
| % Fat 11          | 0.684     | -0.7%          | 0.000                    | 36.4% | 0.000     | 9.4%               | 0.000                 | 24.1% |
| EI 11             | 0.010     | 3.8%           | 0.000                    | 35.2% | 0.000     | <mark>11.8%</mark> | 0.000                 | 24.0% |
| % Protein 11      | 0.693     | -0.7%          | 0.000                    | 35.8% | 0.000     | 9.1%               | 0.000                 | 23.6% |
| % Fat 17          | 0.211     | 0.6%           | 0.000                    | 34.3% | 0.000     | 9.2%               | 0.000                 | 23.5% |
| EI 17             | 0.143     | 1.0%           | 0.000                    | 33.6% | 0.000     | 11.1%              | 0.000                 | 23.2% |
| % Protein         | 0.885     | %6.0-          | 0.000                    | 36.5% | 0.000     | 8.0%               | 0.000                 | 22.9% |
| Log Counts/Day    | 0.675     | -0.7%          | 0.000                    | 38.5% | 0.001     | 6.7%               | 0.000                 | 22.8% |
| % CHO 17          | 0.311     | 0.2%           | 0.000                    | 36.0% | 0.000     | 8.5%               | 0.000                 | 22.7% |
| Log Counts/hr     | 0.946     | -1.2%          | 0.000                    | 38.0% | 0.002     | 6.5%               | 0.000                 | 22.3% |
| Alcohol 17        | 0.062     | 2.8%           | 0.000                    | 21.3% | 0.198     | 1.0%               | 0.044                 | 3.3%  |

Table of variables considered in the prediction of anthropometric outcomes at age 17 years (General linear model)

## FOOD DIARY PROTOCOL

## **Collection of Dietary Information**

The participants will be asked to complete two 3-day dietary diaries, which will be collected during a 12 - month period; completion of each dietary record being 5 to 7 months apart. This method has been used extensively (Hackett et al 1984; Adamson et al 1992; Fletcher et al. 2004) and the validity of the method and reliability of the data measured in children (Hackett et al 1983, 1985; Adamson et al 1992). Validation of dietary recording in this study will be by (1) comparing recorded energy intake with estimated energy needs based on predicted BMR (Bingham et al 1984; Schofield et al 1985) and (2) measuring physical activity – comparing recorded energy intake (EI) with measured energy expenditure (EE). EE will be measured using activity monitors. Each subject will be interviewed on the fourth day in order to clarify information and determine the weight of foods eaten (with the aid of collected packaging, food tables, and the use of a photographic atlas). Purpose built programmes will be adapted for use in this study. For foods not listed in the food tables the best available data will be used to create a new food code. In some cases this will require foods to be analysed for specified nutrients.

## Methods of explaining the task

- A short visit to present the respondent with the food diary will comprise of an introduction to the aims of the project:
- How we are planning to compare their diet, then and now.
- Stress the importance of having a true picture of what they normally eat.
- Motivate and enthuse the participants.
- Each participant will be provided with a new A5 size food diary, designed for this particular project containing instructions for collection of dietary data and a sample page. A logo specific to this project was designed to be used on the diary and in all further correspondence with the participants (appendix 5).
- Participants who are still at school will be instructed in small groups. An explanation and details of the dietary collection will be given in the participating high schools. Participants traced, who are no longer attending high school in the Northumberland area, will be instructed in their own home, place of work or at a place of their choice.
- The participants will be asked to record *all foods* they have eaten, including snacks and alcohol etc, with as much detail as possible, including the time food was eaten, weights, brand names, cooking methods, and estimated portion. They are to be supplied with a university plastic bag to keep food packaging.
- The participants will be asked to complete the first diary for three days; these days are written on the front of the diary. The three days recorded in each diary are

consecutive but the days of the week will be chosen by convenience and the second diary will be completed for different days from the first diary.

- On the fourth day, interviews will take place in the schools or at a place convenient to the participant. This first interview will comprise of a clarification of the foods recorded in the diary for the three days, the date and time of which is recorded on the inside cover of the diary. Portion sizes will be estimated with the use of a photographic food atlas. These interviews are to be as standardised as possible.
- The second food diary will be completed on different days to the initial recording. As before, the participants will be interviewed individually on the fourth day of completing the diary.
- Following the conclusion of the second food diary interview, all the participants will have their weight, height, waist and hip measurements recorded in triplicate. These will be recorded on the back of the food diary in a table. Feedback should be kept minimal at this stage regarding their eating habits, diet, or anthropometry.
- Dr Adamson will oversee the collection of the above dietary data.